Methamphetamine in New Zealand: What is currently known about the harm it causes?

JULY | 2021



A cross-agency evidence-based view of the methamphetamine context in New Zealand, 2021

EVIDENCE — BASED — POLICING • CENTRE • • •















NEW ZEALAND CUSTOMS SERVICE

We would like to thank the agencies above as well as Associate Professor Rebecca McKetin (National Drug & Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, Australia), and New Zealand Drug Foundation for the feedback and literature provided to this report.

Permission to reproduce this document in whole or in part must first be sought from NZ Police via research@police.govt.nz with the following citation to be used when referencing this report: Evidence Based Policing Centre (2021). *Methamphetamine in New Zealand: What is currently known about the harm it causes*? Wellington: NZ Police

- Findings presented in this stocktake of literature refer to specific periods of time as per release dates of reports and literature referred to in it. Thus, updated information should be sought by readers as needed.
- 2. The language used in this stocktake replicates the language used in the source reports and literature. In this sense, words such as 'likely' may have different meanings depending on whether the reference cited is

research or intelligence based. Please see footnote 41 on page 58 for more information.

3. This report consolidates predominantly grey literature (supported where applicable by academic literature) from contributing agencies specifically on the harm caused by methamphetamine to communities in New Zealand. This report acknowledges but does not focus on a) social and economic determinants of methamphetamine

use and harm such as socio-economic status and access to basic needs; and b) confounding factors affecting outcomes related to methamphetamine use such as other substance use. However, where appropriate, the report discusses limitations of findings considering these factors. Please see the Government Inquiry into Mental Health Addiction (2018) and Spooner & Hetherington (2004) for more information on determinants of drug use and addiction.

Contents

Summary of Findings	3
Full Summary of Findings	6
Background and Purpose	7
Method	7
Chapter Highlights	8
People Who Use Methamphetamine	8
Association with Other Crimes and Incidents	9
Production, Importation, and Distribution	10
Education, Prevention, Harm Reduction, Staff Training, and Partnerships	10
Withdrawal Management and Treatment	11
Conclusion	12
1. Background	13
1.1 Methamphetamine in New Zealand Research Programme	13
1.2 Research Tranche 1	13
2. Method	14
3. People Who Use Methamphetamine	15
3.1 Methamphetamine Use Prevalence in New Zealand	16
3.1.1 Prevalence in the Overall Population	16
3.1.2 Prevalence among Prisoners	17
3.1.3 Prevalence among Different Ethnicities	17
3.1.4 Prevalence among Young People	17
3.2 First Use of Methamphetamine	17
3.3 Motivations to Increase Use and Relapse	18
3.4 Motivations to Decrease Use and Seek Help	18
3.5 Modes and Patterns of Use	18
3.6 Profiles and Trajectories of People Who Use Methamphetamine	19
3.6.1 International Literature	19
3.6.1.1 Frequency and Length of Use	19
3.6.1.2 Mode of Use	20
3.6.2 New Zealand Literature	20
3.6.2.1 Profiles of People Who Use Methamphetamine	20
3.6.2.2 Characteristics of People Who Use Methamphetamine	20
3.6.2.3 First Drug Used and Trajectory of Use	21

3.7 Negative Effects of Use	21
3.7.1 Association between Methamphetamine Use and Cognition	22
3.7.2 Association between Methamphetamine Use and Mental Health Issues	23
3.7.3 Impact on Others	23
3.7.4 Impact on Health Care and Advice	24
3.8 Purchasing Methamphetamine	25
3.8.1 Face-to-Face Purchasing	25
3.8.2 Online Purchasing	25
3.8.3 Non-Cash Deals	25
3.8.4 Origin Preference	25
3.9 Dealing and Manufacturing Methamphetamine	25
3.10 Summary	27
4. Association with Other Crimes and Incidents	29
4.1 Prevalence of Other Crimes and Incidents	30
4.2 Violent Offending	31
4.3 Acquisitive Crimes	32
4.4 Risk Factor in Road Trauma	32
4.5 Money Laundering	33
4.6 Summary	35
5. Production, Importation, and Distribution	36
5.1 Domestic Production	37
5.1.1 Methamphetamine Manufacturing Laboratories	37
5.1.2 Precursors	38
5.1.2.1 Seizures	38
5.1.2.2 Source Countries	38
5.1.3 Pre-Precursors	38
5.2 Production Abroad	39
5.2.1 Seizures	39
5.2.2 Source and Transhipment Countries	39
5.3 Criminal Business Entities Engaged in the Market	40
5.3.1 Domestic Production	40
5.3.2 Importation and Distribution	41
5.3.2.1 Transnational Syndicates	41
5.3.2.2 International Criminal Business Entities Based in New Zealand	41

5.3.2.3 Domestic Criminal Business Entities	42
5.4 Online Drug Market	43
5.5 Availability and Purity of Methamphetamine	43
5.6 Differences between Police Districts	44
5.6.1 Domestic Production	44
5.6.2 Online Drug Market	44
5.6.3 Use	44
5.6.4 Price and Availability	44
5.7 COVID-19 and the Methamphetamine Market	45
5.7.1 Domestic Production	45
5.7.2 Importation and Distribution	45
5.7.3 Differences Across Districts	45
5.7.4 Methamphetamine Availability, Purity, and Price	46
5.8 Summary	46
6. Education, Prevention, Harm Reduction, Staff Training, and Partnerships	48
6.1 Education and Prevention	49
6.1.1 International Literature	49
6.1.2 New Zealand Literature	50
6.1.2.1 Community Action Youth and Drugs (CAYAD)	50
6.1.2.2 Stand Up!	51
6.1.2.3 Amplify!	51
6.1.2.4 What Can I do? and Did you Know? Series	51
6.1.2.5 New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects (NZPCP)	51
6.2 Harm Reduction	52
6.2.1 International Literature	52
6.2.2 New Zealand Literature	53
6.2.2.1 Needle Exchange Programme	53
6.2.2.2 High Alert Website	53
6.2.2.3 Festival Drug Checking	53
6.2.2.4 MethHelp and DrugHelp	53
6.3 Training of Frontline Staff	54
6.3.1 Bridging the Gap	54
6.3.2 Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care	54

6.4 Partnerships between Police and Other Organisations	54
6.4.1 Non-Court Action	55
6.4.2 Alcohol and Other Drugs Treatment Court (AODTC)	55
6.4.3 Custody Unit Screening	56
6.4.4 Custody Mental Health Nurses	56
6.4.5 Te Ara Oranga	56
6.4.6 Tūturu	56
6.4.7 Partnership in Operations	57
6.5 Summary	57
7. Withdrawal Management and Treatment	58
7.1 International Literature	59
7.1.1 Withdrawal Management	59
7.1.2 Pharmacotherapy	59
7.1.3 Non-Pharmacological Interventions	59
7.1.4 Barriers to Treatment	61
7.2 New Zealand Literature	61
7.2.1 Withdrawal Management in New Zealand	62
7.2.2 Pharmacotherapy	63
7.2.3 Treatment Demand and Needs	63
7.2.4 Treatment Model Used in New Zealand	63
7.2.5 Treatment Approaches Used in New Zealand	64
7.2.5.1 Brief Intervention	64
7.2.5.2 Community Based Out-Patient Programmes	64
7.2.5.3 Residential Programmes	65
7.2.6 Non-Pharmacological Interventions Used in New Zealand	66
7.2.7 Treatment Provided by the Department of Corrections	66
7.2.8 Barriers to Treatment	67
7.2.9 COVID-19 and Treatment	67
7.3 Summary	67
Conclusion	69
References	70

. . .

Summary of findings methamphetamine harm in New Zealand



This report summarises what is already evidenced about the harm methamphetamine causes to New Zealand communities from a combination of cross-agency grey literature and relevant academic literature. It is the first product published under the auspices of the Methamphetamine in New Zealand Research Programme.



Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group members were asked to provide relevant literature and reports from their agencies to the Evidence Based Policing Centre (EBPC) to inform a stocktake of existing evidence. In all, 279 documents were gathered by EBPC and the most relevant literature was summarised.



Methamphetamine is used in communities all over New Zealand; this drug can cause extreme harm to people who use it, their families, their whānau, and the community in which they live. These include (but are not restricted to) negative health effects to individuals using the drug, break-up of significant relationships, and crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine, or to sustain use. The documents reviewed suggest that more research is needed in the New Zealand context on the extent of the harm caused by methamphetamine in order to fully understand the magnitude of the issue.

Key insights ⊻ ⊻



/ Harm caused to people

- Wastewater drug testing results estimate the amount of methamphetamine consumed nationally per week fluctuated between 11.3 and 16.9 kilograms between November 2018 and February 2020.¹ This represents a stable average consumption of 14.1 kilograms (standard deviation = 1.5 kilograms).
- Since testing began, methamphetamine has been detected in wastewater for every community tested during every day of the week in New Zealand. About 50% (range 41.1%–57.2%) of methamphetamine consumed nationally between November 2018 and February 2020 was consumed in the Auckland region, however, use per capita in Bay of Plenty, Eastern, and Northland generally ranks higher than in the Auckland region.
- In 2020, wastewater mass loads² were compared across 27 countries. Considering the seven days sampled during the collection week, New Zealand ranked high, only ranking lower than Australia, United States, and Czech Republic.
- Statistics for methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand vary depending on the study and method being used. Thus, it is important to consider multiple data sources when estimating methamphetamine use in New Zealand as all studies have limitations. The 2016 Drug Harm Index estimated that only 5.5% of those who use methamphetamine are dependent on it. Thus, it is likely most people using the drug, use it less than frequently. Continuous, reliable prevalence studies are required in the New Zealand context to improve our understanding of prevalence and dependence.
- Continued use of methamphetamine is extremely harmful to the individual; negative effects include (but are not restricted to) skin irritation, hallucinations, paranoia, methamphetamineinduced psychosis, methamphetamine-induced suicide attempts, aggression, organ damage, and permanent psychological problems.
- Continued use of methamphetamine is also associated with difficulty in sustaining jobs, risky sexual behaviour, break-up of significant relationships, children being taken into others' care, neonatal and infant negative outcomes, and involvement in crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine, or to sustain use.

3

¹ This timeframe was chosen for comparison due to 1) the wastewater drug testing programme being expanded in November 2018 to include results for 75% of the population; and 2) the first COVID-19 case being detected in New Zealand in February 2020. It is expected that the information presented for this timeframe is less affected by the impact of COVID-19 on drug use and trafficking.

² Mass load refers to the normalised concentration of methamphetamine or metabolite in the wastewater by population.

- Chronic methamphetamine use has also been associated with long-term health effects which may persist after use.
- The number of patients hospitalised due to methamphetamine use in New Zealand is increasing.
- People who use methamphetamine are likely to use other drugs. The use of stimulants in conjunction with other substances is associated with serious health hazards such as overburdening of the cardiorespiratory system, higher risk of overdose, and higher chance of contracting blood borne diseases.
- Methamphetamine and amphetamine-type stimulants negatively impact not only those who use them, but also the family, whānau, and community in which use takes place. Methamphetamine use has been shown to deeply impact children, harming them both physically and mentally.
- Children residing in methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories are at increased risk of fires and explosions, poisoning, injury, accidental death, burns, hypodermic needles, razor blades, among others.
- The 2016 New Zealand Drug Harm Index estimated the total harm of the use of amphetamine-type stimulants in New Zealand, including both personal and community harm, to be \$347.8 million in 2014/2015. Each kilogram of amphetamine-type stimulants was equated to \$1.18 million of personal and community harm and \$56,000 of intervention costs.
- Data from New Zealand Police, and research conducted by the Department of Corrections, highlight the association of methamphetamine use in prisoners and methamphetaminerelated criminal charges with violent offending, family harm, acquisitive crimes, and involvement in road trauma. It is important to note that behaviours of both using a drug, and committing a crime, are impacted by multiple social and economic factors such as one's socio-economic status and access to basic needs. In this sense, multiple common determinants can impact both the likelihood of using the drug and being associated with other crimes.



The meth business

From 2013 to 2019 there was a gradual decrease in the number of methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories dismantled. However, 2020 has seen a sharp increase in the number of laboratories dismantled in New Zealand. These are now commercial, and able to produce larger quantities of methamphetamine than the methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories previously detected in the country.

- There are several non-controlled methamphetamine precursor chemicals which can be used in the manufacturing process. Intelligence feedback to this report describes the importation of pre-precursors to New Zealand as an emerging trend.
- The volume of methamphetamine being imported into New Zealand has generally increased since 2012. Two large methamphetamine manufacturing regions, Mexico and the Golden Triangle (i.e. Myanmar Shan State, western Laos, and northern Thailand), supply methamphetamine to the New Zealand market.
- The oversupply of methamphetamine in the Golden Triangle is likely to lead to further expansions of the methamphetamine market, attracting more people to use the drug due to its cheaper price and higher availability. In this sense, syndicates based in Mexico are also a risk to New Zealand.
- The competition between suppliers is bringing the wholesale price of the drug down and this can lower the price at retail point, expanding markets in New Zealand to include lower socio-economic communities. The typical price of one kilogram of methamphetamine in New Zealand dropped from between \$230,000 and \$250,000 in 2016 to \$140,000 in 2019. Still, the New Zealand market is acknowledged as highly profitable.
- Intelligence holdings describe that organised crime groups in New Zealand are increasingly armed and likely to be more willing to carry out serious attacks and violence. It is likely that increases in violence and firearm-related charges are associated with members protecting themselves from other gangs and more violent tactics, and protecting their drug market.



Education, prevention, harm reduction, staff training, and partnerships

- Education and prevention strategies should be considered when addressing the harm caused by methamphetamine to New Zealand communities. They enable people who have not yet tried the drug to know more about its harmful effects, potentially avoiding use.
- Six different initiatives including education and prevention strategies being used in New Zealand were included in documents gathered – CAYAD, Stand Up!, Amplify!, What Can I Do? and Did You Know? series, and New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects. However, it is likely that there are further initiatives in place.³
- New Zealand harm reduction strategies include the Needle Exchange Programme, High Alert website, Festival Drug Checking, and the DrugHelp and MethHelp initiatives.

³ In this report, we describe prevention strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine), strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine, and strategies targeting other substances which could be adapted to target methamphetamine. All of these strategies were mentioned by Steering Group members or listed in documents provided by them.

However, this is unlikely to be an exhaustive list of harm reduction strategies in place in New Zealand.⁴

- There was limited information available about the general training of frontline staff working to address methamphetamine use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand. However, the Bridging the Gap resource and the Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care resource noted training and resources which could be used to train frontline staff.
- There are multiple initiatives in New Zealand that involve partnerships between police and other agencies to support harm reduction and reduce methamphetamine use. These include Non-court Action, Alcohol and Other Drugs Treatment Court, Custody Unit Screening, Custody Mental Health Nurses, the Te Ara Oranga project, and Tūturu.



Withdrawal management and treatment

- Methamphetamine withdrawal management is usually supported by out-patient services in New Zealand, as withdrawal symptoms are not life threatening. The literature suggests withdrawal management should be associated with ongoing treatment which addresses core issues and stressors associated with substance use.
- Support before, during, and after treatment is necessary when aiming to decrease methamphetamine use and sustain abstinence, and this seems to be especially lacking in New Zealand, both before people who use the drug can access treatment, and after they have been through standard treatment.
- As at 2017, there were three main treatment approaches being used in New Zealand – Brief Intervention, Community Based Out-Patient Programmes, and Residential Programmes.
- Individual barriers which prevent people who use methamphetamine from seeking treatment in New Zealand are problem denial, positive effects of the drug, pressure from peers to keep using the drug, not having correct information or having limited information about treatment options, perceived inability to stop using the drug, belief that one does not deserve to recover, shame, stigma, and lack of trust.
- Barriers to treatment in New Zealand at the system level include unavailability of services, funding scarcity, lack of resourcing, limited access hours of services, limited awareness of services, and big physical distance between services available and the client.

5

⁴ In this report, we describe harm reduction strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine) and strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine.

Full Summary of Findings

Full Summary of Findings

Background and Purpose

Given the extreme harm caused by methamphetamine to communities in New Zealand, a methamphetamine research brief was presented by the Evidence Based Policing Centre at the Organised Crime Coordination Committee (OCCC) meeting on the 27th February 2020. The methamphetamine research brief outlined the proposed research programme and governance structure for research exploring the impact of methamphetamine on New Zealand communities.

The research programme is led by the Evidence Based Policing Centre (EBPC) in collaboration with key stakeholders. As endorsed by the OCCC, the programme consists of a multilevel governance structure and multi-agency representation. A multi-agency Steering Group including representatives from academia, Iwi, and New Zealand government and nongovernmental organisations has been convened to provide advice on the research programme.

Across agencies, there is existing knowledge and research that can contribute to filling knowledge gaps about the harm methamphetamine causes to New Zealand communities, however there is no single document that summarises and consolidates these findings. Thus, the first step in this research programme, as proposed by the Steering Group, was to evaluate which perceived knowledge gaps might have already been closed in the academic literature, or through work conducted in partnering organisations. This report compiles this information, summarising what is already evidenced about the harm methamphetamine causes to New Zealand communities.

It is important to reiterate that this report consolidates predominantly grey literature (supported where applicable by academic literature) from contributing agencies specifically on the harm caused by methamphetamine to communities in New Zealand. This report acknowledges but does not focus on a) social and economic determinants of methamphetamine use and harm such as socio-economic status and access to basic needs; and b) confounding factors affecting outcomes related to methamphetamine use such as other substance use.⁵ However, where appropriate, the report discusses limitations of findings considering these factors.

Method

Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering group members were asked to provide relevant literature and reports from their agencies to the EBPC. In all, 160 documents were provided by members of the Steering Group and brief targeted searches of literature were also conducted to find documents mentioned by group members.

A further 119 documents were gathered, and the most prominent/ comprehensive literature was summarised. This report describes findings from this stocktake of existing literature based on documents provided and mentioned by Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group members.

5 Please see the Government Inquiry into Mental Health Addiction (2018) and Spooner & Hetherington (2004) for more information on determinants of drug use and addiction.

Chapter Highlights

People Who Use Methamphetamine

- Wastewater drug testing results can be used to estimate methamphetamine consumption in New Zealand. Considering the period prior to COVID-19 affecting New Zealand, the amount of methamphetamine consumed nationally per week fluctuated between 11.3 and 16.9 kilograms.⁶ This represents a stable average consumption of 14.1 kilograms (standard deviation = 1.5 kilograms). Since testing began, methamphetamine has been detected in wastewater for every community tested during every day of the week in New Zealand. About 50% (range 41.1%–57.2%) of methamphetamine consumed nationally between November 2018 and February 2020 was consumed in the Auckland region, however, use per capita in Bay of Plenty, Eastern, and Northland generally ranks higher than in the Auckland region [Section 3.1];
- In 2020, wastewater mass loads⁷ were compared across 27 countries. Considering the seven days sampled during the collection week, New Zealand ranked high, only ranking lower than Australia, United States, and Czech Republic [Section 3.1];
- Statistics for methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand vary depending on the study and method being used. Thus, it is important to consider multiple data sources when estimating methamphetamine use in New Zealand as all studies have limitations. The 2016 Drug Harm Index estimated that only 5.5% of those who use methamphetamine are dependent on it. Thus, it is likely most people using the drug, use it less than frequently. Continuous, reliable prevalence studies are required in the New Zealand context to improve our understanding of prevalence and dependence [Section 3.1];
- Findings from the 2019/20 New Zealand Health Survey including a sample of the overall New Zealand population showed that Māori were only 1.18 times more likely to report having used amphetamine in the previous year than non-Māori; although the proportion of Māori offenders proceeded against in court for possession, use, and utensils for methamphetamine increased from 32% in 2010 to 45% in 2020, while the proportion of European offenders proceeded against in court for the same offences during the same period dropped from 57% to 45%. More research is needed in order to specify more accurately the harm caused by methamphetamine to those of different ethnicities in New Zealand [Section 3.1];
- People who use methamphetamine in New Zealand have reported being first introduced to the drug by friends, acquaintances, family, and partners. People who use the drug have also reported first trying the drug for free when offered by dealers [Section 3.2];

- People who use methamphetamine in New Zealand have reported that prior to using it they were unaware of its negative effects, or did not have specific knowledge about the drug [Section 3.2];
- Awareness of negative health impacts, losing social connection with others, and financial instability have been identified by people who use methamphetamine as reasons for reducing use. Moreover, people who use the drug tend to seek help to decrease use when their partner or families leave, their children are removed from their care, they have legal, financial or health issues, the criminal lifestyle associated with methamphetamine use is causing them harm, and they 'hit rock bottom'. They also seek help when their desire for a 'normal' life and future is stronger than their addiction [Section 3.4];
- Profile and life-trajectory studies conducted overseas have distinguished profiles based on frequency, length, and mode of use (i.e. people who inject versus people who smoke methamphetamine). The literature suggests that the frequency of use is likely to increase with prolonged methamphetamine use, but that there might still be different profiles of people who use the drug. Furthermore, mode of use might be an important feature when distinguishing different profiles [Section 3.6.1];
- Profile and life-trajectory studies conducted in New Zealand are limited by either restricted sample sizes or focus on a specific sub-group of the population (e.g. prisoners) [Section 3.6.2];
- A New Zealand study with prisoners indicates the average age of first use of methamphetamine was 21.8 years, while the age of onset of methamphetamine dependence was 22.9 years. These findings suggest that methamphetamine use can escalate quite rapidly towards dependence [Section 3.6.2];
- People who use methamphetamine are likely to use other drugs. The use of stimulants in conjunction with other substances is associated in the literature with serious health hazards such as overburdening of the cardiorespiratory system, higher risk of overdose, and higher chance of contracting blood borne diseases [Section 3.6.2];
- Continued use of methamphetamine is extremely harmful to the individual; negative effects include disrupted sleep patterns, skin irritation, nausea, hallucinations, paranoia, methamphetamine-induced psychosis, methamphetamineinduced suicide attempts, short-term memory loss, irritability, aggression, organ damage, permanent psychological problems, weight loss, cardiovascular issues, dental issues, neurological complications, and lowered general immunity. Moreover, continued use of methamphetamine is also associated with difficulty in sustaining jobs, risky sexual behaviour, break-up of significant relationships, children being taken into others' care, neonatal and infant negative outcomes, 'feeling down' due to use, and involvement in crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine,

7 Mass load refers to the normalised concentration of methamphetamine or metabolite in the wastewater by population.

⁶ This finding is based on data recorded from November 2018 (when the wastewater drug testing programme was expanded to include results for 75% of the population living in New Zealand) to February 2020 (when the first COVID-19 case was detected in New Zealand).

or to sustain use. Chronic use has been associated with longterm health effects which may persist after use. The number of patients hospitalised due to methamphetamine use in New Zealand is increasing [Section 3.7];

- Methamphetamine and amphetamine-type stimulants impact not only those who use them, but also the family, whānau, and community in which use takes place. Methamphetamine use has been shown to deeply impact children, harming them both physically and mentally. Foetal methamphetamine exposure has been linked to negative outcomes in children [Section 3.7];
- The 2016 New Zealand Drug Harm Index estimated the total harm of the use of amphetamine-type stimulants in New Zealand, including both personal and community harm, to be \$347.8 million in 2014/2015. Each kilogram of amphetamine-type stimulants was equated to \$1.18 million of personal and community harm and \$56,000 of intervention costs [Section 3.7];
- Motivations given by dealers for dealing methamphetamine in New Zealand were covering the cost of their own methamphetamine use, ensuring they had methamphetamine available for their own use, making money, and enjoying the 'lifestyle' connected to selling methamphetamine [Section 3.9];
- Motivations given by manufacturers for manufacturing methamphetamine in New Zealand were making money, addiction, coercion by organised crime groups, financial difficulties, and financial gain [Section 3.9];
- Members of gangs in New Zealand might have become increasingly involved in the methamphetamine market, with reports that methamphetamine trafficking is being prioritised over cannabis trafficking [Section 3.9];
- An average of 30 children were found in methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories every year between 2013 and 2015. Children residing in these laboratories are at increased risk of fires and explosions, poisoning, injury, accidental death, burns, hypodermic needles, razor blades, among others [Section 3.9]; and
- The violence associated with both dealing and manufacturing methamphetamine has been acknowledged in several reports, studies, and books. An intelligence report highlights that threats, violence, and thefts are some of the repercussions of methamphetamine-related debt, in particular owing money to gangs, in New Zealand [Section 3.9].

Association with Other Crimes and Incidents

Data from New Zealand Police, and research conducted by the Department of Corrections, highlight the association of methamphetamine use in prisoners and methamphetaminerelated criminal charges with violent offending, family harm, acquisitive crimes, and involvement in road trauma. Although, at times, low-level methamphetamine-related offences can be the most serious offences committed by offenders [Section 4.1];

- According to an intelligence report from 2016, there were 9,910 offenders in New Zealand who received methamphetamine charges from 2010 to 2015. Of these, 68% had been associated with family violence incidents, 37% had been victims of a violence offence, 13% had alerts for carrying or using a weapon, 11% had used a firearm against a police officer or assaulted law enforcement staff, and 6% had been offender, suspect, or victim of a sexual attack [Section 4.2];
- Analyses including longitudinal data from the Christchurch Health and Development Study showed that a history of methamphetamine use was associated with increases in violence perpetration, intimate partner violence perpetration, and violence victimisation when compared to no history of methamphetamine use. Findings also showed that using methamphetamine more frequently was associated with a higher likelihood of being involved in violence episodes [Section 4.2];
- Level of spending on methamphetamine/amphetamine has been associated with level of income from property crime and drug dealing, with those spending more on methamphetamine/ amphetamine reporting a higher income related to property crime and drug dealing than those who did not spend any money on methamphetamine/ amphetamine [Section 4.3];
- Statistics from New Zealand Police showed that 40% of the unsatisfactorily completed roadside Compulsory Impairment Tests⁸ in 2019 were connected to amphetamine use, which included mainly methamphetamine. Also, methamphetamine was found in 13% of the blood samples of fatally injured drivers (when tested) between 2016 and 2018. This value represents a 160% increase when considering the average of 5% observed between 2013 and 2015. It is estimated that 40 to 45 road deaths per year are associated with the use of methamphetamine since 2016, which represents a social cost of \$182-\$205 million per year. In this sense, methamphetamine is the second most harmful substance in the promotion of road trauma (after alcohol) given its level of increased risk of crash involvement and prevalence in severe crashes on New Zealand roads [Section 4.4];
- In 2019, it was estimated that the biggest groups laundering money domestically were associated with drug offending. The Financial Intelligence Unit estimated that these groups laundered \$1.35 billion annually in the country [Section 4.5];
- Behaviours of using a drug and committing a crime are impacted by multiple social, environmental, contextual, cultural, and economical factors. It could be that multiple common determinants are impacting both the likelihood of using the drug and being associated with other crimes and incidents [Section 4.6]; and
- It is important to consider the co-occurring dependence on other substances when considering the association between methamphetamine use and offending as it has been acknowledged in the literature that many people who use methamphetamine also use other substances, and that

⁸ The Compulsory Impairment Test (CIT) is the standardised field sobriety test used in New Zealand. An unsatisfactory CIT means that the driver was unable multiple times to perform the requirements of the test (van Lamoen, January 2021).

dependence on other substances, such as alcohol, also has a causal link with property and violence offending [Section 4.6].

Production, Importation, and Distribution

- From 2013 to 2019 there was a gradual decrease in the number of methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories dismantled. However, 2020 has seen a sharp increase in the number of laboratories dismantled in New Zealand. All laboratories are now commercial, and able to produce larger quantities of methamphetamine than the methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories previously detected in the country [Section 5.1];
- There are several non-controlled methamphetamine precursor chemicals which can be used in the manufacturing process. Intelligence feedback to this report describes the importation of pre-precursors to New Zealand as an emerging trend [Section 5.1];
- The volume of methamphetamine being imported into New Zealand has generally increased since 2012. Two large methamphetamine manufacturing regions, Mexico and the Golden Triangle (i.e. Myanmar Shan State, western Laos, and northern Thailand), supply methamphetamine to the New Zealand market [Section 5.2];
- The increased availability of methamphetamine in the Golden Triangle, the reduced wholesale price of the drug due to increased availability in this region, and the profitability of the New Zealand market put New Zealand at increased risk of being a target for transnational syndicates based in the Golden Triangle. The oversupply of methamphetamine in this region is likely to lead to further expansions of the methamphetamine market, attracting more people to use the drug due to its cheaper price and higher availability. In this sense, syndicates based in Mexico are also a risk to New Zealand. Additionally, the competition between suppliers is bringing the wholesale price of the drug down and this can lower the price at retail point, expanding markets in New Zealand to include lower socio-economic communities. The typical price of one kilogram of methamphetamine in New Zealand dropped from between \$230,000 and \$250,000 in 2016 to \$140,000 in 2019. Still, the New Zealand market is acknowledged as highly profitable [Section 5.2];
- Mexico has increasingly been acknowledged as a source country for the methamphetamine imported to New Zealand. Mexican cartels use sophisticated and diverse methodologies, and have already successfully engaged with domestic distribution networks and money laundering infrastructure in New Zealand. This trend is likely to continue and be linked to further offending, although it is unlikely that Mexican cartels will seek to establish a physical presence in New Zealand, leading to the level of corruption and violence observed in Mexico [Section 5.2 and 5.3];
- There are different transnational syndicates involved in trafficking methamphetamine to New Zealand. These syndicates are not necessarily associated with gang members but do require criminal connections, often through Asian organised crime groups, to sell their product within New Zealand. Some members of domestic gangs will

therefore maintain relationships with Asian Organised Crime representatives or middlemen to obtain product for domestic distribution. It is important to mention, however, that the association between members of transnational syndicates, international criminal business entities, and domestic criminal business entities is neither linear nor fixed in New Zealand, varying across different groups and periods of time [Section 5.3];

- Intelligence holdings describe that organised crime groups in New Zealand are increasingly armed and likely to be more willing to carry out serious attacks and violence. It is likely that increases in violence and firearm-related charges are associated with members protecting themselves from other gangs and more violent tactics, and protecting their drug market [Section 5.3];
- Adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia are expanding to East and Southeast Asia to scale up the trafficking of drugs, especially methamphetamine and its precursors. According to intelligence holdings, it is likely that some of these gangs are collaborating in this space, which poses a high risk to New Zealand. The Pacific Islands are also vulnerable to the expansion of adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia. New Zealand gang members establishing themselves in these locations might have the opportunity to network with international drug syndicates, what would facilitate direct drug importations between the Pacific Islands and New Zealand in the future [Section 5.3];
- Anecdotal evidence indicates that it is likely that organised crime groups in New Zealand fix the street price of methamphetamine in the country, maintaining its profitability [Section 5.3];
- Illicit drugs have been increasingly more available online in New Zealand, both in clearnet and darknet-hosted marketplaces [Section 5.4];
- The purity of the methamphetamine sold in New Zealand is averaged at 74% out of a maximum purity of 80% for solid (salt) form methamphetamine, and in 2016 people who frequently used the drug perceived to be 'easy' or 'very easy' to obtain it in New Zealand [Section 5.5]; and
- COVID-19 has had an impact on methamphetamine supplies in New Zealand, and as at May 2020, the drug continued to be more difficult to obtain than before the onset of COVID-19 in many parts of the country. Although an international methamphetamine shortage affecting New Zealand remained unlikely [Section 5.7].

Education, Prevention, Harm Reduction, Staff Training, and Partnerships

- Education and prevention strategies should be considered when addressing the harm caused by methamphetamine to New Zealand communities. They enable people who have not yet tried the drug to know more about its harmful effects, potentially avoiding use [Section 6.1];
- Six different initiatives including education and prevention strategies being used in New Zealand were included in documents gathered – CAYAD, Stand Up!, Amplify!,

What Can I Do? and Did You Know? series, and New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects. However, it is likely that there are further initiatives in place^o [Section 6.1.2];

- Some harm reduction strategies implemented overseas have shown some promise, however proper assessments of harm reduction strategies to reduce risky stimulant use and overdose are lacking in the literature [Section 6.2.1];
- In New Zealand, common outcome measures of treatment success include harm reduction, as well as abstinence. However, nationally, there is no standardised outcomes evaluation system for the addiction sector as a whole [Section 6.2.2];
- New Zealand harm reduction strategies include the Needle Exchange Programme, High Alert website, Festival Drug Checking, and the DrugHelp and MethHelp initiatives. However, this is unlikely to be an exhaustive list of harm reduction strategies in place in New Zealand¹⁰ [Section 6.2.2];
- There was limited information available about the general training of frontline staff working to address methamphetamine use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand. However, the Bridging the Gap resource and the Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care resource noted training and resources which could be used to train frontline staff [Section 6.3];
- There are multiple initiatives in New Zealand that involve partnerships between police and other agencies to support harm reduction and reduce methamphetamine use. These include Non-court Action, Alcohol and Other Drugs Treatment Court, Custody Unit Screening, Custody Mental Health Nurses, the Te Ara Oranga project, and Tūturu [Section 6.4]; and
- A number of New Zealand Police operations targeting the supply of methamphetamine have also focused on directing people who use the drug to treatment services and providing prevention advice [Section 6.4.6].

Withdrawal Management and Treatment

- International literature is sparse regarding pharmacotherapy treatments for amphetamine and methamphetamine, and existing evidence is of poor quality [Section 7.1.2];
- Findings from different reviews of literature show that various psychosocial interventions are effective in reducing stimulant use and abstinence, but only the contingency management approach has been shown in the literature to consistently outperform other types of psychosocial treatment. Moreover, the literature suggests that it is also important to treat underlying issues connected to harmful substance use, and physical, psychological, and social effects arising from substance use when treating any substance use disorder [Section 7.1.3];
- A study from Australia showed that those who use methamphetamine and seek treatment are initially extremely

successful in discontinuing use, but that after treatment is discontinued the relapse rate increases as time passes to be similar to the relapse rate of those who did not receive treatment after three years. In this sense, it is extremely important to provide support to clients after treatment is discontinued in the form of peer support, booster sessions, occasional phone calls, among others [Section 7.1.3];

- In the last 20 years there have been multiple advances in the New Zealand alcohol and other drug treatment space. One of these advances was the development and professionalisation of the addiction practitioner role [Section 7.2];
- Methamphetamine withdrawal management is usually supported by out-patient services in New Zealand, as withdrawal symptoms are not life threatening. The literature suggests withdrawal management should be associated with ongoing treatment which addresses core issues and stressors associated with substance use [Section 7.2.1];
- Support before, during, and after treatment is necessary when aiming to decrease methamphetamine use and sustain abstinence, and this seems to be especially lacking in New Zealand, both before people who use the drug can access treatment, and after they have been through standard treatment [Section 7.2.3];
- New Zealand follows a stepped care treatment logic when considering addiction services, with clients receiving care according to their level of need [Section 7.2.4];
- As at 2017, there were three main treatment approaches being used in New Zealand – Brief Intervention, Community Based Out-Patient Programmes, and Residential Programmes [Section 7.2.5];
- The Department of Corrections provides access to a number of treatment programmes to prisoners who have a methamphetamine use disorder, and these programmes are generally perceived by prisoners to be useful [Section 7.2.7];
- Individual barriers which prevent people who use methamphetamine from seeking treatment in New Zealand are problem denial, positive effects of the drug, pressure from peers to keep using the drug, not having correct information or having limited information about treatment options, perceived inability to stop using the drug, belief that one does not deserve to recover, shame, stigma, and lack of trust [Section 7.2.8];
- Barriers to treatment in New Zealand at the system level include unavailability of services, funding scarcity, lack of resourcing, limited access hours of services, limited awareness of services, and big physical distance between services available and the client [Section 7.2.8]; and
- COVID-19 was perceived by service providers to have increased difficulty in contacting clients enrolled in treatment, decreased the number of referrals to addiction treatment during lockdown, and as impacting withdrawal symptoms in people who use drugs [Section 7.2.9].

11

⁹ In this report, we describe prevention strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine), strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine, and strategies targeting other substances which could be adapted to target methamphetamine. All of these strategies were mentioned by Steering Group members or listed in documents provided by them.

¹⁰ In this report, we describe harm reduction strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine) and strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine.

Conclusion

Methamphetamine is used in communities all over New Zealand; this drug can cause extreme harm to people who use it, their families, their whānau, and the community in which they live. These include (but are not restricted to) negative health effects to individuals using the drug, break-up of significant relationships, and crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine, or to sustain use.

The documents reviewed suggest that more research is needed in the New Zealand context on the extent of the harm caused by methamphetamine in order to fully understand the magnitude of the issue. It is of prime importance to regularly collect reliable data about methamphetamine use prevalence rates in the New Zealand population and the harms associated with the drug, so information on the topic is 1) up to date; 2) can be used to portray a current picture of the issue at hand; and 3) to track changes over time in the methamphetamine space. Following this, the pathways to prevention and recovery may require further research to address the nuances of the New Zealand methamphetamine context. The methamphetamine issue in New Zealand, though still to be fully understood, is clearly a multifaceted problem that requires a multi-agency approach to New Zealand-based future research methodology and response. A holistic view to reducing the harm caused to New Zealand individuals, whānau, and communities by the methamphetamine issue is paramount. The multi-agency Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group will go some way to ensuring this approach is realised.

1. Background

1.1 Methamphetamine in New Zealand Research Programme

Methamphetamine causes a significant amount of harm in New Zealand communities. This extends not only to the personal harm each individual person who uses methamphetamine can experience, but also the social harm due to its association with organised crime and the repercussions of person-level behaviours and delinquency which it causes (Foulds, Boden, McKetin & Newton-Howes, 2020; McFadden, 2016).

It is estimated that the social harm caused from methamphetamine consumption in New Zealand costs \$19 million a week or \$1 billion annually (New Zealand Police, October 2019).¹¹ Given the extreme harm caused by methamphetamine to communities in New Zealand, a methamphetamine research brief was presented by the Evidence Based Policing Centre (EBPC; 2020) at the Organised Crime Coordination Committee (OCCC) meeting on the 27th February 2020.

The methamphetamine research brief outlined the proposed research programme and governance structure for research exploring the impact of methamphetamine on New Zealand communities.

The research programme is led by the EBPC in collaboration with key stakeholders. As endorsed by the OCCC, the programme consists of a multilevel governance structure and multiagency representation. A multi-agency Steering Group including representatives from academia, Iwi, and New Zealand government and non-governmental organisations has been convened to provide advice on the research programme.

1.2 Research Tranche 1

The Methamphetamine in New Zealand Briefing to the Organised Crime Coordination Committee at New Zealand Police (EBPC, 2020) identified two knowledge gaps pertaining to the specific level of harm methamphetamine generates in communities in New Zealand:

- a. The impact of methamphetamine across different contexts and domains of social wellbeing. This includes understanding the harm that methamphetamine causes in social, economic, criminal and health contexts and understanding its contribution to increasing victimisations across New Zealand Police drivers of demand such as family harm incidents, mental health incidents, road policing offending, and youth offending.
- b. The role of methamphetamine in the macro-environment including drug-related other offending, the ongoing cost of rehabilitation due to methamphetamine use, the specific communities most prominently affected by methamphetamine use, and the financial networks related to methamphetamine. Specifically, the supply chain of methamphetamine and its links to domestic and international organised crime groups.

Across agencies, there is existing knowledge and research that can contribute to filling these knowledge gaps, however there is no single document that summarises and consolidates these findings. Thus, the first step in this research programme, as proposed by the Steering Group, was to evaluate which perceived knowledge gaps might have already been closed in the academic literature, or through work conducted in partnering organisations. This exercise will consolidate findings in one single document and allow later tranches of the research programme to focus on questions which have not been fully answered previously. This evaluation will constitute the first tranche of work and is presented on this report.

It is important to reiterate that this report consolidates predominantly grey literature (supported where applicable by academic literature) from contributing agencies specifically on the harm caused by methamphetamine to communities in New Zealand. This report acknowledges but does not focus on a) social and economic determinants of methamphetamine use and harm such as socio-economic status and access to basic needs; and b) confounding factors affecting outcomes related to methamphetamine use such as other substance use.¹² However, where appropriate, the report discusses limitations of findings considering these factors.

¹¹ Estimates for the cost of the social harm caused by methamphetamine were based on estimations by the 2016 Drug Harm Index (McFadden, 2016), and included the cost of personal harm, community harm, and interventions.

¹² Please see the Government Inquiry into Mental Health Addiction (2018) and Spooner & Hetherington (2004) for more information on determinants of drug use and addiction.

2. Method

Steering Group members were asked to provide relevant literature and reports from their agencies to the Evidence Based Policing Centre. Information/documents were received from representatives from agencies including: Department of Corrections, New Zealand Customs Service, National Drug Intelligence Bureau, University of Otago, University of New South Wales, Ministry of Health, National Organised Crime Group, Tūhoe Te Uru Taumatua, and New Zealand Drug Foundation.

In all, 160 documents were provided by members of the Steering group and brief targeted searches of literature were also conducted to find documents mentioned by group members. Further 119 documents were gathered, and the most prominent/ comprehensive literature was summarised.

In the interest of including all the relevant information on the report, while also making the report as succinct as possible, only the most relevant literature to the New Zealand context has been included in this report. Thus, this report does not include an exhaustive review of literature focusing on the harm caused by methamphetamine in New Zealand, describing instead findings from a stocktake based on documents provided and mentioned by Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group members.

The report is divided into five main chapters including information and research about:

- a. People who use methamphetamine;
- Associations between methamphetamine use and other crimes and incidents;
- c. Methamphetamine production, importation, and distribution;
- **d.** Strategies in the education, prevention, harm reduction, staff training, and partnership spaces; and
- e. Methamphetamine withdrawal management and treatment.

A short conclusion based on the information included in the report is presented after these sections.

3. People who use methamphetamine

3. People who use methamphetamine

This chapter presents findings from reports, studies, and reviews of literature focusing on people who use methamphetamine. In this sense, the chapter discusses prevalence rates of methamphetamine use in New Zealand, characteristics of the first use of methamphetamine, motivations to increase use and relapse using, motivations to decrease use and seek help, modes and patterns of use, profiles and trajectories of people who use methamphetamine both abroad and in New Zealand, negative effects of using the drug, health care and advice provided to people who use methamphetamine, how methamphetamine is purchased, and the trajectory from using the drug to dealing and manufacturing it.

This chapter does not discuss in depth social and economic determinants of methamphetamine use and harm, and confounding factors affecting outcomes related to methamphetamine use.¹³ This is acknowledged as a limitation of this report.

3.1 Methamphetamine Use Prevalence in New Zealand

3.1.1 Prevalence in the Overall Population

Based on data from the New Zealand Health Survey¹⁴ (2019/20), 1.1% of the New Zealand population had used amphetamine-type stimulants in the previous year (Ministry of Health, 2020a). The estimate of methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand is higher when considering findings from the Global Drug Survey¹⁵ (2020) and from the Christchurch Health and Development Study¹⁶ (CHDS; Foulds et al., 2019).

According to the 2020 Global Drug Survey, 3.0% of the 2,907 participants based in New Zealand who answered the survey had used methamphetamine in the previous year. According to a study by Foulds and colleagues (2020) including data from the CHDS, 28.2% of the 1,044 participants had used methamphetamine at least once between 18 and 35 years of age. Of these, 124 had not used the drug more than one to two times a year (42.3%); 118 (40.3%) had never used the drug more than monthly; and 51 (17.4%) had used the drug at least weekly during one of the reporting periods. If findings are generalised to New Zealand's population, they suggest that most people who use or have used methamphetamine in New Zealand do not use it regularly. The Drug Harm Index (2016) considers only 5.5% of the total number of people who use methamphetamine in New Zealand to be dependent on methamphetamine (NDIB, 2017d). The remaining 94.5% of people who use the drug would use the drug only 'casually'.

Wastewater drug testing results can also be used to estimate methamphetamine consumption in New Zealand. According to New Zealand¹⁷ Police (November 2020), the average weekly consumption of methamphetamine decreased from 15.4 kilograms in the first quarter of 2020 to 9.9 kilograms in the second quarter of 2020. This decrease was likely due to restrictions in the border and of movement in the country associated with COVID-19 (Lyons, November 2020). Considering the period prior to COVID-19 affecting New Zealand, the amount of methamphetamine consumed nationally per week fluctuated between 11.3 and 16.9 kilograms (ESR, 2020).¹⁸ This represents a stable average consumption of 14.1 kilograms (standard deviation = 1.5 kilograms).

Additionally, about half of the methamphetamine consumed nationally in the same period (between 41.1% and 57.2%) was consumed in the Auckland region. However, when considered methamphetamine use per capita, Bay of Plenty, Eastern, and Northland generally rank higher than the Auckland region (New Zealand Police, November 2020). In this sense, the Director of the National Organised Crime Group at New Zealand Police mentions that methamphetamine has been detected in wastewater drug testing results for every community tested during every day of the week (Williams, March 2019). This suggests that methamphetamine use is widespread in New Zealand (Williams, March 2019).

In 2020 the European network SCORE, facilitated by the EMCDDA (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction), collated wastewater results for 27 countries during a one-week period in March (NDIB, April 2021b). Prior to submitting results, each laboratory was required to participate in an inter-laboratory proficiency trial to ensure their methods were accurate and results suitable for comparison. ESR submitted wastewater data from five sites: Queenstown, Christchurch, Wellington (Moa Point), Wellington (Seaview), and Auckland Central.

¹³ Please see the Government Inquiry into Mental Health Addiction (2018) and Spooner & Hetherington (2004) for more information on determinants of drug use and addiction.

¹⁴ The New Zealand Health Survey is administered face-to-face to one adult and one child (if any) in each household selected (Ministry of Health, 2010). The survey includes a set of core questions and a set of rotating topic areas/ modules. Data for the survey has been continuously collected since April 2011.

¹⁵ The Global Drug Survey is an annual online survey conducted in ten different languages and hosted by partners in more than 20 countries which aims to explore the positive and negative effects of drug use and detect new drug trends as soon as they appear.

¹⁶ The CHDS is a birth cohort study including 1,265 children born in Christchurch (New Zealand) in 1977 (Fergusson & Horwood, 2001, as cited in Foulds et al., 2020; Fergusson et al., 1989; as cited in Foulds et al., 2020).

¹⁷ The wastewater testing programme includes 45 testing locations across New Zealand including approximately 75% of the population.

¹⁸ This finding is based on data recorded from November 2018 (when the wastewater drug testing programme was expanded to include results for 75% of the population living in New Zealand) to February 2020 (when the first COVID-19 case was detected in New Zealand).

Results, as presented as "mass loads" in mg/1000/day (normalised concentration of a drug or metabolite in the wastewater as opposed to the consumption estimate normally reported by New Zealand Police), when compared across the 27 contributing countries indicate New Zealand ranks high (NDIB, April 2021b). The United States, Australia, and Czech Republic were reported to have higher methamphetamine mass loads than New Zealand; most of the other European countries – such as Sweden, Finland, Austria, Portugal, Croatia, Belgium, Italy, and Greece – had very low methamphetamine mass loads.

3.1.2 Prevalence among Prisoners

Considering the prison population in New Zealand, in a study including 1,209 prisoners, Indig, Gear, and Wilhelm (2016; 2017) found that the prevalence of overall substance use and methamphetamine use is higher among prisoners than the overall population. Over half (56%) of prisoners in this study reported having ever used methamphetamine, and, of these, 58% indicated they had used methamphetamine in the past year. Additionally, the prevalence of methamphetamine use was found to be particularly high among younger prisoners. The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2019) reports that 2,450 prisoners received addiction treatment while in prison in 2018 and 70% of these had less than 30 years of age.

3.1.3 Prevalence among Different Ethnicities

Findings from the 2019/20 New Zealand Health Survey including 10,943 adults members of the New Zealand population (European/Other = 7,406; Māori = 1,906) showed that Māori were only 1.18 times more likely to report having used amphetamine in the previous year than non-Māori (Ministry of Health, 2020a; Ministry of Health 2020b).

Likewise, considering the prison population, Indig and colleagues (2017) found that the prevalence of methamphetamine use and disorders was similar for prisoners of European and Māori descent. The report also showed that prisoners of Pacific ethnicity were almost half as likely (34% versus 61% and 60%, respectively) to have ever used methamphetamine as prisoners of Māori and European descent, but those who had ever used it were more likely to have used it in the past year (65%) than any other ethnicity.

On the other hand, two reports from NDIB (2017d; 2020a) have highlighted that Māori are overrepresented when considering methamphetamine criminal charges and hospitalisations related to methamphetamine; and the National Organised Crime Group (2021b) described that while the proportion of Māori offenders proceeded against in court for possession, use, and utensils for methamphetamine increased from 32% in 2010 to 45% in 2020, the proportion of European offenders proceeded against in court for the same offences during the same period dropped from 57% to 45%. More research is needed in order to specify more accurately the harm caused by methamphetamine to those of different ethnicities.

3.1.4 Prevalence among Young People

The Youth19 survey reported that 3.7% of the 7,374 year 9-13 students who answered the survey had used drugs such as "P",¹⁹ "huffing",²⁰ and "synthetics"²¹ (Flemming et al., 2020b). The frequency of students who had ever tried these drugs increased with age. The study did not detect significant differences between participants based on gender, school decile, neighbourhood deprivation level, and city landscape (i.e. small town, rural area, urban area). The report for the survey aggregated findings regarding the use of 'heavier' drugs such as "P", "huffing", and "synthetics", thus it is not possible to tell the exact percentage of students who had used specifically "P". Answers to one of the free-text questions included in the survey also showed that students were concerned about the easy access to drugs (Flemming et al., 2020a).

The previous sections show that estimates regarding methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand vary across sources and population subgroups. This might be due to three main factors: a) underreporting of methamphetamine use in some studies due to the unlawful nature of methamphetamine use; b) studies gathering non-representative samples of the population considered; and c) use prevalence varying across different socio-demographic groups. Thus, it is important to consider multiple data sources when estimating methamphetamine use in New Zealand as all studies have methodological limitations. Additionally, it is important to acknowledge that different subgroups within the population such as prisoners present a higher prevalence of methamphetamine use than the overall population.

3.2 First Use of Methamphetamine

Research suggests that people who use methamphetamine are likely to be first introduced to methamphetamine by friends, acquaintances, family, and partners (Bowman, Morrison & Bevan, 2019; NDIB, 2017d; Sheridan, Butler & Wheeler, 2009). Also, they are not likely to be seeking to specifically use methamphetamine when first using it. Thus, first use happens generally more on the 'spur of the moment' (NDIB, 2017d).

People who use methamphetamine (including those who both manufacture and use) have also reported receiving methamphetamine from dealers for free at first (Bowman et al., 2019; NDIB, 2019a). According to Williams (March 2019), this strategy is used by dealers to attract potential clients and can lead to people who become addicted to the drug becoming indebted.

People who use methamphetamine report feeling stimulated to use it due to some of its effects such as euphoria, alertness,

^{19 &}quot;P" is the term usually used to name methamphetamine which is locally made in New Zealand (https://www.cads.org.nz/assets/Documents/484d07b732/I-Methamphetamine-info-sheet-CADS-2016.pdf).

^{20 &}quot;Huffing" relates to volatile substances which can be used as drug when inhaled (https://www.drugfoundation.org.nz/info/did-you-know/volatile-substances/). 21 "Synthetics" or synthetic psychoactive substances are chemical substances manufactured to mimic the effect of traditional drugs such as cannabis (https://www. drugfoundation.org.nz/info/did-you-know/synthetics/).

sociability, lack of appetite, sexuality, and feeling more energetic and productive (both at work and at home, including childcare); to feel like they belong; to manage stressful moments in their lives such as the death of significant others and break-up of relationships; to 'numb' undesirable feelings such as 'not being good enough'; or in order to supress traumas (Bax, 2021; Bowman et al., 2019; NDIB, 2017d; O'Donnell et al., 2018). Findings from both NDIB (2017d) and Sheridan and colleagues (2009) also suggest that people who use methamphetamine can be unaware of its negative effects, or do not have specific knowledge about the drug when they first use it.

It is important to remember that drug use is usually a result of the interaction between multiple complex factors. Thus, there is no one factor that will fully explain the use of drugs by all individuals (Spooner & Hetherington, 2004). In New Zealand, individuals and organisations who expressed their views in the Government Inquiry into Mental Health and Addiction (2018) acknowledged mental health issues and addiction as symptoms of poverty, social exclusion, trauma, and disconnection. In this sense, poverty, social exclusion, trauma, and disconnection are seen as social and economic determinants of mental health issues and addiction.

The article by Bax (2021) investigated the life-course of people who had used methamphetamine frequently in New Zealand. Findings presented in the article were categorised across three life domains-school, friendship, and work history. Analysis of 35 semi-structured interviews showed that 20 adverse experiences, which had hindered progress in school and at work, and had contributed to drug use, were common between people who had been interviewed in the study. These adverse experiences included negative school transitions, significant turning point events, weak commitment to school, poor school attitude and performance, low academic achievement, low school and work ambition, low parental expectations, high levels of mental health issues, delinquency, delinquent peer behaviour, bullying victimisation, work victimisation, unstable careers, and illegal economic activities. Based on findings, the author discussed the importance of the school life domain in altering drug use trajectories.

3.3 Motivations to Increase Use and Relapse

Different studies have presented motivations for increasing methamphetamine use such as boredom, lack of routine, recapturing the initial 'high' caused by methamphetamine when first used, avoiding effects of 'coming down', and work and domestic pressures (Bowman et al., 2019; O'Donnell et al., 2018).

Bowman and colleagues (2019) found that having a job can be perceived as vital in preventing methamphetamine use relapse. On the other hand, people in the same social network using methamphetamine, and lack of routine and stable employment have all been cited as motivations to relapse using methamphetamine (NDIB, 2019a).

During the COVID-19 level 4 lockdown, NDIB and the New Zealand Drug Foundation conducted a survey including 60 drug treatment clients and 64 Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) treatment providers (NDIB, May 2020). Findings showed that 56% of the clients and 48% of treatment providers reported an increase in the use of drugs, mostly explained by increases in use of cannabis and methamphetamine. Likewise, wastewater drug testing data showed a 41% increase in methamphetamine consumption in March 2020 when compared to March 2019 (NDIB, June 2020). As reasons for increasing use, treatment providers pointed to anxiety, boredom, dependence, and isolation.

3.4 Motivations to Decrease Use and Seek Help

As reasons for reducing the use of methamphetamine, people who use the drug have mentioned awareness of negative health impacts, losing social connection with others, and financial instability (O'Donnell et al., 2018). Some people who use methamphetamine might also not understand the extent of the issues caused by methamphetamine until they have been in contact with the Justice System (NDIB, 2019a).

The social network of people who use methamphetamine changes considerably through their trajectory of use, generally changing from using methamphetamine in a social setting at first to using it more alone or with significant others when addiction is an integral part of their lives (Bowman et al., 2019). In this sense, when their addiction is getting the best of them, people who use methamphetamine usually have a very restricted social network, lacking in social connection.

People who use methamphetamine have been found to seek help to decrease use when their partner or families leave, their children are removed from their care, they have legal, financial or health issues, the criminal lifestyle associated with methamphetamine use is causing them harm, and they 'hit rock bottom' (NDIB, 2017c). They also seek help when their desire for a 'normal' life and future is stronger than their addiction (NDIB, 2017d). In this sense, some people who use the drug acknowledge that quitting methamphetamine successfully requires a great deal of motivation and it is not possible to quit it successfully if who is using it is not ready (NDIB, 2017d).

3.5 Modes and Patterns of Use

According to a report by the Border Five Analysis Working Group (2019), 89% of the methamphetamine seized at the border in 2019 was in crystal form (1,048.9 kg), 11% was in powder form (131.1 kg), and 0.3% (3.1 kg) was in liquid form. This finding could either signal that crystal methamphetamine is used more in New Zealand than powdered and liquid methamphetamine, or that crystal methamphetamine has been detected more at the border than other types of the drug.

It is more likely, however, that crystal methamphetamine, followed by its powdered form, are the most used types of the drug in New Zealand as reports by people who use methamphetamine suggest smoking and snorting methamphetamine are still the most frequent methods. The report by Bowman and colleagues (2019) investigating prisoners' methamphetamine trajectory and how they perceived treatment described that most of the 54 prisoners interviewed smoked crystal methamphetamine and just a minority injected it. In an internal communication, Williams (December 2020) observes that since methamphetamine started to be detected in New Zealand, its crystal form has been dominant.

However, the percentage of people who use methamphetamine injecting the drug in New Zealand may be increasing. Findings from the 2014 Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS) showed that 53% of the people who frequently used methamphetamine had injected the drug in the past six months compared to 28% in 2013 (NDIB, 2017d). This increase was confirmed by staff from Auckland Hospital who observed that intravenous use of methamphetamine had increased in the two years before the report by NDIB was released.

The perceived increase in the frequency of people who use methamphetamine injecting the drug might be associated both with an increase in the availability of liquid methamphetamine in New Zealand, and with an increase in the frequency of people who use methamphetamine for longer periods of time in New Zealand (NDIB, 2017a; Bowman et al., 2019). In different studies, injecting methamphetamine has been associated with long-term use of the drug and seeking an 'increased meth experience' after trying other methods of use (NDIB, 2017d; Bowman et al., 2019). Injecting methamphetamine has been also associated with higher risks of contracting infections and blood borne diseases (NDIB, 2017d).

Taken together, findings suggest that smoking crystal methamphetamine is still the most frequent mode of methamphetamine use in New Zealand, but that methamphetamine injecting might be on the rise.

3.6 Profiles and Trajectories of People Who Use Methamphetamine

3.6.1 International Literature

3.6.1.1 Frequency and Length of Use

Two international studies [Hser, Huang, Brecht, and Evans (2008) in California, US, and McKetin, McLaren, and Kelly (2005) in Sydney, Australia] examined profiles and trajectories of people who use methamphetamine in regard to frequency and length of use. Together, the studies show that the frequency of use of methamphetamine is likely to increase with prolonged methamphetamine use, from experimental to chronic dependent use. The study by Hser and colleagues (2008), however, also suggests that there might be different profiles of people who use methamphetamine, even when considering the higher likelihood of increasing use over time. The study conducted by Hser and colleagues (2008) investigated the life-long trajectory of people who primarily use methamphetamine, heroin, and cocaine. Findings showed that people who had used the three drugs for more than 10 years showed very frequent use, with people who use methamphetamine persistently using it on average 12 days per month (compared to people who use heroin using it from 13 to 18 days per month and people who use cocaine using it from eight to 11 days per month). Growth mixture models showed five different groups of people who use the drugs considering their first 10 years of use - consistently high use, increasing use, decreasing use, moderate use, and low use. People who used methamphetamine (along with people who used cocaine) were mostly in the moderate use group, while people who used heroin were overrepresented in the high use group and underrepresented in the low use group. The authors also found that people who used the drugs and were part of the high use group had started using and committing crimes earlier in life, had gone through longer prison sentences, and were more likely to be unemployed.

The study conducted by McKetin and colleagues (2005) investigated the impact of "ice"²² and "base"²³ on Sydney's methamphetamine market, also assessing the impact of these forms of methamphetamine on health and social factors. Among the findings from a cross-sectional face-to-face study conducted with 310 people who used methamphetamine regularly, the authors found that there were three main groups of people who used methamphetamine (McKetin, Baker, Kay-Lambkin, & Lee, 2012):

- a. Younger people who mostly snorted or swallowed powder methamphetamine, smoked ice, consumed "ecstasy" pills,²⁴ used methamphetamine in social settings, and had been using methamphetamine for less than five years;
- b. People who used methamphetamine frequently, primarily injected the drug, presented high use of cannabis and alcohol and lower use of other drugs, used methamphetamine around fewer people, and had been using methamphetamine for five to ten years; and
- c. People who had used heroin for a long period of time and also injected methamphetamine. People in this group used methamphetamine in a more private setting with fewer people around them and had been using methamphetamine for more than ten years.

²² Ice" or crystal methamphetamine is the form of methamphetamine with the highest levels of purity and has a white, crystalised appearance (https://www1.health.gov. au/internet/publications/publishing.nsf/Content/phd-npi-methamphetamine-report-feb09-l-context). A study including 309 participants who used methamphetamine regularly in Australia showed that those who had used crystal methamphetamine in the previous year were significantly more likely to be dependent on methamphetamine than participants who had used other forms of the drug in the same timeframe (McKetin, Kelly, & McLaren, 2006). After adjusting analyses for mode of use, frequency of use, and length of use, using crystal methamphetamine remained significantly associated with methamphetamine dependence. Please see McKetin and colleagues (2006) for an in-depth discussion of these findings.

^{23 &}quot;Base" is a form of methamphetamine which looks like a paste, having usually shades of brown and a 'toffee like' appearance (https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/ publications/publishing.nsf/Content/phd-npi-methamphetamine-report-feb09-l-context).

^{24 &}quot;Ecstasy" pills are usually made from MDMA mixed with other drugs such as amphetamines and caffeine (https://www.drugfoundation.org.nz/info/drug-index/mdma/).

3.6.1.2 Mode of Use

Studies conducted in Australia have also investigated differences among people who smoke methamphetamine and people who inject the drug (McKetin et al., 2008; McKetin et al., in press; McKetin, Voce & Burns, 2017). This distinction seems to be an important feature between people who use the drug in Australia and can be explained by the recent increase in use of crystal methamphetamine in Australia, especially in rural areas (McKetin et al., 2017).

The study by McKetin and colleagues (2008) included 195 participants who had only injected methamphetamine in the past month, 90 participants who had injected and smoked methamphetamine in the past month, and 73 who had only smoked methamphetamine in the past month. Findings showed that participants who only smoked were generally younger, and more likely to be female, also use "ecstasy" rather than heroin, and be less dependent on methamphetamine when compared to participants who injected it. Participants who injected and smoked the drug used methamphetamine in similar frequency and had similar poor health (both physical and mental), high levels of psychological distress, psychotic symptoms, sexually risky behaviour, and involvement in crimes. Participants who injected the drug, and those who injected and smoked the drug, were similar in terms of their sociodemographic profiles, polydrug use, and symptomatology, but were different in some respects-with participants who injected and smoked the drug using methamphetamine and being involved in crimes more frequently.

Another study by McKetin and colleagues (in press) investigated the characteristics of those who smoke (n=97) and those who inject (n = 54) methamphetamine. Similar to the findings by McKetin and colleagues (2008), those who smoked methamphetamine were younger than those who injected methamphetamine. Those who smoked methamphetamine were also less likely to be unemployed, have prior prison sentences, and live alone, and had used methamphetamine for fewer years.

Contrary to the findings by McKetin and colleagues (2008), participants who smoked methamphetamine used it more frequently in the past month than those who injected it and did not differ regarding their drug dependence level from those who injected methamphetamine. Those who smoked and injected methamphetamine were not significantly different regarding withdrawal and polydrug use. When sociodemographic factors were controlled in the analyses, those who smoked methamphetamine presented lower craving, and were less likely to report psychiatric symptoms and using antidepressants.

McKetin and colleagues (2017) study included 183 participants who lived in the Australian Capital Territory (ACT) and had used methamphetamine at least monthly. The study was commissioned as the use of crystalline methamphetamine was increasing in Australia and there was limited data about methamphetamine use and health concerns within the ACT. Findings from the study showed that two different groups of people used methamphetamine: a) the first group included older people who had injected opioid for a long period of time; and b) the second group included younger people who had been using the drug for less time and usually smoked the drug.

Taken together, studies conducted overseas focusing on profile and trajectory of people who use methamphetamine have distinguished profiles based on frequency, length, and mode of use (i.e. people who inject versus people who smoke methamphetamine). Findings suggest that the frequency of methamphetamine use is likely to increase with prolonged use (from experimental to chronic dependent use), but that there might still be different profiles of people who use the drug even when considering this higher likelihood. Findings also suggest that mode of use might be an important feature when distinguishing different profiles of people who use methamphetamine.

3.6.2 New Zealand Literature

3.6.2.1 Profiles of People Who Use Methamphetamine

An NDIB report (2017d) including findings from a discussion forum with 10 clients from a residential care facility in New Zealand suggested the existence of three main groups of people who use methamphetamine:

- **a.** People who experiment with methamphetamine, not using it frequently;
- **b.** People who use methamphetamine socially to assist them socialising with others; and
- c. People who use a considerable amount of methamphetamine daily.

Based on anecdotal evidence from drug forums, NDIB (2017d) also observed the existence of 'high functioning' people who use methamphetamine who can use it while minimising its harm, being able for instance to keep their use hidden from others and to secure jobs.

3.6.2.2 Characteristics of People Who Use Methamphetamine

The NDIB (2017d) report also suggested that people who use methamphetamine in New Zealand are usually aged between 16 and 34 years old; are more likely to be male than female; and belong to a range of occupational groups. A review of literature by Farrell and colleagues (2019) suggested that sex workers, and people who feel the pressure of being extremely productive at work, might be more prone to use stimulants than the overall population. The authors also detailed that groups such as MSM (men who have sex with men) might be more prone to using stimulants.

Findings from a study by Foulds and colleagues (2020) including data from the Christchurch Health and Development study (CHDS)²⁵ showed that the age bracket in which participants were more likely to report using methamphetamine was from 21 to 25 years old (22.4% of 1,044 participants), followed by the age

²⁵ The CHDS is a birth cohort study including 1,265 children born in Christchurch (New Zealand) in 1977 (Fergusson & Horwood, 2001, as cited in Foulds et al., 2020; Fergusson et al., 1989; as cited in Foulds et al., 2020).

bracket from 25 to 30 years old (14.4%), and the age bracket from 30 to 35 years old (7.8%). Only 5.5% of the participants reported using methamphetamine at least once from 18 to 21 years old.²⁶ This finding suggests that a higher percentage of people are likely to be using the drug in New Zealand during their twenties.

People who use methamphetamine in New Zealand are also likely to use other drugs, using them to either counteract or prolong the effect of methamphetamine (Bowman et al., 2019; NDIB, 2017d). The study conducted by Indig and colleagues (2017) compared the mental health, comorbidity, treatment seeking, and other associated factors for prisoners with and without a methamphetamine use disorder. A total of 1,209 prisoners from 13 prisons in New Zealand were interviewed in the study. The study showed that prisoners who had a methamphetamine dependence were three times more likely to have another drug dependence than prisoners who did not have a methamphetamine dependence.

Farrell and colleagues (2019) suggest that polydrug use of stimulants as well as other drugs can incur serious health hazards. The use of stimulants and alcohol increases the risk of cardiotoxicity and violent behaviour. Likewise, the use of opioids along with stimulants can overburden the cardiorespiratory system. Injecting both methamphetamine and heroin can lead to a 2.8 times higher risk of overdosing when compared to only injecting heroin. Finally, injecting multiple types of drugs is also associated with a higher chance of contracting blood borne viruses, as more syringes are used and may be shared to enable injections.

3.6.2.3 First Drug Used and Trajectory of Use

In a study by Bowman and colleagues (2019) including 54 prisoners, methamphetamine was not generally the first drug used. This finding is consistent with findings from Sheridan, Butler, and Wheeler's (2009) study, in which 19 out of 20 New Zealand participants who had used methamphetamine in the past year, reported using other illicit drug before using methamphetamine. The most commonly used illicit drugs before methamphetamine in this study were cannabis and amphetamine.

Similarly, most prisoners in Bowman and colleagues' (2019) study reported starting to use alcohol and cannabis first in their early teens. Most of the interviewees reported starting to use methamphetamine later in life in their teens and twenties. The age of onset in this study is consistent with the age of onset in Indig and colleagues' (2017) study. In this study, the average age of first use of methamphetamine was 21.8 years and the average age of onset of methamphetamine dependence was 22.9 years. New Zealand European prisoners had the youngest average age of onset of methamphetamine abuse disorders (21.9 years), with those who became dependent presenting an even younger average age of dependence (21.6 years). Thus, according to this study, methamphetamine use escalated guite rapidly towards chronic abuse. Likewise, the use trajectory in the study by Bowman and colleagues (2019) was associated with progressing frequency of use towards dependence.

However, in some cases this progression was slow and in other cases fast. It is important to mention that the studies cited in this paragraph were conducted with prisoners; thus, the methamphetamine use trajectories observed in them cannot be generalised to the overall population of people who use methamphetamine in New Zealand.

Findings from the Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS) and the New Zealand Arrestee Drug Use Monitoring (NZ-ADUM) are not reviewed here. Both studies collected data for the last time in 2016 and focused on gathering intelligence about the drug market. Furthermore, while the IDMS included only participants who used methamphetamine frequently, the NZ-ADUM included only arrestees. Finally, the studies conducted by Indig and colleagues (2017) and Bowman and colleagues (2019) reported in this section include more updated information regarding methamphetamine use by prisoners in New Zealand than the last wave of the NZ-ADUM study.

Taken together, the studies conducted within New Zealand focusing on profile and trajectory of people who use methamphetamine include either a limited sample of people who use methamphetamine or focus on a specific sub-group of the population (e.g. prisoners). Furthermore, to our knowledge, no study has investigated the different profiles and trajectories of people who use methamphetamine including a representative sample of the population using the drug in New Zealand.

3.7 Negative Effects of Use

Continued use of methamphetamine is extremely harmful to the individual; negative effects include disrupted sleep patterns, skin irritation, nausea, hallucinations, paranoia, methamphetamineinduced psychosis, methamphetamine-induced suicide attempts, short-term memory loss, irritability, aggression, organ damage, permanent psychological problems, weight loss, cardiovascular issues, dental issues, neurological complications, and lowered general immunity (Bowman et al., 2019; McKetin et al., 2008; National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2019; NDIB, 2017d; Rawson, 2013).

Moreover, continued use of methamphetamine is also associated with difficulty in sustaining jobs, risky sexual behaviour, breakup of significant relationships, children being taken into others' care, neonatal and infant negative outcomes, 'feeling down' due to use, and involvement in crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine, or to sustain use (Bax, 2021; Bowman et al., 2019; LaGasse et al., 2011; McKetin et al., 2008; National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2019; NDIB, 2017d; Oranga Tamariki, 2020; Smith et al., 2015).

Farrell and colleagues (2019) observed in their review of literature that people who use amphetamines are more likely to die prematurely due to suicide, drug poisoning, accidental injury, cardiovascular disease, and homicide when compared to the overall population. Likewise, people who use amphetamine are more likely to suffer non-fatal harm such as substance dependence, non-fatal overdose and poisoning, stroke and myocardial infarction, respiratory and lung disease, skin and soft

²⁶ Findings included in the study referred to data collected in four waves from when participants where 21 years old (enquiring them about the previous three years) to when they were 35 years old.

tissue infection, depression, violence, HIV, Hepatitis C virus, nonfatal injury, neonatal negative outcomes, and Parkinson's disease.

Repeated administration of methamphetamine has also been associated with cumulative risk of cardiac and coronary artery disease (Darke, Kaye, McKetin & Duflou, 2008). In this sense, the long-term use of methamphetamine may substantially increase the risk of myocardial infarction as the person using it ages.

Research by Arunogiri, McKetin, Verdejo-Garcia and Lubman (2018), Ersche and Sahakian (2007), Rawson (2013), and Darke and colleagues (2008) suggests that continued use of methamphetamine is not only associated with health effects while using the drug, but can also cause long-term effects which accumulate and may persist over time.

A systematic review of literature also critically assessed the existing literature regarding the association between prior methamphetamine use and health and criminal justice system outcomes after an index episode of criminal justice contact (Cumming, Kinner, McKetin, Li & Preen, 2020). Findings from nine longitudinal studies showed that prior methamphetamine use was associated with hospitalisations for drug-induced psychosis, but not associated with hospitalisation for non-drug related psychosis and mortality after release.

3.7.1 Association between Methamphetamine Use and Cognition

According to Potvin and colleagues (2018), the association between methamphetamine use disorder and cognitive deficits is a contentious issue in the literature. The authors discuss that different meta-analyses and reviews of literature have found contradictory results due to limitations in the method adopted and studies included in their analyses. Trying to account for these issues, Potvin and colleagues (2018) conducted a new meta-analysis of literature including 44 studies. Findings showed large deficits in impulse-related functions and social cognition in participants with a methamphetamine use disorder (when compared to those without); moderate deficits in global cognition, attention, executive functions, language/ verbal fluency, verbal learning and memory, visual memory, and working memory; and small-to-moderate deficits in speed of processing and visuo-spatial abilities. There were no significant differences in visual learning between participants with a methamphetamine use disorder and those without. Findings also showed publication bias, with small studies showing small effects of methamphetamine on cognition being underreported in the literature and the possibility that the association between methamphetamine use disorder and cognitive deficits was slightly over-estimated in Potvin and colleagues' (2018) study.

Potvin and colleagues (2018) also observed that it is not currently possible based on existing literature to assess whether some of the cognitive deficits observed in the literature precede chronic use of methamphetamine. According to the authors, it is also difficult to reliably estimate the duration of cognitive deficits associated with methamphetamine use disorder after methamphetamine use is discontinued. The authors list as a limitation of their study the potential influence of confounders, such as quantities of methamphetamine used by participants, the length of methamphetamine use history, the route of administration of methamphetamine, comorbid depressive symptoms, alcohol use, and cigarette smoking, on the association between methamphetamine use disorder and cognitive deficits.

Although findings in the literature have limitations, further literature has connected deficits in cognition to an increased likelihood of relapsing, taking risks, and poorer psychosocial outcomes (Arunogiri et al., 2018). Moreover, cognitive deficits have been connected to changes in the patterns of brain activation of people who use amphetamine and methamphetamine (Ersche & Sahakian, 2007; Lee, 2017; National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2019). Ersche and Sahakian (2007) discuss that possible cognitive deficits associated with amphetamine dependence should be considered during treatment so clients with cognitive deficits remain in treatment and benefit more from it.

In New Zealand, the Substance Addiction (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 2017 defines as one of the criteria for compulsory treatment of people with a severe addiction the severe impairment of the "person's capacity to make informed decisions about treatment for that addiction" (para. 7). The Act define as severe impairment, individuals unable to:

- a. understand the information relevant to the decisions; or
- **b.** retain that information; or
- c. use or weight that information as part of the process of making the decisions; or
- d. communicate the decisions. [Substance Addiction (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 2017, para. 9]

According to an unpublished evaluation of this Act by the Ministry of Health (May 2021b), there is evidence that clinicians are perceiving the legal test of capacity based on the Act as an assessment of cognitive functioning in terms of understanding and retaining information, problem solving, focusing attention, and communication. In this sense, addictive compulsivity, and the inability of the person to avoid severely damaging substance use are not being considered. According to the evaluation, this means that the legal test of capacity based on the Act is mainly applicable to those with long-term alcohol addiction (Ministry of Health, May 2021b). This has been confirmed by findings showing that alcohol was reported as the main substance of concern in 80% of cases in which a person was placed under the Act (Ministry of Health, May 2021b).

In this sense, those with addiction to other substances such as methamphetamine will often not be classified as cognitive impaired based on the Act, even though they show severe addictive compulsion (Ministry of Health, May 2021b). In these cases, people using the drug might be eligible for compulsory treatment too late in their addiction trajectory, at which point permanent damage to the brain and nervous system might have already happened (Ministry of Health, May 2021b).

3.7.2 Association between Methamphetamine Use and Mental Health Issues

Bowman and colleagues (2019) emphasise that a few of the prisoners interviewed in their study mentioned using methamphetamine to self-medicate pre-existing mental health conditions. Similarly, Indig and colleagues (2017) found among 1,209 prisoners in New Zealand that prisoners who had a methamphetamine dependence disorder had a significantly higher prevalence for all mental health disorders and comorbidities across both 12-month and lifetime than prisoners who did not have a methamphetamine disorder. These included most anxiety disorders (except for Generalised Anxiety Disorder), and mood disorders. Interestingly, the age of onset of anxiety and mood disorders was before the age of onset of methamphetamine use disorder (when considering prisoners with a methamphetamine use disorder). Additionally, prisoners with a methamphetamine dependence disorder were twice as likely to have an antisocial personality disorder, a narcissistic personality disorder, or a schizoid personality disorder than prisoners without a methamphetamine disorder.

Likewise, the systematic review of literature by Farrell and colleagues (2019) suggests that people who use amphetamine are more likely to suffer non-fatal harm such as depression and violence. Some studies also portray that the likelihood of experiencing psychosis is higher among those who use amphetamines. McKetin and colleagues (2019) found in their systematic review of literature and meta-analysis including 59 articles that use of amphetamine was associated with a higher likelihood of psychosis, suicidality, violence perpetration, and depression. Having an amphetamine use disorder was associated with a higher likelihood of psychosis and suicidality. No association between amphetamine use disorder and anxiety was found, but this may be due to the limited number of articles including anxiety as a health outcome. Darke and colleagues (2008) observe that psychosis symptoms might be accompanied by violent behaviours, thus both of these factors can be associated when using amphetamine.

In their systematic review of literature, Arunogiri, Foulds, McKetin, and Lubman (2018) assessed factors associated with psychotic symptomatology in adults using amphetamine and methamphetamine. Based on findings from 20 studies including 13 different populations, the authors found evidence that higher frequency of use, quantity of use, and methamphetamine/ amphetamine dependence were associated with an increase in the likelihood of experiencing psychotic symptomatology. Polydrug use, especially considering alcohol dependence and cannabis use, were also associated with psychotic symptomatology, although more studies are necessary to verify if the use of other substances can predict psychotic symptomatology in people who use methamphetamine or amphetamine. Age, gender, and employment status were not associated with psychotic symptomatology, while the relationship between other risk factors (e.g. psychiatric comorbidity, family history of psychosis or psychiatric illness, and history of trauma) and psychotic symptomatology was inconclusive. The authors discussed that most of the studies presented low to moderate

quality evidence and measured outcomes differently, making it more difficult to unify findings quantitatively.

The authors also discussed how psychotic symptoms associated with methamphetamine and amphetamine use could have the same risk factors for schizophrenia, presenting evidence that 30% of people who use methamphetamine or amphetamine and present psychotic symptomatology also present later in life persistent psychotic illness. In this sense, psychotic symptomatology associated with methamphetamine/ amphetamine use could transition to persistent and long-term psychiatric illness (Arunogiri, et al., 2018; The Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, 2019). Evidence suggests that different methamphetamine psychosis profiles characterised by different symptomatology might be related differently to persistent psychosis, with those who present negative symptoms or first-rank symptoms more likely to present persistent psychosis (Arunogiri et al. 2018).

The study by Kittirattanapaiboon and colleagues (2010) included 449 participants who had been hospitalised for methamphetamine-induced psychosis between January 2000 and December 2001. The study assessed long-term outcomes of patients diagnosed with methamphetamine-induced psychosis treated in a psychiatric hospital five years after the initial psychotic episode. Findings showed that 47.2% of the patients had clinically significant relapses of psychotic symptoms, 39.2% were re-hospitalised, and 55.7% reported experiencing a psychosis relapse after discharge. When researchers excluded patients who reported using methamphetamine at the time from the analyses, they found that 52.6% of the 410 patients had only one episode of psychosis after which they fully recovered and 38.8% were diagnosed with schizophrenia or a current psychotic disorder or were taking antipsychotic medication. Thus, patients who initially present methamphetamine-induced psychosis symptomatology might require long-term care and monitoring.

According to the review of literature authored by Arunogiri and colleagues (2018), multiple studies have also differentiated cognitive impairment in those who are dependent on methamphetamine and have presented psychotic symptoms from those who are dependent on methamphetamine, but have not presented psychotic symptoms. These studies have observed that those who have presented psychotic symptoms have greater impairment on verbal memory, verbal fluency, attention, processing speed, and executive control. Furthermore, the cognitive impairment of those who present persistent psychotic symptoms associated with methamphetamine dependence seems to be similar to the impairment in people diagnosed with schizophrenia.

3.7.3 Impact on Others

It is also important to acknowledge that methamphetamine and amphetamine-type stimulants negatively impact not only those who use it, but also the family, whānau, and community in which use takes place. The 2016 New Zealand Drug Harm Index estimated the total harm of the use of amphetamine-type stimulants in New Zealand, including both personal and community harm, to be \$347.8 million in 2014/2015 (McFadden, 2016). Each kilogram of amphetamine-type stimulants was equated to \$1.18 million of personal and community harm and \$56,000 of intervention costs (NIC, 2016). The 2016 index also reported that experts acknowledged methamphetamine as the single most harmful illicit drug for people who are dependent on it, and the second most harmful illicit drug for people who use it casually (after heroin/ homebake; McFadden, 2016). Likewise, New Zealand Police's Crime Harm Index²⁷ indicates that the harm associated with methamphetamine and amphetamine is higher than the harm associated with almost all of the other drug types, excluding temporary drug classes and fantasy drugs (NIC, 2016).²⁸

Oranga Tamariki (2020) reports that methamphetamine was a key factor in 49% of cases in a random sample of babies who were aged under 30 days to be taken into care. According to NIC (2016), children are the main victims experiencing harm as a result of family members' drug lifestyle, reporting that children of people who misuse substances are three times more likely to suffer physical abuse and four times more likely to experience neglect. Likewise, they are more likely to misuse substances, exhibit criminal behaviours, and be neglectful parents themselves, and are more prone to anxiety, depression, and moodiness later in life. Foetal methamphetamine exposure is also linked to negative outcomes in children such as cleft lip, cardiac defects, reduced head circumference, cerebral haemorrhage, and delayed or incomplete development of mental and intellectual abilities during childhood (NIC, 2016).

Smith and colleagues (2015) presented findings from the Infant Development, Environment, and Lifestyle (IDEAL) study which investigated the effect of prenatal methamphetamine exposure on maternal outcomes and child growth and development. The study assessed outcomes for children from birth to 7.5 years and included samples from both the United States and New Zealand. Authors compared outcomes for a group of mothers/children exposed to methamphetamine with outcomes for a group of mothers/children not exposed to it. Given that previous literature has shown that the prenatal exposure of children to other substances such as tobacco and alcohol is associated with negative outcomes (albeit not as severe as those of methamphetamine),²⁹ these variables were entered as covariates in the analyses. Findings showed that methamphetamine exposure was associated with poor suck in new-born babies, smaller head circumference and height at birth, increased physiological stress within the first five days of life, increased anxious/depression problems and emotional reactivity at ages three and five, increased attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms at age five, poorer executive functioning at ages five and a half and six and a half, among other negative outcomes. The authors discuss that although their analyses included exposure to alcohol and tobacco as covariates, more people in the group exposed to methamphetamine were also exposed to alcohol and tobacco than in the group not exposed to methamphetamine. Thus, negative outcomes observed for the

group exposed to methamphetamine might have been impacted also by exposure to alcohol and tobacco.

3.7.4 Impact on Health Care and Advice

A report by NDIB (2020a) describes that the number of patients who were hospitalised due to methamphetamine use increased from below 300 in 2015 to 837 in 2019. The sharpest increase in this trend happened from 2018 to 2019, when the number of hospitalisations climbed from around 500 to 837.³⁰ According to Emergency Department specialists, patients hospitalised due to methamphetamine are likely to be people who just started using the drug and do not represent the overall population using methamphetamine (NDIB, 2017c).

Anecdotal evidence from Auckland Hospital also describes increases both in the number of patients who reported using methamphetamine in the previous two years, and patients who inject methamphetamine (NDIB, 2017d). Patients who use methamphetamine do not necessarily attend emergency departments due to methamphetamine use, attending it more due to side effects of methamphetamine use (NDIB, 2017d). In this sense, it is difficult to estimate the real percentage of people who use methamphetamine and seek health care due to use.

The Australasian College for Emergency Medicine (2020) recently published a report with findings from their 2019 Snapshot Survey which estimates the percentage of alcohol and methamphetamine-related presentations to Emergency Departments in both Australia and New Zealand. The survey estimates these percentages by assessing the percentage of patients being attended, waiting to be attended or in observation and/or short stay units due to alcohol and methamphetamine-related harm in a given December weekend night. Methamphetamine-related harm includes injuries and medical, mental, and behavioural conditions resulting from use; intoxication; underlying use; and indirect harm associated with use.

Findings from the 2019 survey showed that 1.9% (8 patients) of the 422 patients attending Emergency Departments in New Zealand were being seen due to methamphetamine-related harm. This percentage had increased from 2018 when 0.7% (n = 3) of the patients were being seen due to harm connected to the drug. Based on findings, The Australasian College for Emergency Medicine (2020) discusses that Emergency Departments have to start implementing a model of care where mental health, emergency medicine, and alcohol and drug specialists work together, describing that patients seen due to methamphetamine-related harm require active care, greater resources, and longer Emergency Department stays. The organisation also discusses that the coding system currently used, and the frequency in which attendances related to alcohol and other drug use are correctly recorded have to be improved.

Data on a report by NDIB (2017c) also showed that the number of methamphetamine-related calls to the drug helpline

²⁷ New Zealand Police's Crime Harm Index differentiates types of crimes based on the harm they cause, not focusing on volume or frequency of crimes. It is calculated based on sentencing data from the Ministry of Justice.

²⁸ This comparison included only drug-related charges, not including other types of charges.

²⁹ Please see Sowell and colleagues (2010) and Aliyu and colleagues (2009) for additional information.

³⁰ Internal communication from the Ministry of Health (May 2021a) notes that this data is not collected reliably in the Health System and may be incomplete.

fluctuated in 2016 from 89 to 179 calls per month. The average number of calls per month related to methamphetamine use was 127. The number of methamphetamine-related calls in 2016 was just smaller than the number of alcohol-related calls. Methamphetamine-related calls accounted for about 19% of the calls per month. Likewise, methamphetamine-related calls in 2019 ranked only below calls for an unknown substance and alcohol-related calls (NDIB, 2020a).

3.8 Purchasing Methamphetamine

3.8.1 Face-to-Face Purchasing

The Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS) was a study conducted between 2006 and 2016 with people who frequently used drugs in the three main centres of New Zealand – Auckland, Wellington, and Christchurch (Wilkins, Prasad, Romeo & Rychert, 2017). Among the 310 participants, 133 frequently used methamphetamine in the 2016 wave of the study. Findings showed that 72% of the participants could purchase methamphetamine in one hour or less; and 54% of the participants had purchased methamphetamine from their houses, 35% had purchased at an agreed public location, and 23% had purchased in a public area such as a park in the previous six months. Anecdotal evidence also suggests that dealers use trap houses (i.e. places where illegal drugs are sold) to sell methamphetamine (Waitemata West Intelligence Team, n.d.).

Additionally, the IDMS study showed that 46% of the participants had bought methamphetamine from a friend in the previous six months, 44% from a drug dealer, 37% from a social acquaintance, 34% from a gang member or associate, and 13% from a partner or family member (Wilkins et al., 2017). Findings from the report suggested that consistently more people who used the drug had been purchasing methamphetamine from a gang member or associate across the years, increasing from 26% in 2009 to 34% in 2016 (Wilkins et al., 2017).

3.8.2 Online Purchasing

Given that 41.7 kilograms of methamphetamine were seized at the International Mail Service Centre (IMSC) in Auckland in 2016, it is also important to consider how methamphetamine is purchased online (NDIB, 2017e). According to the report by NDIB, when purchasing drugs online, the method of payment used varies depending on whether the drug is purchased in darknet or clearnet websites (e.g. Facebook). When using clearnet websites, personal credit cards will generally be used to pay for the drug. On a smaller scale, pre-loaded prezzy cards also will be used if the purchaser is more security conscious. When using darknet websites, purchasers will generally have the option of using bitcoin to pay for orders, as payments using this mode are more difficult for law enforcement agencies to track.

People who purchase drugs have been found to mostly use their own name and address to order drugs online. However, purchasers who want to protect their identities also order drugs to P.O. boxes, vacant properties, and neighbouring addresses. Those purchasing drugs online in New Zealand are more likely to be in their late teens or twenties. Additionally, students, tourists, and seasonal workers are more likely to import drugs via online platforms and distribute them within New Zealand (NDIB, 2017e). The appeal of earning large amounts of cash quickly by onselling these drugs is significant, particularly when in a low paying job, or living off student allowances. According to an internal communication with Williams (December 2020), online methods are also being used by organised crime groups and members of gangs to import methamphetamine into the country.

3.8.3 Non-Cash Deals

Wilkins and colleagues (2004) found by interviewing 62 arrestees from New Zealand that 45% of the arrestees had obtained an illicit drug in a non-cash deal in the previous 30 days. Of these, 43% had shared the drug with someone else, 31% had received it as a gift, 13% had used credit for personal use to obtain it, 12% had traded it for stolen property, and 10% had traded it for personal property.

A report from NDIB (2015a) also described a qualitative study which established the link between underage prostitution with methamphetamine use in New Zealand. In the study, Thorburn interviewed ten underage sex workers in Auckland (McAllen, June 2015). Findings suggested that a lot of the sex workers interviewed attended school from 12 to 15 years old during the day but were also working as sex workers and using methamphetamine at night. It might be the case that sex work was either funding methamphetamine use or being traded for methamphetamine.

3.8.4 Origin Preference

Anecdotal evidence suggests that some people who use methamphetamine may prefer to purchase methamphetamine manufactured in New Zealand than abroad. This might be due to the risk of Customs intercepting it, supply and timeliness matters, and inferior quality of methamphetamine acquired abroad (NDIB, 2018c).

3.9 Dealing and Manufacturing Methamphetamine

Findings from Bowman and colleagues (2019) also identified that 40 out of the 54 prisoners they interviewed had dealt methamphetamine. Motivations given by participants for dealing methamphetamine included covering the cost of their own use, ensuring they had methamphetamine available for their own use, making money (while methamphetamine use did not consume all their profit), and enjoying the 'lifestyle' connected to selling methamphetamine.

Prisoners who had dealt methamphetamine reported being invited to deal by gang members or starting to deal by themselves after seeking advice from mates or partners, or being asked if they dealt by acquaintances or friends (Bowman et al., 2019). Many of the dealers reported being members of a 'club' and acknowledged that all gangs in New Zealand were involved with importing, manufacturing, and trafficking the drug. A report from NDIB (2018c) suggested that members of multiple gangs have been increasingly participating in the domestic methamphetamine market. Some of the dealers also reported that selling methamphetamine was a natural transition from selling cannabis. Connected to this finding, Wilkins, Romeo, Rychert, Prasad, and Graydon-Guy (2018) have observed that methamphetamine is more likely to be perceived by people who use the drug as being available when they perceived cannabis as being less available. The same study also observed that methamphetamine is perceived to be more available in rural areas and towns in New Zealand than in cities. This finding might suggest that dealers are favouring dealing methamphetamine over cannabis, and that this change could be more readily observed in rural areas of New Zealand. The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists (2019) suggests that rural and indigenous communities are more vulnerable to the harm caused by methamphetamine. Anecdotal evidence also suggests that some cannabis cultivators are turning to methamphetamine production due to its demand and how much money can be made (NDIB, 2017b).

Seven of the 54 prisoners interviewed by Bowman and colleagues (2019) also reported manufacturing methamphetamine. These interviewees identified that the main motivation for manufacturing methamphetamine was making money, and most reported selling the methamphetamine manufactured to gangs. Likewise, a report from NDIB (2019a) has found addiction, coercion by organised crime groups, financial difficulties, and financial gain to be the main motivations for manufacturing methamphetamine. According to the report, manufacturers of methamphetamine in New Zealand are usually male Europeans aged between 31 and 55 years old who keep the same manufacturing behaviours and patterns until they are forced to change them. The second most likely group are male Māori within a similar age range. Intelligence suggests most people who manufacture methamphetamine use the drug themselves (NDIB, 2019a). Methamphetamine manufacturing has been acknowledged by manufacturers as stressful and as hard work (NDIB, 2019a).

Regarding negative effects on children, those residing in methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories are at increased risk of fires and explosions, poisoning, injury, accidental death, burns, hypodermic needles, razor blades, among others (NDIB, 2015b; NIC 2016). An intelligence report describes that an average of 30 children were found in these laboratories every year between 2013 and 2015 (NIC, 2016).

The violence associated with both dealing and manufacturing methamphetamine has also been acknowledged in several reports, studies, and books (McKetin et al., 2005; Shukla, 2016). NIC (2016) reports that interviews with offenders suggest threats, violence, and thefts are some of the repercussions of methamphetamine-related debt, in particular owing money to gangs. There are also reports that methamphetamine manufacturers have been traded or kidnapped and forced to manufacture methamphetamine (NIC, 2016); and that people who use the drug have been forced to sell it in order to pay for their debt (Williams, March 2019).

Methamphetamine has been described by manufacturers in the United States to also lead to irregular behaviour which was not present before using the drug for the first time (Shukla, 2016). Decisions are centred on having access to the drug and being under its influence. Recent news reports in New Zealand illustrate the irregular and violent behaviour connected to methamphetamine use (Biddle, 2020; Flemming, 2020; Wellington higher courts reporter, 2020).

3.10 Summary

This chapter focused on different topics related to the use of methamphetamine, from characteristics associated with the first use of the drug to the trajectory from using methamphetamine to dealing and manufacturing it. In this sense, the section approached a lot of different topics, all centred on the perception that people who use the drug have of the methamphetamine experience and market.

Overall, findings presented in this chapter showed that:

- Wastewater drug testing results can be used to estimate methamphetamine consumption in New Zealand. Considering the period prior to COVID-19 affecting New Zealand, the amount of methamphetamine consumed nationally per week fluctuated between 11.3 and 16.9 kilograms.³¹ This represents a stable average consumption of 14.1 kilograms (standard deviation = 1.5 kilograms). Since testing began, methamphetamine has been detected in wastewater for every community tested during every day of the week in New Zealand. About 50% (range 41.1%–57.2%) of methamphetamine consumed nationally between November 2018 and February 2020 was consumed in the Auckland region, however, use per capita in Bay of Plenty, Eastern, and Northland generally ranks higher than in the Auckland region;
- In 2020, wastewater mass loads³² were compared across 27 countries. Considering the seven days sampled during the collection week, New Zealand ranked high, only ranking lower than Australia, United States, and Czech Republic;
- Statistics for methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand vary depending on the study and method being used. Thus, it is important to consider multiple data sources when estimating methamphetamine use in New Zealand as all studies have limitations. The 2016 Drug Harm Index estimated that only 5.5% of those who use methamphetamine are dependent on it. Thus, it is likely most people using the drug, use it less than frequently. Continuous, reliable prevalence studies are required in the New Zealand context to improve our understanding of prevalence and dependence;
- Findings from the 2019/20 New Zealand Health Survey including a sample of the overall New Zealand population showed that Māori were only 1.18 times more likely to report having used amphetamine in the previous year than non-Māori; although the proportion of Māori offenders proceeded against in court for possession, use, and utensils for methamphetamine increased from 32% in 2010 to 45% in 2020, while the proportion of European offenders proceeded against in court for the same offences during the same period dropped from 57% to 45%. More research is needed in order to specify more accurately the harm caused by methamphetamine to those of different ethnicities in New Zealand;

- People who use methamphetamine in New Zealand have reported being first introduced to the drug by friends, acquaintances, family, and partners. People who use the drug have also reported first trying the drug for free when offered by dealers;
- People who use methamphetamine in New Zealand have reported that prior to using it they were unaware of its negative effects, or did not have specific knowledge about the drug;
- Awareness of negative health impacts, losing social connection with others, and financial instability have been identified by people who use methamphetamine as reasons for reducing use. Moreover, people who use the drug tend to seek help to decrease use when their partner or families leave, their children are removed from their care, they have legal, financial or health issues, the criminal lifestyle associated with methamphetamine use is causing them harm, and they 'hit rock bottom'. They also seek help when their desire for a 'normal' life and future is stronger than their addiction;
- Profile and life-trajectory studies conducted overseas have distinguished profiles based on frequency, length, and mode of use (i.e. people who inject versus people who smoke methamphetamine). The literature suggests that the frequency of use is likely to increase with prolonged methamphetamine use, but that there might still be different profiles of people who use the drug. Furthermore, mode of use might be an important feature when distinguishing different profiles;
- Profile and life-trajectory studies conducted in New Zealand are limited by either restricted sample sizes or focus on a specific sub-group of the population (e.g. prisoners);
- A New Zealand study with prisoners indicates the average age of first use of methamphetamine was 21.8 years, while the age of onset of methamphetamine dependence was 22.9 years. These findings suggest that methamphetamine use can escalate quite rapidly towards dependence;
- People who use methamphetamine are likely to use other drugs. The use of stimulants in conjunction with other substances is associated in the literature with serious health hazards such as overburdening of the cardiorespiratory system, higher risk of overdose, and higher chance of contracting blood borne diseases;
- Continued use of methamphetamine is extremely harmful to the individual; negative effects include disrupted sleep patterns, skin irritation, nausea, hallucinations, paranoia, methamphetamine-induced psychosis, methamphetamineinduced suicide attempts, short-term memory loss, irritability, aggression, organ damage, permanent psychological problems, weight loss, cardiovascular issues, dental issues, neurological complications, and lowered general immunity. Moreover, continued use of methamphetamine is also associated with difficulty in sustaining jobs, risky sexual

³¹ This finding is based on data recorded from November 2018 (when the wastewater drug testing programme was expanded to include results for 75% of the population living in New Zealand) to February 2020 (when the first COVID-19 case was detected in New Zealand).

³² Mass load refers to the normalised concentration of methamphetamine or metabolite in the wastewater by population.

behaviour, break-up of significant relationships, children being taken into others' care, neonatal and infant negative outcomes, 'feeling down' due to use, and involvement in crimes both under the influence of methamphetamine, or to sustain use. Chronic use has been associated with longterm health effects which may persist after use. The number of patients hospitalised due to methamphetamine use in New Zealand is increasing;

- Methamphetamine and amphetamine-type stimulants impact not only those who use them, but also the family, whānau, and community in which use takes place. Methamphetamine use has been shown to deeply impact children, harming them both physically and mentally. Foetal methamphetamine exposure has been linked to negative outcomes in children;
- The 2016 New Zealand Drug Harm Index estimated the total harm of the use of amphetamine-type stimulants in New Zealand, including both personal and community harm, to be \$347.8 million in 2014/2015. Each kilogram of amphetamine-type stimulants was equated to \$1.18 million of personal and community harm and \$56,000 of intervention costs;
- Motivations given by dealers for dealing methamphetamine in New Zealand were covering the cost of their own methamphetamine use, ensuring they had methamphetamine available for their own use, making money, and enjoying the 'lifestyle' connected to selling methamphetamine;
- Motivations given by manufacturers for manufacturing methamphetamine in New Zealand were making money, addiction, coercion by organised crime groups, financial difficulties, and financial gain;
- Members of gangs in New Zealand might have become increasingly involved in the methamphetamine market, with reports that methamphetamine trafficking is being prioritised over cannabis trafficking;
- An average of 30 children were found in methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories every year between 2013 and 2015. Children residing in these laboratories are at increased risk of fires and explosions, poisoning, injury, accidental death, burns, hypodermic needles, razor blades, among others; and
- The violence associated with both dealing and manufacturing methamphetamine has been acknowledged in several reports, studies, and books. An intelligence report highlights that threats, violence, and thefts are some of the repercussions of methamphetamine-related debt, in particular owing money to gangs, in New Zealand.

4. Association with Other Crimes and Incidents

Pirihimana

4. Association with Other Crimes and Incidents

This chapter describes findings from different studies, reviews of literature, and reports which assessed the association of methamphetamine use and methamphetamine-related charges with violent offending, family harm, acquisitive crime, involvement in road trauma, and money laundering.

Importantly, it has been acknowledged in the literature that many people who use methamphetamine also use other substances (Bowman et al., 2019; Farrell et al., 2019; Indig et al., 2017; NDIB, 2017d) and that dependence on other substances, such as alcohol, has been shown to have a causal link with property and violence offending (Boden, Fergusson, & Horwood, 2013). Thus, the association between methamphetamine use and offending described in this chapter may also be affected by use and dependence on other substances (Boden, et al., 2013).

4.1 Prevalence of Other Crimes and Incidents

According to NIC (2016), methamphetamine-related offences increased in New Zealand from 1,808 in 2011 to 2,473 in 2015.³³ Among these, an average of 74% of the offences each year involved incidents or offences without a methamphetamine charge. Furthermore, frontline officers perceived the use of methamphetamine as a driver of family harm. These findings suggest that methamphetamine is one of the drivers of other types of incidents and offences in New Zealand (NIC, 2016). Methamphetamine-related crimes (i.e. crimes fuelled by, or committed by an offender under the influence of methamphetamine) may be undercounted in police data due to methamphetamine use not being often recorded in police systems as an offence when associated with other types of incidents and offences (NIC, 2016).

Moreover, Williams (March 2019) acknowledges that drug-related offences are more likely to be discovered through police activity, rather than being reported to police by the public. In this sense, the frequency of methamphetamine-related charges likely does not accurately reflect the harmful impact of methamphetamine in the community. Williams (March 2019) also reports that the number of offenders proceeded against for methamphetamine offences remained stable from 2010 to 2013, increasing sharply from 2014 onwards in all the 12 Police Districts. Furthermore, the data showed that offenders who were proceeded against for methamphetamine-related possession, use, and utensil offences from 2010 to 2018 were also proceeded against for another 139,000 offences, including theft, burglary, other dishonesty offences, driving offences, possession of weapons, selling drugs, violence offences, breaching bail, failing to appear in Court, and breaches of supervision orders. Some of the offenders also had family violence, mental health, suicidal tendency, gang affiliation, and weapon warnings in Police systems.

Findings presented in two reports by the New Zealand Department of Corrections also suggest that methamphetamine use and dependence are associated with other types of crimes and incidents (Bowman et al., 2019; Indig et al., 2017). Williams (March 2019) notes that these associated charges better reflect the harm caused by methamphetamine in New Zealand communities as they are reported by community members, rather than as a result of police-initiated law enforcement activities.

Bowman and colleagues (2019) interviewed prisoners who had been identified as using methamphetamine and showed that 29 out of 54 prisoners (54%) were in prison due to nonmethamphetamine related lead offences. Of these, 13 (45%) had a violence charge as the lead offence, seven (24%) a burglary charge, three (10%) a dishonesty charge, two (7%) a sexual violence or a traffic charge, and one (3%) a weapons or other offence charge. Most prisoners, however, attributed their crime to methamphetamine use, disclosing that they either committed crime under the influence of methamphetamine, or to fund their use of the drug. Similarly, 6% of the 793 arrestees interviewed in the 2016 wave of the New Zealand Arrestee Drug Use Monitoring (NZ-ADUM) study reported they were using methamphetamine prior to being arrested (Wilkins, Prasad, Barnes, Parker & Asiasiga, 2017).

Indig and colleagues (2017) found when investigating drug dependence and mental health issues among 1,209 prisoners that 71% of the 127 prisoners who had a burglary charge as lead offence, and 54% of the 241 prisoners who had a violence charge as lead offence had used methamphetamine in the past year. Additionally, lifetime dependence on methamphetamine was more prevalent among prisoners who had been incarcerated earlier in life, had more custodial sentences, and had been in prison longer.

Considering just those who had been charged with methamphetamine manufacturing, NDIB (2019a) suggested that the top five offence types committed by offenders who have a methamphetamine manufacture-related charge are drug, traffic, theft, firearms, and breach of bail. Additionally, recidivism is acknowledged to be high among those who manufacture methamphetamine, at times even when they are still on bail (NDIB, 2015b).

³³ A targeted multi-agency Action Plan on Methamphetamine to disrupt supply chains, reduce demand, and mitigate the harms of the drug was in place in New Zealand between 2009 and 2018 (Devlin, 2019; Ministry of Justice, 2011). In this sense, part of the increase in charges associated with methamphetamine may be a result of a tougher stance on methamphetamine based on legislation.

Furthermore, a systematic review of literature investigating the association between prior methamphetamine use and health and criminal justice system outcomes after an index episode of criminal justice contact found that pre-methamphetamine use was associated with increased risk of recidivism and higher crime costs after the initial criminal justice system contact (Cumming et al., 2020).

Even considering all the evidence reported in this section, it is important to remember that at times low-level methamphetamine-related offences can be the most serious offences committed by offenders, not being associated with any other more serious charges. The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2019) reports that the frequency of low-level methamphetamine convictions in cases in which this was the lead offence increased steadily between 2014 and 2018 from just below 1,000 to 1,949, overtaking the number of low-level cannabis convictions in 2018 (n = 1,791). These low-level methamphetamine-related offences are associated with the illegal status of using methamphetamine, not being associated with any other crime.

4.2 Violent Offending

A report by NDIB (2015a) evaluated the association between methamphetamine and violent offending. The report included violent crimes and incidents related to offenders who received a methamphetamine charge between 2010 and 2015. According to the report, there were 9,910 offenders who had received methamphetamine charges from 2010 to 2015. Of these, 68% had been associated with family violence incidents, 37% had been victims of a violence offence, 13% had alerts for carrying or using a weapon, 11% had used a firearm against a police officer or assaulted law enforcement staff, and 6% had been offender, suspect, or victim of a sexual attack. Furthermore, 475 (5%) of the offenders committed a methamphetamine offence before committing a violence offence, and 304 (3%) of the offenders committed a violence offence in the same day they were charged with a methamphetamine offence. Thus, having a methamphetamine charge can be associated with both prior and subsequent violence offending. Additionally, methamphetamine offending can take place in the same day of violence offending. and those with methamphetamine charges can also be victims of violence themselves. According to the report, violent offending associated with methamphetamine can occur due to the influence of the drug, due to the need to fund use of the drug, and as part of the drug distribution system (e.g. debt collectors).

NIC (2016) have also reported increases in weapon and assaultrelated charges associated with methamphetamine-related charges. NIC (2016) reports that offences involving a weapon had increased from 241 in 2011 to 408 in 2015; and offences involving assault had increased from 66 in 2011 to 110 in 2015. The report also discussed that considering the month of August in both 2015 and 2016, the mention of methamphetamine in the summary of cases had increased from 35 to 65 times in weapon offences, 17 to 32 times in firearm offences, 33 to 43 times in assault offences, five to 15 times in assault/ restrict/ obstruct police offences, eight to 11 times in domestic violence offences, two to five times in sexual offences, and zero to two times in kidnapping offences.

Likewise, Foulds and colleagues (2020) found using data from the Christchurch Health and Development Study that a history of methamphetamine use was associated with increases in violence perpetration, intimate partner violence perpetration, and violence victimisation when compared to no history of methamphetamine use. The authors also found that using methamphetamine more frequently was associated with a higher likelihood of being involved in violence episodes. These findings are similar to findings from Australian longitudinal studies which have shown that both using methamphetamine (versus not using it) and higher doses of methamphetamine are associated with increases in violent offending (McKetin et al., 2014; McKetin et al., 2020).

Morrison, Bevan, & Meredith (2020) conducted a study in 2017 focusing on family violence perpetration. The study included interviews with 48 New Zealand prisoners [36 male (75%); 35 Māori (73%); average age of 35 years] who had a family violence offence as a lead offence.³⁴ The authors observed in their study that around half of the participants indicated that alcohol and other drugs (typically methamphetamine) played a key role in their most recent family violence offending, although just a few reported being under the influence of these during the offence. In this sense, the key role of alcohol and other drugs in the family violence offence was more related to their own use or partner's use enhancing conflict in the relationship by taking people away from partner and family responsibilities; heightened concerns about infidelity while socialising apart; isolating effects of methamphetamine on people who use it making it difficult for them to look for support in their relationships and other stresses as they happened; and friction when household resources were limited.

Many participants did not see a causal link between using alcohol and other drugs and family violence offending (as many had been using these substances for a long time before perpetrating family violence offences). Thus, many did not see stopping alcohol and other drug use as a way to reduce violence. According to case notes (when they were available), the use of alcohol and other drugs was also a key factor in family violence reoffending. The authors discuss that this link should be better explored as well as the most effective treatment pathways for family violence offenders who use alcohol and other drugs.

Bowman and colleagues (2019) observed similar findings in their qualitative study with 54 prisoners in New Zealand, finding that methamphetamine was perceived to affect their relationship with partners, making family violence common. A rapid evidence assessment of the existing literature about the association between methamphetamine use and domestic violence confirmed this finding, showing that, when compared to people who do not use it, people who use methamphetamine

³⁴ Morrison and colleagues (2020) discuss that the sample of participants included in their study is broadly comparable to other prison-based family violence offenders, although participants in their sample had often attended more treatment programmes than other prison-based family violence offenders. The authors also observe that the sample of participants included in their study is not representative of family violence perpetrators outside the prison context.

are more likely to perpetrate domestic violence (Dowling & Morgan, 2018). The authors discuss that this corresponds to a small number of all domestic violence offences, arguing that the use of methamphetamine generally happens among other risk factors, and that this use could exacerbate an already violent predisposition.

In another study evaluating the association between methamphetamine dependence and domestic violence among police detainees in Australia, findings showed that detainees who acknowledged themselves as dependent on methamphetamine were more likely to report violence against an intimate partner (61%) than detainees who used methamphetamine but did not acknowledge being dependent on it (37%) and those who did not use methamphetamine (32%) (Morgan & Gannoni, 2020).

4.3 Acquisitive Crimes

NIC (2016) reported that interviews with offenders suggest that offenders turn to burglary and other crimes to fund their methamphetamine use.

Wilkins & Sweetsur (2011) evaluated the association between spending on methamphetamine/ amphetamine and cannabis for personal use and earnings from acquisitive crime. The study included 2,125 police detainees interviewed as part of New Zealand's Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (NZ-ADAM) study between April 2005 and September 2007. Findings showed that as the total spending on drugs in the past 30 days increased, earnings from property crime and drug dealing also increased. Spending on methamphetamine/ amphetamine was a significant predictor of involvement in a property crime and drug dealing during the previous 30 days, with those spending on methamphetamine/amphetamine three times more likely to commit a property crime, and six times more likely to have been involved in drug dealing than those who did not spend on methamphetamine/amphetamine. Level of spending on methamphetamine/amphetamine was also a predictor of level of income from property crime and drug dealing during the previous 30 days, with those spending more on methamphetamine/ amphetamine reporting a higher income related to property crime and drug dealing than those who did not spend any money on methamphetamine/amphetamine.

Goldsmid & Willis (2016) conducted a similar study in Australia, finding that detainees who reported using methamphetamine in the last 30 days reported generating a significantly higher proportion of their income from crime than detainees who reported not using it. Those who used methamphetamine were also more likely to report obtaining income from family and friends, welfare, sex work, shoplifting, drug dealing and drugrelated crime, while those who did not use it were more likely to report working full-time. Detainees who used methamphetamine were about 4.5 times more likely to report income from acquisitive crime than those who did not use it. Those who reported using methamphetamine were also more likely to be linked to a drug or property crime lead offence than those who reported not using the drug.

4.4 Risk Factor in Road Trauma

Considering driving under the influence of methamphetamine, 48% of the 187 arrestees who drove and had used methamphetamine in the previous year reported driving at least sometimes under the influence of methamphetamine in the 2016 wave of the NZ-ADUM study (Wilkins et al., 2017).

Likewise, preliminary findings from an evidence review focusing on substance impaired driving described findings from two survey-based studies conducted in New Zealand and published in 2017 (van Lamoen, 2020). The first study was published by the New Zealand Transport Agency and showed that 28% of those who took drugs reported driving once a week or more in proximity of consuming amphetamines. The second study published by Malhotra, Starkey, and Charlton (2017) showed that 3% of the general population New Zealand drivers who answered the survey indicated that they had driven after consuming amphetamine or methamphetamine.³⁵

According to van Lamoen's (2020) evidence review, based on existing case-control and meta-analysis studies, drivers under the influence of amphetamine are at a high increased risk (five times or more) of being seriously injured or killed in a crash in comparison to drivers who have not consumed the substance. van Lamoen (2020) argues that existing evidence shows that driving under the influence of amphetamines equates to driving with a blood concentration between 0.8 grams and 1.2 grams of alcohol per 100ml of blood. The current threshold for criminally charging drivers in New Zealand is 0.8 grams of alcohol per 100ml of blood.

van Lamoen (January 2021) discusses that although the existing literature estimates crash risk for only the amphetamine class of drugs, clinical assessments suggest that methamphetamine is likely to be the riskiest and most intoxicating substance in the amphetamine and stimulant classes; the crash risk for someone who is driving under the influence of methamphetamine may therefore be more than five to 14 times the crash risk of a sober driver. This estimate translates to driving with a blood concentration exceeding 0.8 grams of alcohol per 100ml of blood.

Regarding detection in road policing activities, statistics from New Zealand Police show that 40% of the unsatisfactorily completed roadside Compulsory Impairment Tests (CITs)³⁶ in 2019 were connected to amphetamine use, which included mainly methamphetamine, but also some methylenedioxy (van Lamoen,

³⁵ This percentage is based on a survey focusing on the behaviour of driving within three hours of taking the drug (Malhotra et al., 2017). Thus, a larger percentage of drivers could have consumed amphetamine or methamphetamine and driven while they were under their influence (past the three hours threshold). Methamphetamine has an average half-life of 12 hours in the human body (i.e. 50% of the drug taken is removed from the human body within this timeframe; https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/methamphetamine/how-methamphetamine-different-other-stimulants-such-cocaine).

³⁶ The Compulsory Impairment Test (CIT) is the standardised field sobriety test used in New Zealand. An unsatisfactory CIT means that the driver was unable multiple times to perform the requirements of the test (van Lamoen, January 2021).

2019; van Lamoen, January 2021).³⁷ Also, methamphetamine was found in 13% of the blood samples of fatally injured drivers (when tested) between 2016 and 2018 (van Lamoen, 2019). This value represents a 160% increase when considering the average of 5% observed between 2013 and 2015 (van Lamoen, 2019). van Lamoen (January 2021) estimates that 40 to 45 road deaths per year are associated with the use of methamphetamine since 2016, $^{\scriptscriptstyle 38}$ arguing that this represents an estimated social cost of \$182-\$205 million per year (van Lamoen, May 2021; based on Ministry of Transport, 2020). In this sense, driving under the influence of the drug is a major road safety issue in New Zealand. van Lamoen's (2020) assessment found methamphetamine to likely be the second most harmful substance in the promotion of road trauma (after alcohol) given its level of increased risk of crash involvement and prevalence in severe crashes on New Zealand roads.

van Lamoen (January 2021) reports that the National Road Policing Centre has commenced a project with ESR to retest post-crash hospital blood samples with incomplete toxicology analysis (e.g. alcohol only) taken over October-December 2020 for all qualifying drugs. This analysis will provide the road safety sector with a complete and contemporary picture of the prevalence of impairing substances involved in casualty crashes in New Zealand.

According to van Lamoen (May 2021), the New Zealand Government is currently considering the introduction of legislation that would allow New Zealand Police to require random roadside oral fluid testing for the presence of drugs, including for amphetamines. van Lamoen (May 2021) discusses that the efficacy of roadside drug testing in reducing drug driving and associated traffic crash trauma is largely unknown in the literature, however a deterrent effect may be expected if evading detection is made substantially more difficult. Random breath testing (RBT) has already been shown in the literature to decrease alcohol-related traffic crash (ARTC). In a study in Australia, Ferris and colleagues (2013) found that for every 10% increase in the percentage of RBTs to licensed drivers, there was a 0.15 decrease in the rate of ARTCs per 100,000 licensed drivers.

van Lamoen (May 2021) discusses that the existing literature acknowledges that addiction treatment and rehabilitation programmes should be part of the sentencing and the relicensing process for drivers who are found to be impaired by alcohol or other drugs as these interventions prevent re-offending (please see Boets et al., 2008; Bukasa et al., 2008; and Bukasa et al., 2009 for more information on the DRUID research project). However, this systematic health-based approach for drug driving offenders is currently not in place in New Zealand, where the access to these interventions is often on a case-by-case basis or non-existent (van Lamoen, May 2021).

4.5 Money Laundering

According to the New Zealand Police Financial Intelligence Unit (2019), methamphetamine and other drugs generate significant illicit proceeds for domestic crime groups in New Zealand. The National Manager, Financial Crime Group discusses that this offending is driven by money, and money is the biggest vulnerability for these groups in terms of disruption and detection of offending by law enforcement agencies. In 2019, it was estimated that the biggest groups laundering money domestically were associated with drug offending (New Zealand Police Financial Unit, 2019). The Financial Intelligence Unit (2019) estimated that these groups laundered \$1.35 billion annually in the country.³⁹

An NDIB report from 2016 (NDIB, 2016b) described the profit made from methamphetamine importation, manufacture, and supply in New Zealand, and how this profit 'turned' into legal assets, was concealed, and left the country. According to the report, the profit generated illegally from methamphetamine sold in the New Zealand market was used to buy vehicles and properties, load 'travel' cards, among others. The profit could also be sent or transferred abroad, or concealed in trusts under the name of third parties (NDIB, 2016b). The National Organised Crime Group (NOCG; 2019) describes that drug importers are able to import drugs into New Zealand and move the profit from selling these drugs out of the country using money remittance services within days.

The Gang Intelligence Centre (GIC; 2019) describes that drug markets continue to be the primary source of income for New Zealand Adult Gangs, and they are using financial instruments and 'clean' businesses to launder the money from the drug market. Anecdotal evidence also suggests that businesspeople are investing money in the methamphetamine market, as it is such a lucrative business (Waitemata West Intelligence Team, n.d.).

The New Zealand Police Financial Intelligence Unit (2019) suggests that financial, legal, accounting, real estate, and retail or dealer services were the ones to offer more advantages to money launderers in 2019 in New Zealand. These services offered anonymity to offenders; were available to move large values and volumes of legitimate funds: were widely available internationally but had poor international controls; and were cash intensive so could be used to disguise drug proceeds. The same unit acknowledged that it was likely that professionals who provided these services were not aware of their role in laundering proceeds of illicit crime (The New Zealand Police Financial Unit, 2019). A recent court case illustrates, however, that although it is not common for professionals to be aware they are involved in money laundering, they are at risk of being enticed by organised crime groups to help laundering money from drug offending (Moger, February 2020).

The Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020) discuss that professional money launders (PML) can facilitate

³⁷ The crash statistic is based on blood sample tests requested by New Zealand Police and coronial blood samples tested by ESR matched to Crash Analysis System (CAS) records, not including records where a drug-positive driver killed a third-party driver.

³⁸ Including combinations between methamphetamine and other substances.

³⁹ This figure does not include transnational laundering of overseas proceeds and laundering the proceeds of domestic tax offending.

trade-based money laundering, and it is realistically possible that these organisations are responsible for arranging funds to pay for large drug shipments and for transferring illicit earnings out of New Zealand. Trade-based money laundering is not known to routinely occur in New Zealand (Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence, 2020).

Taken together, intelligence reports suggest that money laundering is an integral part of Organised Crime and this is true also for criminal business entities and syndicates involved in the methamphetamine market in New Zealand. From 2017 to January 2021, \$458 million were restrained by New Zealand Police (Financial Crime Group, January 2021a). Of these, \$245.25 million were related to money laundering and \$81.25 million specifically to methamphetamine. Between the 2009-10 and the 2019-20 financial years, the value of assets restrained per year where methamphetamine is linked as the main offence fluctuated between \$6.84 million (2010-11) and \$39.44 million (2016-17; Financial Crime Group, January 2021b).

Further anti-money laundering and crime proceeds recovery measures were announced by the New Zealand government in 2011 as part of a plan to strengthen New Zealand's resistance to organised crime. These included monitoring international transfers and high value domestic transfers, increasing information sharing of financial intelligence with relevant organisations, and extending anti-money laundering measures to non-financial industry sectors (Ministry of Justice, 2011).

In 2013, more robust anti-money laundering measures were also applied to financial institutions and casinos, increasing the capability of financial institutions to detect money laundering financing (New Zealand Police Financial Intelligence Unit, 2019). This change in measures was associated with an increase in the frequency of transactions reported to the Financial Intelligence Unit. This change, along with the Organised Crime and Anti-Corruption Legislation Bill in 2015 and the establishment of dedicated Money Laundering Investigation Teams in 2017, led to a significant increase in money laundering charges from 2014 to 2017 (New Zealand Police Financial Intelligence Unit, 2019).

In 2009, a targeted multi-agency Action Plan on Methamphetamine was also put in place to disrupt supply chains, reduce demand, and mitigate the harms of the drug (Ministry of Justice, 2011). This plan was substituted by the New Zealand government for a broader alcohol and other drug approach in 2018 (Devlin, 2019). Currently, the Methamphetamine Manufacture Disruption Plan 2019-2022 is in place. This plan was designed by multiple New Zealand agencies and focuses on four key areas – collaboration between agencies, prevention and disruption, investigation and prosecution, and resources and strategy (NOCG, 2020c). This plan targets especially methamphetamine manufacturing in New Zealand.

Greg Williams, Director of the National Organised Crime Group, observes that during the past three years, the public sector has focused on better understanding how illicit commodities are trafficked and traded, how illicit proceeds from this trade enter the financial sector, and how communities are affected by organised crime so targeted interventions can be designed to make New Zealand resilient to it (NOCG, 2020c). Two significant multi-agency pieces of work have been developed in 2019 as a result of this focus.

The first – Resilience to Organised Crime in Communities (ROCC) work programme – focuses on strengthening communities, making them resilient to organised crime, and reducing the harm caused to them by organised crime (NOCG, 2020c). This work stream includes strong engagement with community and Iwi.

The second – the Transnational Organised Crime Strategy – is an all-of-government strategy created to guide the pursuit of a more strategic, coordinated, prevention-focused, and prioritised response to transnational organised crime in New Zealand (NOCG, 2020b). Williams highlights that the cross-agency response to transnational organised crime and the relationship with private sector and international agencies has been enhanced in recent years (New Zealand Police, December 2020b).

Finally, New Zealand Police are also renewing their Organised Crime Strategy and related control strategy to strengthen responses in order to prevent harm, promote enforcement, and build resilient communities (NOCG, 2020b).

4.6 Summary

This chapter described reports, articles and reviews of literature investigating the association between methamphetamine and other crimes and incidents.

Overall, findings presented in this chapter showed that:

- Data from New Zealand Police, and research conducted by the Department of Corrections, highlight the association of methamphetamine use in prisoners and methamphetaminerelated criminal charges with violent offending, family harm, acquisitive crimes, and involvement in road trauma. Although, at times, low-level methamphetamine-related offences can be the most serious offences committed by offenders;
- According to an intelligence report from 2016, there were 9,910 offenders in New Zealand who received methamphetamine charges from 2010 to 2015. Of these, 68% had been associated with family violence incidents, 37% had been victims of a violence offence, 13% had alerts for carrying or using a weapon, 11% had used a firearm against a police officer or assaulted law enforcement staff, and 6% had been offender, suspect, or victim of a sexual attack;
- Analyses including longitudinal data from the Christchurch Health and Development Study showed that a history of methamphetamine use was associated with increases in violence perpetration, intimate partner violence perpetration, and violence victimisation when compared to no history of methamphetamine use. Findings also showed that using methamphetamine more frequently was associated with a higher likelihood of being involved in violence episodes;
- Level of spending on methamphetamine/amphetamine has been associated with level of income from property crime and drug dealing, with those spending more on methamphetamine/ amphetamine reporting a higher income related to property crime and drug dealing than those who did not spend any money on methamphetamine/ amphetamine;
- Statistics from New Zealand Police showed that 40% of the unsatisfactorily completed roadside Compulsory Impairment Tests⁴⁰ in 2019 were connected to amphetamine use, which included mainly methamphetamine. Also, methamphetamine was found in 13% of the blood samples of fatally injured drivers (when tested) between 2016 and 2018. This value represents a 160% increase when considering the average of 5% observed between 2013 and 2015. It is estimated that 40 to 45 road deaths per year are associated with the use of methamphetamine since 2016, which represents a social cost of \$182-\$205 million per year. In this sense, methamphetamine is the second most harmful substance in the promotion of road trauma (after alcohol) given its level of increased risk of crash involvement and prevalence in severe crashes on New Zealand roads; and

 In 2019, it was estimated that the biggest groups laundering money domestically were associated with drug offending. The Financial Intelligence Unit estimated that these groups laundered \$1.35 billion annually in the country.

It is important to remember that we discuss in this chapter the association between methamphetamine use and methamphetamine-related charges and other crimes and incidents, not framing methamphetamine use as the cause of other crimes and incidents. This is because the behaviours of using a drug and committing a crime are impacted by multiple social, environmental, contextual, cultural, and economical factors. It could be that multiple common determinants are impacting both the likelihood of using the drug and committing a crime (Spooner & Hetherington, 2004).

It is also important to reiterate that it has been acknowledged in the literature that many people who use methamphetamine also use other substances (Bowman et al., 2019; Farrell et al., 2019; Indig et al., 2017; NDIB, 2017d) and that dependence on other substances, such as alcohol, has been shown to have a causal link with property and violence offending (Boden et al., 2013). Thus, the association between methamphetamine use and offending described in this chapter may also be affected by use and dependence on other substances (Boden et al., 2013).

Finally, it is important to acknowledge that the association between methamphetamine use and other crimes is likely to affect police operations, although the extent of the impact of methamphetamine-related crimes on police demand and how police works in New Zealand is not entirely known.

⁴⁰ The Compulsory Impairment Test (CIT) is the standardised field sobriety test used in New Zealand. An unsatisfactory CIT means that the driver was unable multiple times to perform the requirements of the test (van Lamoen, January 2021).

5. Production, Importation, and Distribution

5 Production, Importation, and Distribution

This chapter presents findings from reports produced mainly by the Gang Intelligence Centre (GIC), the National Drug Intelligence Bureau (NDIB), the National Intelligence Centre (NIC), the National Organised Crime Group (NOCG), the New Zealand Customs Service (NZCS), and the Regional Intelligence Liaison Office for Asia and the Pacific (RILO AP) focusing on how methamphetamine is being produced, imported, and distributed in New Zealand. Findings presented in this chapter also discuss the purchasing of drugs online, criminal business entities connected to the methamphetamine market, availability and purity of methamphetamine in New Zealand, differences across Police Districts regarding the methamphetamine market, and the impact of COVID-19 on the New Zealand methamphetamine market.

The language used in this report, and especially in this chapter, mimics the language used in the source material. In this sense, words such as 'likely' may have different meanings depending on whether the reference cited is research or intelligence based.⁴¹

5.1 Domestic Production

Methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories are experiencing a resurgence in New Zealand⁴² and more methamphetamine⁴³ is being imported and seized at the border. All laboratories being detected in New Zealand are now commercial, and able to produce larger quantities of methamphetamine than methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories previously detected in the country (Brunton, March 2019).

5.1.1 Methamphetamine Manufacturing Laboratories

Methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories or 'clan labs' have been known by law enforcement agencies to exist in New Zealand since 1996 (NDIB, 2018c). A report from NDIB suggests that there may be approximately 300 methamphetamine manufacturers in the country, which reenforces data from the Department of Corrections (NDIB, 2019a).

Methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories continue to impact New Zealand society negatively with more than 2,000 laboratories being dismantled in New Zealand from 1996 to June 2018. NDIB (2018c) reports that the number of laboratories dismantled had trended downwards slightly between 2013 and 2018. This downward trend was confirmed by more recent findings presented in another NDIB (2020a) report, which depicted that in 2017 there were 79 methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories dismantled, in 2018 there were 71, and in 2019 there were 53. NOCG (2020b; 2021c) observes, however, that **methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories** are experiencing a resurgence in New Zealand, with the number of **laboratories** dismantled in 2020 being higher than in previous recent years (n = 87). According to NOCG (2021a), while 402 kilograms of ephedrine were seized by New Zealand Police and New Zealand Customs in 2019, 154 kilograms were seized in 2020. The group highlights that as more ephedrine is seized, less **laboratories** seem to be detected, what suggests that disrupting precursors is a key strategy in decreasing the number of **methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories** in New Zealand.

Two NDIB (2018c; 2020a) reports discuss that competing priorities, namely the decrease in methamphetamine precursor availability, changes in operational focus, resourcing, and offenders' increasing ability to adapt to law enforcement intervention might have impacted the decrease in methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories detection from 2013 to 2019. In consonance with this remark, a Border Five – Analysis Working Group (2019) report observed that purchasing methamphetamine from abroad is significantly cheaper than manufacturing it in New Zealand, but there is still a significant demand for methamphetamine manufactured in New Zealand due to it being considered purer, which allows it to be sold at a higher price. Thus, it might be the case that methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories continue to consistently operate in New Zealand due to market demand.

Regarding geographical location, laboratories are disproportionately located in the Auckland region, which accounted for 43% of the laboratories detected in 2020 (NOCG, 2021c). Additionally, a NDIB (2019a) report on the New Zealand methamphetamine manufacture scene discussed that manufacturers were moving away from the usual smaller, more disorganised laboratories located in domestic 'dwellings' to larger, more commercial operations which produce larger quantities of methamphetamine in 2019. Thus, laboratories detected currently are organised and have larger capacity than many of the older methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories previously detected (Brunton, March 2019). Many laboratories are also designed to be mobile and can be packed using a couple of chilly bins or bags (Brunton, March 2019).

⁴¹ Words used to estimate probability in intelligence reports produced by the National Drug Intelligence Bureau (NDIB) are: ALMOST CERTAIN = The event will occur in most circumstances (>95%); LIKELY = The event will probably occur in most circumstances (>65%); POSSIBLE = The event might occur at some time (>35%); UNLIKELY = The event could occur in some circumstances (<35%); and RARE = The event may occur in some exceptional circumstances (<5%; New Zealand Police Risk, Assurance and Governance Group, 2014).

⁴² The reports used to retrieve this information considered the period between 2013 and 2020.

⁴³ The reports used to retrieve this information considered the period between 2012 and 2019.

5.1.2 Precursors

5.1.2.1 Seizures

Ephedrine and pseudoephedrine, key precursors used to manufacture methamphetamine, are predominantly seized at the border by the New Zealand Customs Service (NDIB, 2018c). The rescheduling of pseudoephedrine to a Class B drug in 2011 in New Zealand led to medications which included the drug to require medical prescription. This change meant that it was more difficult for criminal business entities to source it domestically to manufacture methamphetamine (Brunton, March 2019). This law change led to criminal business entities importing medication with pseudoephedrine from China.

However, a law change in 2015 in China restricted the sales of these products, which led to another change in the New Zealand precursor market – ephedrine and pseudoephedrine started to be imported in raw form (Brunton, March 2019). Not having to extract pseudoephedrine from medications meant that fewer chemical reactions were needed to manufacture methamphetamine, which reduced the solvent and chemical smell connected to methamphetamine manufacturing, and detection of the process by neighbours and landlords (Brunton, March 2019).

A report by NDIB (2018c) examining methamphetamine and methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories in New Zealand notes that the New Zealand Customs Service and the New Zealand Police registered increasing seizure volumes of methamphetamine precursor until 2017. Since then there has been a consistent decrease in ephedrine intercepts with New Zealand Customs Service reporting that the total intercepts for 2019 was only 23% of the total intercepted in 2016 (NZCS, 2020a). Correspondingly, methamphetamine seized at the border has significantly increased over the period 2016-2019 (NZCS, 2020a). Likewise, NDIB (2020a) reported in their annual illicit drug assessment a 53% decrease in the amount of ephedrine and pseudoephedrine seized by both the New Zealand Customs Service and New Zealand Police in 2019, when compared to the average from 2016 to 2018. According to the group, this was the third consecutive annual decrease since 2016.

Between 2015 and 2017, 99% of the ephedrine seized was destined for Auckland addresses, with over 182 intercepts. Christchurch was second with 11 intercepts and Hamilton third with four intercepts (NDIB, 2018c). A report on ephedrine importation by New Zealand Customs Service notes that the most common destination suburb in Auckland for intercepts is Auckland Central, closely followed by Flat Bush and Henderson (NZCS, 2020a). This finding supports intelligence gathering which suggests that Auckland is the hub for precursor importation and domestic manufacturing, distributing methamphetamine to the rest of the country (NDIB, 2018c).

5.1.2.2 Source Countries

A submission in support of the Border Five Analyst Working Group's Joint Intelligence Assessment (2019) described that powdered ephedrine was the most common methamphetamine precursor being detected in New Zealand. In 2019, the primary countries of concern for trafficking methamphetamine precursors to New Zealand were China, Hong Kong, and Germany (NZCS, 2020a).

Among these countries, the primary country of export for ephedrine was China, accounting for 52% of intercepts (NZCS, 2020a). The secondary country of export was Hong Kong, which accounted for approximately a quarter of all intercepts.

China remains a risk source nation due to being a key pharmaceutical manufacturer (NDIB, 2018c). While Customs did not seize any methamphetamine from China in 2018, the agency continued to seize precursors for methamphetamine (NZCS, 2019b). Based on consignor details, precursors from China came from Guangdong and Zhejiang provinces in 2017. Most precursors seized ex China, Hong Kong and Taiwan have come from China since 2018 (NZCS, 2019b).

Methamphetamine precursors might also be entering New Zealand via Western European countries, although it is unknown where these precursors are sourced from. For example, the United Kingdom and Ireland featured strongly in 2018 in seizure figures, but have not been commonly associated with precursor or methamphetamine manufacture (NDIB, 2018c). It is assumed that ephedrine arriving in New Zealand from the United Kingdom and Ireland is sourced from China or Southeast Asia (NZCS, 2018).

According to the Border Five – Analysis Working Group (2019), most of the precursor seizures from South Korea, South Africa, United States, and India are most likely to be of personal medication as they constitute a very small volume of the imports. However, increased seizures over 2017-2019 have identified India as an emerging source country of methamphetamine and its precursors. Although it is yet to feature strongly in seizure statistics, India is emerging as a risk source nation of methamphetamine precursor due to its strong pharmaceutical industry (NDIB, 2018c).

5.1.3 Pre-Precursors

There are several non-controlled methamphetamine precursor chemicals which can be used in the manufacturing process (NDIB, 2018b). New trends observed in China include an increase in designer precursors made to order such as 2-bromopropiophenone, a chemical not under international control but which can be used for the manufacture of ephedrine. These are made to circumvent legislation and often have no legitimate use (NZCS, 2019b). This highlights the difficulties in regulating the chemical and pharmaceutical industry's production of non-scheduled chemicals for methamphetamine precursor manufacture (NZCS, 2019b). Intelligence feedback to this report describes the importation of pre-precursors to New Zealand as an emerging trend; however it is too early to confidently say how extensive this trend is (NDIB, October 2020).

Pre-precursors are also being manufactured in Myanmar and trafficked through Southeast Asia to international markets in order to circumvent the prohibited goods and regulated medicines legislation of some countries (NZCS, 2019b).

As the use of pre-precursor chemicals becomes more common and widespread in overseas methamphetamine manufacturing processes, it is also possible that criminal business entities manufacturing methamphetamine in New Zealand will import and use pre-precursor chemicals alongside, or instead of, traditional precursors (i.e. pseudoephedrine, ephedrine) (NZCS, 2019b).

5.2 Production Abroad

5.2.1 Seizures

The volume of methamphetamine being imported into New Zealand has generally increased since 2012. The Border Five – Analysis Working Group (2019) observes that the weight of methamphetamine seized in New Zealand significantly increased from 212.5 kilograms in 2018 to 1,183.1 kilograms in 2019. The group discusses that this might be a result of both increases in methamphetamine from Myanmar and Mexico arriving in New Zealand.

Likewise, NDIB (2020a) reported in their annual illicit drug assessment a 222% increase in the amount of methamphetamine seized by both the New Zealand Customs Service and New Zealand Police in 2019, when compared to the three-year average from 2016 to 2018. NDIB (2020a) also reported that the amount of methamphetamine seized in 2019 was four times the amount seized in 2018. A recent brief from NDIB (April 2021a) also showed that while 77.6 kilograms of powdered methamphetamine were seized in New Zealand between January and April 2020, 212.6 kilograms were sized in the same period in 2021. This represents almost a 300% increase in the amount of methamphetamine seized.⁴⁴

5.2.2 Source and Transhipment Countries

Two large methamphetamine manufacturing regions, Mexico and the Golden Triangle (i.e. Myanmar Shan State, western Laos, and northern Thailand), supply methamphetamine to the New Zealand market. Southeast Asia along with South America have been classified in the Joint Strategic Threat Assessment produced by the Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020) as high threat regions for large-volume trafficking of methamphetamine. Seizures of methamphetamine from both North America and Southeast Asia have been increasing since 2017 (NZCS, 2019b).

In 2019, according to the Border Five – Analysis Working Group, the primary countries of concern for trafficking methamphetamine to New Zealand were (by quantity seized) Thailand (493.8 kg), United States (191.8 kg), Mexico (158.5 kg), India (17.6 kg), and the United Kingdom (14.3 kg).

One other country of concern for New Zealand was Malaysia. There is evidence that methamphetamine in Malaysia is both produced locally and imported from the Golden Triangle. At this stage, it is unclear where the methamphetamine imported from India and the UK is produced, although increasing seizures suggest that India is emerging as a source country (Border Five – Analysis Working Group, 2019). The greatest volume of methamphetamine imported into New Zealand in 2019 came from Southeast Asia (Border Five – Analysis Working Group, 2019). This most likely originates from Myanmar (particularly the Shan State) which is one of the leading global producers of methamphetamine after a major shift in production from China in recent years (NZCS, 2019b). According to the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2019), the consumer cost competitiveness of methamphetamine manufactured in the Golden Triangle might be an attraction to transnational syndicates to base themselves in Myanmar.

The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2019) also discusses that the lack of a regional control strategy, weak enforcement of existing laws, and the increasing demand for methamphetamine worldwide has enabled transnational syndicates to establish themselves in East and Southeast Asia. This has led to steady increases in the production of methamphetamine, with seizures of methamphetamine in East and Southeast Asia increasing from just under 40 tons of kilograms in 2013 to 120 tons of kilograms in 2018. Some of the methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories discovered in the region adjacent to the Golden Triangle suggest syndicates can produce large quantities of the drug at any given time (RILO AP & Korea Customs Service, n.d.). The surge in crystal methamphetamine production in this region has been linked to the relative stability the region reached after ceasefire agreements were signed between government and armed groups in the 2010's and to improvements in the roading infrastructure which enabled precursors and the drug produced to be moved more easily in the region.

The increased availability of the drug, the reduced wholesale price of the drug due to increased availability, and the profitability of the New Zealand market put New Zealand at increased risk of being a target for transnational syndicates based in the Golden Triangle (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 2019). According to RILO AP and the Korea Customs Service (n.d.), the oversupply of methamphetamine in the region is likely to lead to further expansions of the methamphetamine market, attracting more people to use the drug due to its cheaper price and higher availability. Likewise, Williams (March 2019) observes a similar risk to New Zealand from syndicates based in Mexico. Furthermore, according to him, the competition between suppliers is bringing the wholesale price of the drug down and this can lower the price at retail point, expanding markets in New Zealand to include lower socio-economic communities. The typical price of one kilogram of methamphetamine in New Zealand dropped from between \$230,000 and \$250,000 in 2016 to \$140,000 in 2019 (NDIB, 2016c; NDIB, 2020a). Still, the New Zealand market is acknowledged as highly profitable.

Other Southeast Asian countries have been used as transhipment points to New Zealand instead of importing the drug directly from Myanmar. Thailand is one country in the region that is used as a methamphetamine export country. Laos, Vietnam, and Malaysia are other major transit countries (Border

⁴⁴ It is important to remember that the impact of COVID-19 on transportation and shipment of products might have more harshly affected the drug trade in 2020 than in 2021. Thus, part of the difference in the amount of drug seized might be related to this.

and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence, 2020; NZCS, 2018; NZCS, 2019a).

Methamphetamine imported from the United States, along with methamphetamine imported from Canada, is likely to have originated in Mexico, representing a deliberate attempt from organised crime groups to distance imports from their Mexican origin.⁴⁵ Still, a large proportion of methamphetamine is directly imported from Mexico to New Zealand (Border Five – Analysis Working Group, 2019). NOCG (2019) describes that available intelligence information suggests that substance seizure and the apprehension of drug couriers and transporters have had a negligible impact on Mexican cartel business given the large scale and compartmentalisation of cartel operations.

NOCG (2019) highlighted that Mexico has increasingly been acknowledged as a source country for the methamphetamine imported to New Zealand and this trend is almost certain to continue. Williams (March 2019) reported that in an investigation⁴⁶ conducted in 2019 the price of a kilogram of methamphetamine in Mexico was \$5,000, while the profit made from it in the New Zealand Market was \$115,000 per kilogram. This profit margin explains why New Zealand is such an attractive market to both groups based in Myanmar and Mexico.

In addition, it is possible to generate profit from trafficking methamphetamine throughout the trafficking chain (e.g. cartel, catcher, street level dealer; Williams, March 2019). This profit explains why members of criminal business entities based in New Zealand are willing to work with members of transnational syndicates based elsewhere to distribute methamphetamine in the country.

There is also growing concern about the role of the Pacific Islands in the international trade of illicit drugs. Of particular concern is their use as a transit point for drug coming from the Americas and Southeast Asia (NDIB, 2016a). Additionally, organised crime groups with Tongan and Fijian heritages have been linked to transnational syndicates based in Mexico (NOCG, 2019). According to NOCG (2020b), organised crime groups based in Fiji and Tonga have been operational for decades. Intelligence reports that large scale drug imports have been detected to be transported via the Pacific region mainly to Australia, although in some instances drugs directed to New Zealand have also been detected (NDIB, 2016a; NOCG, 2020b). There is a risk that more methamphetamine connected to Mexican and South American organised crime groups will start to come to New Zealand via the Pacific region, using routes previously used for cocaine trafficking (NDIB, 2016a).

Another recently established source country of methamphetamine is Afghanistan. An intelligence report from the New Zealand Customs Service (2020b) notes that the Oman Plant is now being used in Afghanistan to produce ephedrine. The production of ephedrine using a plant removes the need to acquire syrups and tablets in order to extract ephedrine to manufacture methamphetamine. This new method of ephedrine extraction has coincided with increases in methamphetamine seizures both in Afghanistan and Iran. In Afghanistan, 650 kg of methamphetamine were seized in the first half of 2019 compared to 180kg in 2018. Likewise, four tonnes of methamphetamine were seized between March and September 2019 in Iran.

The New Zealand Customs Service (2020b) discusses that recent increases in methamphetamine seizures in New Zealand coming from South Africa, Kenya, and Zimbabwe may reflect methamphetamine produced in Afghanistan reaching New Zealand via the Southern route (via Pakistan or Iran to India and to Africa), a route historically used to traffic heroin. The New Zealand Customs Service (2020b) adds that it was informed in October 2020 that 9.91 kg of methamphetamine produced in Afghanistan and destined for the New Zealand market was seized in Germany. Thus, it might become more common to detect methamphetamine produced in Afghanistan in New Zealand.

A recent brief from NDIB (April 2021b) has also discussed that Nigeria, among other African countries, has emerged as a significant producer of methamphetamine in the past decade. More methamphetamine shipped from Africa (both produced there and transhipped from the Middle East) has been seized in New Zealand in the past few years, and this is noted as an increasing trend in 2021.

5.3 Criminal Business Entities Engaged in the Market

Members of different criminal business entities are associated in different ways with the methamphetamine market in New Zealand. We present below how the association between these entities has been depicted in documents provided by the Gang Intelligence Centre (GIC), the National Drug Intelligence Bureau (NDIB), the National Organised Crime Group (NOCG), the New Zealand Customs Service (NZCS), and the Regional Intelligence Liaison Office for Asia and the Pacific (RILO AP) so readers can have a clearer understanding about how these groups are generally associated in the New Zealand context. It is important to mention, however, that the association between members of transnational syndicates, international criminal business entities, and domestic criminal business entities is neither linear nor fixed in New Zealand, varying across different groups and periods of time.

5.3.1 Domestic Production

According to an NDIB report (2018c), methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories are now almost exclusively commercial operations run by organised crime groups due to the prohibitive cost of purchasing kilogram lots of ephedrine. Domestic organised crime groups maintain dominance over both the production and distribution of methamphetamine in New Zealand (NDIB, 2019a). These groups are attracted to the New Zealand market due to the lucrative nature of the business,

⁴⁵ Although Williams (December 2020) states in an internal communication that part of the methamphetamine arriving in New Zealand is being produced in Canada. 46 Further information about this investigation is available in the affidavit provided by Greg Williams to Court as an expert, but is not cited in this report as it is sensitive (Williams, March 2019).

providing incentive to coerce people into manufacturing the drug, and receiving more significant profits (NDIB, 2019a).

NDIB (2018c) discusses that the network involved in methamphetamine manufacturing is tightknit, with cooks knowing the people who use and purchase methamphetamine and vice versa, and gang members controlling the market by supplying the finished product. Historically, members of one New Zealand Adult Gang have been identified to control the domestic methamphetamine market, but this is rapidly changing to include members of multiple New Zealand Adult Gangs. A substantial growth in New Zealand Adult Gang activity has been detected by the Gang Intelligence Centre. Likewise, the centre has detected the continuing use of the drug market by members of these groups as the primary means to generate income (NDIB, 2018c).

Anecdotal reporting indicates that some cannabis houses are now turning into methamphetamine houses, and some cannabis cultivators have reported that they too are turning to methamphetamine manufacture because of the demand and lucrative gains it brings (NDIB, 2019a). This reporting suggests that part of the cannabis market might be in the process of being absorbed by the methamphetamine market.

5.3.2 Importation and Distribution

5.3.2.1 Transnational Syndicates

This type of criminal business entity undertakes crime coordinated across national borders, involving groups or markets of individuals working in more than one country to plan and execute illegal business ventures. Traditionally, the transnational syndicates of greatest risk to New Zealand have been based in the People's Republic of China, although currently these syndicates can be based in a number of other countries (NDIB, 2017f; NOCG, 2018). The 2017/18 National Organised Crime Group annual report (2018) described that in 2018 members of transnational syndicates already belonged to countries such as Ecuador, Poland, Croatia, Serbia, United States, Vietnam, Hong Kong, Korea, Australia, and Malaysia.

NDIB (2017f) described in 2017 that South American syndicates represented an emerging risk to New Zealand. Two Mexican cartels have been linked to methamphetamine imported to New Zealand (NOCG, 2019). These syndicates are not necessarily associated with gang members but do require criminal connections to sell their product within New Zealand. NOCG (2019) discusses that the connection between domestic organised crime members and Mexican cartels is largely based on social and/or familial ties rather than on gang affiliation.

NOCG (2019) describes that methodologies used by Mexican cartels are sophisticated and diverse, and that these cartels have been acknowledged to successfully engage with domestic distribution networks and money laundering infrastructure in New Zealand. According to the same report, this trend is likely to continue to develop and to be linked to further offending, although it is unlikely that Mexican cartels will seek to establish a physical presence in New Zealand, leading to the level of corruption and violence observed in Mexico. RILO AP and the Korea Customs Service (n.d.) mention that syndicates based in the areas adjacent to the Golden Triangle are known to have traditionally controlled the drug trade in there, having close relationships with local armed groups, and profiting from the supply of precursors to manufacture drugs and even from contracting chemists from abroad.

According to intelligence, transnational syndicates are using 'super-facilitators' to foster a successful methamphetamine supply chain (NDIB, 2017f). A super-facilitator has links to a global network of manufacturers and supply and distribution chains to successfully import methamphetamine to New Zealand. The super-facilitator is usually based offshore and is never in direct contact with the shipment. NOCG (2020b) highlights that both Europe and parts of the Middle East are being used by transnational syndicates as a base for organised criminal brokers coordinating illicit trafficking of goods to New Zealand (NOCG, 2020b). More intelligence is needed regarding how superfacilitators work (NDIB, 2017f).

NOCG (2019) describes differential ways in which Mexican cartels smuggle illicit substances to New Zealand. In imports organised for specific customers, it is likely that the trade is made directly via an existing relationship with a member of the cartel or a broker tied to the cartel. In imports without a specified customer, it is likely that the trade happens via a non-cartel-member outsourced role, such as a controller sent to New Zealand to oversee couriers or catchers. Individuals connected to these cartels may be sent to New Zealand some time in advance of the drug operation in order to allow time for them to embed in the country, avoiding suspicion. These outsourced roles are usually responsible for facilitating supply to distribution networks and carrying out money laundering of proceeds from crime (NOCG, 2019; NOCG, 2020b). Other people connected to the drug operation may also reside in the country, providing business cover for imports (NOCG, 2020b).

Additionally, the Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020) describe that the inclusion of well-positioned insiders, such as port workers and airport baggage handlers, in trafficking networks by criminal business entities is an emerging threat in New Zealand. In 2011, the threat of corruption and bribery of public and private sector insiders had already been described as an emerging threat from organised crime occurring in New Zealand (Ministry of Justice, 2011).

The National Organised Crime Group and New Zealand Customs Service dismantled 20 transnational organised crime group cells established primarily in Auckland between January 2017 and March 2019 (Williams, March 2019). These cells operated independently from New Zealand-based organised crime groups and were linked to a broad range of Asian, South and North American, and European crime syndicates.

5.3.2.2 International Criminal Business Entities Based in New Zealand

Intelligence reporting notes that transnational syndicates usually establish contact with the New Zealand market through foreign nationals who have moved to/from New Zealand (NDIB, 2017f). In this sense, Asian organised crime groups tend to be significantly involved in the importation of both precursors and finished product, the bulk of which will enter New Zealand through Auckland in the first instance (NDIB, 2017f). Williams (March 2019) argues that the fluid, compartmentalised, and perpetual nature of Asian organised crime groups makes the sustained disruption of these groups by law enforcement agencies difficult.

Members connected to these Asian organised crime groups have been landed in New Zealand in order to facilitate large importations of methamphetamine (Border Five – Analysis Working Group, 2019). Thus, some members of domestic gangs will maintain relationships with Asian Organised Crime representatives or middlemen to be able to acquire and distribute the drug domestically (NDIB, 2017b).

Investigations suggest that several Asian organised crime group members are likely to have residency or citizenship status in New Zealand (NDIB, 2017f). In addition, Asian organised crime networks investigated in New Zealand are engaged in money laundering activity or acting as professional facilitators. According to NDIB (2017f), connections between members of criminal business entities are commonly developed in New Zealand prisons or via the deportee process, especially when gang members from Australia are deported to New Zealand. Australian deportees have been acknowledged by the National Organised Crime Group (2020b) to continue to influence the New Zealand crime environment. Criminals might have a larger and more influential network of contacts when they leave prison and this enlarged network might be used to coordinate more successfully methamphetamine distribution in New Zealand (NBID, 2017b).

Once the organised crime group has been established in New Zealand, they then define pre-arranged individuals ('catchers') who manage the pick-up of the drug imported (NDIB, 2017b). Once successfully imported, the catchers distribute the drug to domestic distributors (NDIB, 2017f).

The increasing average size of methamphetamine consignments from North America and Southeast Asia indicates an established network of supply from both regions being established between criminal business entities and domestic distributors in New Zealand which can facilitate larger methamphetamine consignments (NDIB, 2017b).

Methamphetamine precursors are primarily sourced from Asian organised crime groups (NDIB, 2018c). Reports note that almost every cook obtains their precursor using an 'Asian contact', with shipments of the product usually concealed in bulk amounts inside sea containers arriving in Auckland. The Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020) report that bulk drug importations from Asia and the Americas have occurred in New Zealand through high volume sea cargo, air freight, and a variety of small marine craft transfers and routes. These have been increasingly placed in cover loads difficult to search (e.g. refrigerated goods).

Several Asian nationalities have been identified to be part of the New Zealand drug market, including Chinese, Korean and Cambodian. This finding suggests New Zealand is part of a competitive global market and the substantial influence Asian Organised Crime has in connecting transnational syndicates and domestic distributors in the New Zealand market.

5.3.2.3 Domestic Criminal Business Entities

NIC (2016) reported that the number of individuals reportedly selling methamphetamine in New Zealand was rapidly growing in 2016, and that intelligence holdings suggested that most dealers at the time were members of organised crime groups (or closely associated with these), and often used methamphetamine themselves.

Recent news stories suggest that a stronger control over the availability and price of methamphetamine and other drugs is being imposed by a gang leader in New South Wales, Australia (Morri, January 2021a; Morri, January 2021b; Morri, January 2021c; Morri & Dowsley, January 2021). It is possible that this practice could be used also in New Zealand. In an internal communication, Williams (December 2020) observes that it is likely that organised crime groups in New Zealand fix the street price of methamphetamine in the country, maintaining its profitability.

Despite their territorial dominance, members of domestic motorcycle and ethnic gangs have been acknowledged to cooperate in the New Zealand drug market (NDIB, 2017b). Members of these gangs also cooperate at the dealing point, where support is needed to conduct business at an individual level. Methamphetamine distributors are often not gang members and establish connections with gang members depending on who is able to supply them at the time.

According to NDIB (2017b), gang members are generally responsible for larger domestic distribution routes in New Zealand such as Auckland to Christchurch. On the other hand, individual or independent manufacturers are more likely to distribute either within their towns or between smaller towns. The drug is generally distributed within gang networks so their plans and processes are not known by a large amount of people. According to NOCG (2020b), organised crime groups transport methamphetamine from the main hub in the North Island to the South Island using varied methods such as air travel, ferries, motor vehicles, and transport workers.

In early 2016, New Zealand Police Intelligence sources claimed that a motorcycle gang, who police have described as utilising a 'business model' of 'direct selling of methamphetamine', was expanding southward into small towns down the country (NDIB, 2016b). It is plausible that in smaller towns a single gang could have the coercive power and criminal networks to exert some control over the local drug market. The New Zealand Gang Intelligence Centre (GIC; 2019) also highlighted in 2019 that North Island gangs were expanding to South Island communities, given their profitable drug markets. According to Williams (March 2019), recent investigations and work with partnering agencies made it evident that members of New Zealand gangs operating in rural areas were selling methamphetamine in their communities for profit using various techniques to market the drug and increase the number of people using it, such as targeting solo mothers.

According to the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2019) adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia are also expanding to East and Southeast Asia to scale up the trafficking of drugs, especially methamphetamine and its precursors. According to intelligence holdings, it is likely that some of these gangs are collaborating in this space, which poses a high risk to New Zealand (NOCG, 2020b).

NDIB (2016a) discusses that the Pacific Islands are also vulnerable to the expansion of adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia. According to NDIB (2016a), a known gang from Australia has established two chapters in Fiji and some New Zealand gang members are currently living and working in the Cook Islands. New Zealand gang members establishing themselves in these locations might have the opportunity to network with international drug syndicates, what would facilitate direct drug importations between the Pacific Islands and New Zealand in the future.

A report from the GIC (2019) discusses that adult gangs in New Zealand have increased in size, with over 2,000 members joining them between December 2016 and August 2019. Gangs are also using a more horizontal structure of command instead of a deeply hierarchical one, and adjusting their recruiting methods to include social media, focusing on glamorising gang membership, and pro-community messaging. Members also continue to be recruited in prison (NOCG, 2020b). Although the frequency of dishonesty crime has decreased when considering gang members, the frequency of violence, drug, and firearmrelated crime has increased (GIC, 2019).

NOCG (2020b) highlights that organised crime groups in New Zealand are increasingly armed and likely to be more willing to carry out serious attacks and violence. Significant numbers of illegal firearms [including substantial numbers of AK-47 assault rifles, AR-15 semi-automatic rifles, an MP38 sub-machine gun, shotguns (one pump action), Molotov cocktails, and a 'claymore' explosive device] have been seized from gang members in 2020 (NOCG, 2020b). Due to this heightened scenario, frontline staff currently routinely arm themselves when executing warrants for organised crime investigations, as firearms are often present at the scene (NOCG, 2020b). GIC (2019) discusses that increases in violence and firearm-related charges are likely to be associated with members protecting themselves from other gangs and more violent tactics, and protecting their drug market.

NOCG (2020b) anticipates it is likely there will be an increase in serious violence in the organised crime environment in New Zealand. The group also emphasises that it is possible that organised crime groups will be more involved in firearms trafficking and there will be more 3D printed firearms. In this scenario, drive-by shootings and targeted assassinations may also become more prevalent as gang tensions increase.

5.4 Online Drug Market

Illicit drugs have been increasingly more available online in New Zealand, both in clearnet and darknet-hosted marketplaces (NDIB, 2017e). According to the Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020), varied drugs, including MDMA and methamphetamine, arrive in New Zealand via several small mail and fast parcel packages. The group discusses that more people are purchasing drugs online due to COVID-19.

Reports by NDIB (2017b; 2017e) outline the countries that act as source locations for illicit drugs that are ordered online and sent to New Zealand. Primary locations of concern are the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and Canada. The vast majority of the drugs purchased online are believed to arrive in New Zealand at the International Mail Service Centre in Auckland.

Illicit drugs sent through international mail are generally imported in small volumes (usually 100g or less) (NDIB, 2017e). However, as some of the drugs purchased online are really potent in small quantities, the potential harm of purchasing and using these drugs remains significant. NDIB also discusses an increasing trend to import drugs in larger amounts, which is likely to be associated with further distribution of the purchased drug within the country using domestic postal and courier services (NDIB, 2017e).

The NDIB report from 2017 also notes that low-volume drug importation had grown in the previous five years across multiple Police Districts and this had almost certainly been influenced by the availability of drugs online. NDIB (2020a) reports that 61% of the methamphetamine seized in 2019 was detected in small volumes in the mail stream.

There are several New Zealand-based darknet suppliers advertising 'locally made' methamphetamine (NDIB, 2017e). Although it is unlikely that the seller would be able to compete with cheaper overseas-based methamphetamine suppliers, it is possible that New Zealand customers would prefer to purchase the drug sold locally in order to avoid the risk of having packages coming from overseas intercepted by the New Zealand Customs Service.

According to intelligence, increases in the availability of drugs online might have impacted the street pricing of some types of drug (NDIB 2017e). In New Zealand, the price of drugs sold down the street is significantly higher than of those sold in online marketplaces.

5.5 Availability and Purity of Methamphetamine

In 2019, ESR reported an average methamphetamine purity of 74% in samples of the drug in New Zealand (NDIB, May 2020). Purity can achieve 80% when considering pure methamphetamine salt so a purity of 74% is considered to be extremely high. A report from NDIB (2015) also suggested that methamphetamine, both produced domestically and abroad, remained readily available at the New Zealand market (NDIB, 2015b).

Wilkins and colleagues (2017) found in the 2016 wave of the Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS) that participants acknowledged it was 'easy' or 'very easy' to obtain methamphetamine (as measured on a four-point type Likert scale varying from 'very difficult' to 'very easy'). The study also found that average methamphetamine availability significantly increased from 2006 to 2016 and 2015 to 2016. The strength of methamphetamine was acknowledged as 'fluctuating' or 'high' in 2016 (as measured on a three-point type Likert scale varying from 'low' to 'high). According to participants, the strength of methamphetamine had significantly decreased from 2015 to 2016.

NDIB (2020a) reports that from 2018 to 2019 the typical street price of a gram of methamphetamine decreased from \$500 to \$400 in New Zealand, and a gram of methamphetamine could be purchased for as little as \$200 based on anecdotal evidence. These findings suggest high availability of the drug in the market.

5.6 Differences between Police Districts

5.6.1 Domestic Production

Regarding the methamphetamine manufactured in New Zealand, 957 kg or 99% of the ephedrine apprehended by the New Zealand Customs Service from the beginning of 2017 to June 2018 was destined for addresses in Auckland, although smaller quantities were destined for other areas in New Zealand, both urban and rural (NDIB, 2018c).

In 2017, 50% of the 79 methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories detected in New Zealand were located in the Auckland region. A report from NDIB published in 2019 (NDIB, 2019a) highlighted that most of the offences related to methamphetamine manufacturing then were concentrated in the Auckland region. These findings signal that Auckland is one of the biggest poles of methamphetamine manufacturing in New Zealand; this might be due to population characteristics, demand, accessibility, availability of precursors, infrastructure, and social network, but also due to the larger quantity of police resources available in this region to disrupt manufacturing (NDIB, 2018c; NDIB, 2019a).

5.6.2 Online Drug Market

A report by NDIB (2017e) suggests that people who use illicit drugs in New Zealand also order drugs online and that the frequency of illicit drug consignments seems to vary across Police Districts, with more illicit drug consignments directed to Auckland (n = 1,137), Canterbury (n = 494), Wellington (n = 348), and Southern (n = 307) being intercepted in 2016. The frequency of consignments per district including methamphetamine specifically was not reported in the NDIB report.

5.6.3 Use

Wastewater drug testing results can be used to estimate methamphetamine consumption across different Police Districts within New Zealand. Wastewater drug testing results can also be used to provide an indication of the amount of money that is being made by criminal business entities and the cost of the social harm⁴⁷ caused to communities in New Zealand (Williams, March 2019). Currently, this testing is conducted in 45 locations, which include around 75% of the New Zealand population (New Zealand Police, March 2020).

Findings for the second quarter of 2020 showed that the average methamphetamine consumption per week decreased from 15.4 kilograms in the first quarter of 2020 to 9.9 kilograms in the second quarter of 2020 (Lyons, November 2020).⁴⁸ This result captures the immediate effects of the national lockdowns associated with COVID-19, showing much lower consumption than usual, likely to both restrictions at the border and of movement inside the country (Lyons, November 2020). The prevalence per capita of methamphetamine was higher during the second quarter of 2020 in Bay of Plenty, Eastern, and Northland (New Zealand Police, November 2020).

The Wellington, Canterbury, and Southern districts presented a different pattern of drug use from other districts. While methamphetamine was the most detected drug in most districts, MDMA was the most detected drug in these three districts. MDMA is acknowledged to be the most consumed drug in the South Island, with the drug accounting for 55% of the average annual drug consumption (NDIB, 2020b). In the North Island, MDMA accounts for only 30% of the average drug consumption.

Even though MDMA is the most used drug in the South Island, further findings signal that the use of methamphetamine in the South Island might be increasing. While a 1% decrease in methamphetamine use was detected in wastewater drug testing results for the North Island between the quarters ending in May 2019 and February 2020, an increase of 11% was detected in methamphetamine use for the South Island.

5.6.4 Price and Availability

People based in the South Island pay significantly higher prices to acquire methamphetamine than those based in the North Island. This price difference is likely due to the risk and cost associated with transporting methamphetamine from hubs in the North Island to the South Island (NDIB, 2020b). The Illicit Drug Pricing Report describes that methamphetamine can be sold for up to \$800 a gram, two times the national average, in the South Island. Still, given the higher amount of methamphetamine used in the North Island, the profitability of the drug is significantly higher in the North Island (\$4.9 million a week) than in the South Island (\$706,204 a week).

According to a report produced by NDIB in 2018, lower prices of methamphetamine imply more availability of the drug (NDIB, 2018c). According to the report, lower prices for the drug in Auckland, Northland, and Canterbury at the time signalled that methamphetamine was more available in these Police Districts.

The bulletin produced by Wilkins, Rychert, Romeo, and Graydon-Guy (2019) assessed the price of methamphetamine, cannabis, *ecstasy*,⁴⁹ and LSD in 2018/2019 across different regions of New Zealand. Analyses included data collected through the New Zealand Drug Trends Survey (NZDTS), which is an

⁴⁷ Estimates for the cost of social harm caused by methamphetamine are based on estimations by the 2016 Drug Harm Index (McFadden, 2016), and include the cost of personal harm, community harm, and interventions.

⁴⁸ Data for April 2020 was not included in the analyses as only three of the 45 testing sites provided samples during this time due to risks associated with COVID-19. 49 "Ecstasy" pills are usually made from MDMA mixed with other drugs such as amphetamines and caffeine (https://www.drugfoundation.org.nz/info/drug-index/mdma/).

anonymous convenience online survey with the main goal of assessing current drug market trends and issues associated with drug use. Overall, between 2017/2018 and 2018/2019 price assessments, the median price for a gram of methamphetamine dropped from \$538 to \$500. This variation was affected by record low prices for Auckland (\$450), Wellington (\$450), and Waikato (\$450). The median prices for the gram of methamphetamine across regions in the South Island such as Tasman/Nelson/Marlborough (\$650) and Southland/Westcoast (\$600) were significantly higher than some of the median prices observed in the North Island, although these median prices had dropped from the 2017/2018 to the 2018/2019 assessment. The region of Manawatu-Whanganui seemed a case apart from the other regions as it was the only New Zealand region in which the median price of methamphetamine was higher in 2018/2019 than in 2017/2018.

5.7 COVID-19 and the Methamphetamine Market

5.7.1 Domestic Production

NDIB considers it unlikely that COVID-19 restrictions will lead to more methamphetamine being produced domestically or that this production will return to peak levels observed before 2015, as the supply and importation of precursors is also susceptible to supply chain disturbances caused by COVID-19. Different intelligence sources have identified that methamphetamine precursors are in shorter supply due to COVID-19 disruptions (NDIB, June 2020).

It is extremely likely that the production of methamphetamine precursors has not been disrupted in China by COVID-19 as production figures suggest that the March 2020 output for chemical and pharmaceutical industries in China was up 4.5 per cent in comparison to the March 2019 output (NDIB, June 2020). Furthermore, shipments of legal precursors into the United States had increased from January to April 2020 in comparison to the same period in 2019. This availability in China had not translated to an increase of precursors detected entering New Zealand. Law enforcement agencies did not detect any ephedrine entering the country during April and May 2020. Only very small quantities of pseudoephedrine-based medicines were detected entering the country in the same period. The findings suggest that large-scale precursor importation was not a commonplace then (NDIB, June 2020).

5.7.2 Importation and Distribution

According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020), there was a 65% decrease in methamphetamine seizures by the New Zealand Customs Service during April and May of 2020.⁵⁰

It is not likely, however, that this decrease in seizures, and likely decrease in the amount of methamphetamine reaching the New Zealand market, led to a shortage in the availability of methamphetamine in New Zealand. A report by NDIB (June 2020) assessing the effect of COVID-19 on the overseas supply of methamphetamine to New Zealand discussed that an international methamphetamine shortage affecting New Zealand during the COVID-19 pandemic remained unlikely. In line with previous global illicit drug shortages, the impacts of any disruption to the international methamphetamine trade were unlikely to materialise here in the short term. NDIB also suggested that it was almost certain that a temporary supply shortage would not affect New Zealand's demand for methamphetamine over the long term (NDIB, June 2020).

NDIB (June 2020) also highlighted that there had been no significant change in source countries for methamphetamine or their modus operandi for trafficking at that stage. Although, according to the Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020), criminal business entities adapted to the COVID-19 scenario, continuing to operate by adapting their methods. In this scenario, it is possible that the negative economic impact of COVID-19 on the Pacific Islands might translate into the increased use of the region by organised crime groups and transnational syndicates (NOCG, 2020b). This risk should be considered further by law enforcement agencies. According to NOCG (2020b), more changes to organised crime group operations and business models might still occur as a result of the impact of COVID-19 in the world.

NOCG (2020b) also pointed out that gang members involved in organised crime continued to meet during lockdown. However, the stand-over incident rate in Auckland slowed during lockdown from approximately one incident every two days before lockdown to approximately one incident every four days during lockdown.

NOCG (2020b) also discussed that Asian organised crime groups who launder proceeds from crime using casinos and junket activity were disrupted by lockdown venue closures and travel restrictions during lockdown and while travel restrictions were in place in New Zealand.

Drug distribution is also acknowledged to have continued around the country during lockdown and while travel restrictions were in place, with drug houses maintaining operations, and ongoing distribution in carparks, hotels and street corners; from cars, pushbikes, backpacker hostels, and tradesperson vehicles; and to mailboxes (NOCG, 2020b).

5.7.3 Differences Across Districts

A report produced by NDIB (May 2020) suggested that lockdown restrictions would likely increase disparities in availability and pricing of methamphetamine across different regions in New Zealand at least in the short term. This finding was confirmed by an update to the original report in June 2020, which also highlighted that as soon as travel restrictions within the country were lifted, methamphetamine was being moved around, especially towards the South Island (NDIB, June 2020).

Wastewater drug testing results also suggested the ongoing effect of COVID-19 on the methamphetamine market. Results for May 2020 estimated that 10.3 kilograms of methamphetamine had been consumed in the country and that the amount of

⁵⁰ The report by the New Zealand Drug Foundation with methamphetamine seizure data for April and May 2020 was released after the NDIB reports focusing on the effect of COVID-19 on the drug market.

methamphetamine consumed had decreased 46% if considered March 2020 (New Zealand Police, May 2020). The report explained that the magnitude of this reduction was likely impacted by the lack of sample collection in Auckland Central due to faulty equipment. If usual levels of methamphetamine consumption in Auckland Central are applied, national methamphetamine use would still have decreased, but at around a magnitude of 26% (and not 46%).

Consumption in Police Districts in the South Island had decreased even more than the national average. More specifically, decreases in consumption of 58% were observed in Tasman, 56% in Canterbury, and 74% in Southern. Considering the North Island, most Police Districts were back to use levels seen before COVID-19 impacted New Zealand. The only exceptions were Auckland (51% consumption decrease) and Wellington (48% consumption decrease).

5.7.4 Methamphetamine Availability, Purity, and Price

A report from NDIB (May 2020) identified that it was likely disruptions in the supply chain caused by COVID-19 would impact the availability, purity, and price of methamphetamine across New Zealand at least in the short term. The report also suggested that there was anecdotal evidence that less pure methamphetamine was being sold during lockdown. According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020), while the purity and availability of methamphetamine decreased during lockdown, the price of methamphetamine increased over time, especially in the South Island.

An update to the original report (NDIB, June 2020) also suggested that more people who used methamphetamine were seeking treatment due to the difficulty in maintaining their use with increased drug prices. Methamphetamine prices were inflated even after COVID-19 restrictions were lifted, with prices increasing from Auckland to the South Island. Nevertheless, methamphetamine prices continue to be cheapest in Auckland, in comparison with the rest of the country. This increase in Auckland's pricing, combined with the relaxation of domestic travel restrictions infers domestic distribution is no longer the biggest determinant of price increases, but rather a wholesalelevel supply shortage. In July 2020, NOCG (2020b) reported that drug prices continued to fluctuate in New Zealand, but were expected to stabilise over the long term.

Auckland's methamphetamine market is assessed to be controlled by a diverse group of importers and dealers (NDIB, June 2020). This diversity decreases the likelihood that a group of high-level dealers are able to coordinate in order to control pricing in 'cartel-like' style. Thus, it is more likely that the price of the drug is determined by availability. However, it is possible that continued New Zealand media stories of price increases and decreased availability could promote an artificial narrative of market scarcity. This perceived scarcity could influence higher level players in the market to increase methamphetamine prices over the longer term.

5.8 Summary

This chapter provided statistics and information regarding the production, importation, and distribution of methamphetamine in New Zealand. Moreover, it provided information regarding online purchasing of drugs in New Zealand, criminal business entities engaged in the market, availability and purity of methamphetamine in New Zealand, differences across Police Districts regarding the methamphetamine market, and impact of COVID-19 on the methamphetamine market.

Differently from the third chapter in this report which focused on how people who used methamphetamine perceived different factors connected to use, this chapter focused on what is known about the methamphetamine market, sometimes using the perspective of people who use methamphetamine surveyed during intelligence studies, but mostly using the perspective of law enforcement agencies.

Overall, findings presented in this chapter showed that:

- From 2013 to 2019 there was a gradual decrease in the number of methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories dismantled. However, 2020 has seen a sharp increase in the number of laboratories dismantled in New Zealand. All laboratories are now commercial, and able to produce larger quantities of methamphetamine than the methamphetamine manufacturing laboratories previously detected in the country;
- There are several non-controlled methamphetamine precursor chemicals which can be used in the manufacturing process. Intelligence feedback to this report describes the importation of pre-precursors to New Zealand as an emerging trend;
- The volume of methamphetamine being imported into New Zealand has generally increased since 2012. Two large methamphetamine manufacturing regions, Mexico and the Golden Triangle (i.e. Myanmar Shan State, western Laos, and northern Thailand), supply methamphetamine to the New Zealand market;
- The increased availability of methamphetamine in the Golden Triangle, the reduced wholesale price of the drug due to increased availability in this region, and the profitability of the New Zealand market put New Zealand at increased risk of being a target for transnational syndicates based in the Golden Triangle. The oversupply of methamphetamine in this region is likely to lead to further expansions of the methamphetamine market, attracting more people to use the drug due to its cheaper price and higher availability. In this sense, syndicates based in Mexico are also a risk to New Zealand. Additionally, the competition between suppliers is bringing the wholesale price of the drug down and this can lower the price at retail point, expanding markets in New Zealand to include lower socio-economic communities. The typical price of one kilogram of methamphetamine in New Zealand dropped from between \$230,000 and \$250,000 in 2016 to \$140,000 in 2019. Still, the New Zealand market is acknowledged as highly profitable;

- Mexico has increasingly been acknowledged as a source country for the methamphetamine imported to New Zealand. Mexican cartels use sophisticated and diverse methodologies, and have already successfully engaged with domestic distribution networks and money laundering infrastructure in New Zealand. This trend is likely to continue and be linked to further offending, although it is unlikely that Mexican cartels will seek to establish a physical presence in New Zealand, leading to the level of corruption and violence observed in Mexico;
- There are different transnational syndicates involved in trafficking methamphetamine to New Zealand. These syndicates are not necessarily associated with gang members but do require criminal connections, often through Asian organised crime groups, to sell their product within New Zealand. Some members of domestic gangs will therefore maintain relationships with Asian Organised Crime representatives or middlemen to obtain product for domestic distribution. It is important to mention, however, that the association between members of transnational syndicates, international criminal business entities, and domestic criminal business entities is neither linear nor fixed in New Zealand, varying across different groups and periods of time;
- Intelligence holdings describe that organised crime groups in New Zealand are increasingly armed and likely to be more willing to carry out serious attacks and violence. It is likely that increases in violence and firearm-related charges are associated with members protecting themselves from other gangs and more violent tactics, and protecting their drug market;
- Adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia are expanding to East and Southeast Asia to scale up the trafficking of drugs, especially methamphetamine and its precursors. According to intelligence holdings, it is likely that some of these gangs are collaborating in this space, which poses a high risk to New Zealand. The Pacific Islands are also vulnerable to the expansion of adult gangs from both New Zealand and Australia. New Zealand gang members establishing themselves in these locations might have the opportunity to network with international drug syndicates, what would facilitate direct drug importations between the Pacific Islands and New Zealand in the future;
- Anecdotal evidence indicates that it is likely that organised crime groups in New Zealand fix the street price of methamphetamine in the country, maintaining its profitability;
- Illicit drugs have been increasingly more available online in New Zealand, both in clearnet and darknet-hosted marketplaces;
- The purity of the methamphetamine sold in New Zealand is averaged at 74% out of a maximum purity of 80% for solid (salt) form methamphetamine, and in 2016 people who frequently used the drug perceived to be 'easy' or 'very easy' to obtain it in New Zealand; and
- COVID-19 has had an impact on methamphetamine supplies in New Zealand, and as at May 2020, the drug continued to be more difficult to obtain than before the onset of COVID-19 in many parts of the country. Although an international methamphetamine shortage affecting New Zealand remained unlikely.

6. Education, Prevention, Harm Reduction, Staff Training, and Partnerships

6. Education, Prevention, Harm Reduction, Staff Training, and Partnerships

This chapter presents findings from the literature gathered by EBPC focusing on education and prevention strategies used abroad and in New Zealand, harm reduction strategies used abroad and in New Zealand, frontline staff training initiatives working to address methamphetamine use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand, and existing successful partnerships between police and other agencies to support harm reduction and prevent methamphetamine use.

Documents provided or described by Steering Group members are categorised below according to the type of strategy being described (e.g. education, harm reduction, frontline staff training), but it is important to acknowledge that some of the initiatives listed are part of bigger programmes of work, having a similar purpose, or encompass more than one type of strategy at a time. Ang and Andrews (2018), for instance, enlisted in their presentation to the addiction sector leadership a list of strategies in the alcohol and other drugs space aimed at young people which belonged to the same work programme – *Tūturu, Peer Crowd Projects, Bridging the Gap*, and *Brief Advice Pocket Cards*, among others. Thus, strategies presented below in different sections may be part of the same programme of work, having a similar purpose.

Also, we describe in this chapter education, prevention, and harm reduction strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine), strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine, and strategies targeting other substances which could be adapted to target methamphetamine. All of these strategies were mentioned by Steering Group members or listed in documents provided by them.

6.1 Education and Prevention

Education and prevention strategies should be considered when addressing the harm caused by methamphetamine to New Zealand communities. These strategies enable people who have not yet used the drug to know more about it and be aware of its negative effects and the harm that it could cause to them. It has been suggested in the literature that strategies which focus on multiple dimensions, are community-based, and responsive to the local context are generally more promising in terms of best practice principles and international models of population-level health promotion (Robertson, 2013).

Furthermore, as addiction to methamphetamine can settle in quickly after first use, continued use is associated with multiple negative effects, and it can take from five to 10 years for people to seek help to treat their addiction, it seems preferable for people to avoid using the drug for the first time (Farrell et al., 2019; Indig et al., 2017; NDIB, 2017d; New Zealand Drug Foundation, December 2020). In this scenario, education and prevention strategies could be paramount in providing more information about the drug to potential users, potentially decreasing drug intake and the harm caused by methamphetamine to New Zealand communities.

6.1.1 International Literature

A report and an article produced in the United States suggested some broad evidence-based strategies for successful prevention and education in the alcohol and drug space. The report by Robertson, David, and Rao (2003) described 16 researchbased prevention principles which should be used by parents, educators, and community leaders:

- Prevention programmes should enhance protective factors (e.g. parental or peer support) and decrease risk factors (e.g. aggressive behaviour or poor self-control);
- 2. Prevention programmes should address inappropriate use of both illegal and legal drugs;
- Prevention programmes should address drug abuse issues in the local-community level (including risk factors and protective factors);
- 4. Prevention programmes should be targeted to the audience or population, addressing specific risks;
- Prevention programmes using family-based approaches should focus on enhancing bonding between family members including goals such as improving communication between members;
- 6. Prevention programmes should start early, as early as preschool;
- 7. Prevention programmes should focus on improving academic and social-wellbeing during elementary school, addressing risk factors at that stage, and targeting self-control, emotional awareness, communication, social-problem solving, and academic support;
- 8. Prevention programmes should focus on increasing academic and social competence during middle, junior high, or high school, targeting study habits and academic support, communication, peer relationships, self-efficacy and assertiveness, drug resistance skills, reinforcement of antidrug attitudes, and strengthening of personal commitments against drug abuse;
- 9. Prevention programmes can be effective when aimed at transition points (e.g. from elementary to middle school);
- Community prevention programmes in different niches (e.g. school and family) can be more effective than a single programme;

- When more than one community prevention programme is in place, it is important to consolidate the message across them so programmes do not contradict each other and are more effective;
- When programmes are adapted to fit a specific community, they should keep core elements such as structure, content, and delivery;
- Prevention programmes should be long term, including follow-ups with consistent messaging to increase their effectiveness;
- 14. Prevention programmes should include appropriate instructor training in order for these to display behaviours which foster attendees' positive behaviour;
- **15.** Prevention programmes should be interactive in order to have increased effectiveness; and
- **16.** Research-based prevention programmes are cost-effective if implemented appropriately.

Similarly, looking at 'what works' in the prevention space, the article by Kumpher (2002) suggested that there is no single best prevention programme, arguing that prevention programmes have to be fit to the population targeted based on risk and protective factors in that population; and the best approach is to start prevention earlier rather than later, reduce risk factors in different life spheres (e.g. school, family), and promote protective factors in different life spheres.

Kumpher (2002) also acknowledged that three levels of prevention programmes should be considered: universal prevention programmes (targeted to a whole population); selective prevention programmes (targeted to a specific group in the population – e.g. prisoners); and indicated prevention programmes (targeted to youth or adults with known antecedents of alcohol or drug abuse). The author also described that it is important to identify groups at risk in order to target them and that evidence-based approaches should be disseminated to the public and adopted by agencies. Furthermore, as socio-economic disadvantage has been acknowledged to impact drug-use behaviours, it is also important to consider this factor when implementing prevention strategies (Spooner & Hetherington, 2004).

6.1.2 New Zealand Literature

Robertson (2013) prepared for the Ministry of Education a review of the government-funded Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) education programmes for young people. In the review, the author described that in New Zealand, AOD prevention/ delay or reduction programmes are usually provided to young people during secondary school. Prevention (or delay-based) programmes aim to address substance use before it starts (Robertson, 2013).

Robertson (2013) discusses that these programmes have been criticised for both being available too late to young people (when some have already initiated substance use) and not showing to delay or prevent AOD use (either due to programme ineffectiveness or lack of evaluation).

According to Robertson (2013), education contributions to the prevention space need to include learning of knowledge, skills and understandings that contribute to broader development of protective factors and minimisation of risk factors. In this space, prevention strategies which focus on multiple dimensions, are community-based, and responsive to the local context are generally more promising in terms of best practice principles and international models of population-level health promotion. Programmes can therefore be effective in reducing AOD use by focusing on broader topics such as increasing cultural connectedness. Strategies focusing on overall wellbeing have also been suggested as promising in the AOD prevention space (Robertson, 2013).

Robertson (2013) identified in 2013 that results for the New Zealand-based programmes *Community Action Youth and Drugs (CAYAD), Community Action Alcohol Fund (CAAFS)*,⁵¹ *High on Life*,⁵² *Stand Up!*, and *Amplify!* were positive and promising.

In total, six different initiatives including education and prevention strategies being used in New Zealand were identified in the current stocktake of literature and are include below; however it is likely that there are further initiatives in place.^{53,54}

6.1.2.1 Community Action Youth and Drugs (CAYAD)

This programme is funded by the Ministry of Health and has the aim of reducing the harm young people experience from alcohol and other drugs (CAYAD, n.d.). More specifically, the programme aims to attain four outcomes: Increased informed community discussion and debate about issues related to illicit drugs; effective policies and practices to reduce harm adopted; increased local capacity to support young people in education, employment, and recreation; and reduced supply of drugs to young people (Ministry of Health, 2009).

The programme operates in 21 locations across New Zealand and is guided by the National Drug Policy 2015-2020. CAYAD coordinators work with the community by supporting leaders, organisations and young people to collaborate and create long lasting changes in their environment which promote wellbeing and reduce the risk of harm (CAYAD, n.d.). CAYAD projects are based on local, cultural, and academic evidence, focusing on improving policies, systems, and practices; initiating community

⁵¹ The Community Action Alcohol Fund (CAAFS) is not described in this chapter as updated information about it was not available.

⁵² High on Life (HOL) is not described in this chapter as updated information about it was not available.

⁵³ In this report, we describe prevention strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine), strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine, and strategies targeting other substances which could be adapted to target methamphetamine. All of these strategies were mentioned by Steering Group members or listed in documents provided by them.

⁵⁴ The Life Education programme ('Healthy Harold') was mentioned by one of the Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group members as a relevant prevention programme to be included in the current report. However, as it was considered by Robertson (2013) to 'not fit an understanding of a 'programme' or 'approach' that claimed to prevent or reduce AOD use', this programme has not been included in the current report. Robertson (2013) prepared for the Ministry of Education in 2013 a review of the government-funded Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) education programmes for young people. More information about the Life Education programme can be found on: https://lifeeducation.org.nz/

action to reduce supply of alcohol and other drugs; and increasing opportunities for young people to be healthy and reach their full potential.

The website for the project (https://cayad.org.nz/) includes relevant resources produced by both CAYAD and other organisations, including information pieces, case studies, evaluations of projects within CAYAD, and an evaluation of the overall programme. The process and impact evaluation for the overall programme showed that in 2009 the programme was delivering against three of its four outcomes–increased discussion; changed policies and practices; and increased access for young people to education, recreation and employment (Ministry of Health, 2009). The evaluation emphasised the importance of delivering multiple initiatives targeted at all the four outcomes (increased discussion; changed policies and practices; increased access for young people to education, recreation and employment; and reduced supply of drugs).

6.1.2.2 Stand Up!

This programme is a youth development programme provided by Odyssey House (n.d.). It is aimed at young people whose lives are influenced by alcohol and other drugs. It includes working collaboratively with young people and their schools or education providers to explore and discuss a range of topics broader than alcohol and other drugs, such as future aspirations and academic performance, and develop life and social skills.

The programme offers counselling support to young people accessing the service, allowing them to determine the level of engagement desired and what they would like to achieve with the programme (Odyssey House, n.d.). Throughout the programme, progress and areas of strength are assessed and future areas for development are established. Trained alcohol and other drug (AOD) practitioners with varied cultural, life, and educational backgrounds provide the service, which enables different approaches to be used as required.

According to Robertson (2013), many of the participants who took part in the *Stand Up*! and *Amplify*! (please see Section 6.1.2.3 below) programmes reported increases in confidence, social skills without using substances, participation with school, and sense of pride in who they are; improvements in mood and relationships with their family; and a newly gained sense of direction. According to the author, Odyssey House has been evaluated by Counties Manukau District Health Board twice.

6.1.2.3 Amplify!

This programme is provided by Odyssey House and supported by Vodafone New Zealand Foundation (Amplify, 2011). *Amplify!* focuses on empowering young people to set challenging goals for themselves and reach their full potential. The programme is targeted at young people in secondary schools whose lives are influenced by alcohol and other drugs. Similarly to the *Stand Up!* programme, participants are stimulated to establish what they want to get out of the programme and then the programme of work is developed around their needs using a combination of research-based youth-friendly techniques. Work can be conducted both in individual and group sessions. The programme's main goals are to empower participants to learn more about who they are and who they want to become; strengthen connections with their community and whānau; and learn and practice skills, such as using emotions in a positive way and cutting down substance use (Amplify, 2011). The programme is based on collaborative work between providers (two trained alcohol and other drug practitioners) and the school, and is able to deliver support to students according to their needs in the alcohol and other drug space.

6.1.2.4 What Can I do? and Did you Know? Series

According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (November 2020), a comprehensive amount of work has been carried out by several organisations in New Zealand to develop products to help young people, their parents, and health professionals with alcohol and other drug issues, from prevention to early intervention and treatment.

The What Can I do? infographics and short-animated video detail what can be done by members of the community to help young people to improve their wellbeing and avoid problems with alcohol and other drugs (New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020). The resources provide information depicted in a clear and illustrative way about alcohol and other drug use among young people and the harm experienced by them, also providing strategies to communicate with young people on these issues.

As part of the *Did you know*? series, a short-animated video focusing on methamphetamine was also created (New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020). This video was designed by the New Zealand Drug Foundation and youth alcohol and other drug services based in New Zealand to share relevant facts about methamphetamine with young people. *The Did you know*? series includes videos in English and Te Reo, posters with the scripting of the video in different languages, and a conversation planner for parents to use with children before alcohol and other drug use issues appear. Print material is also available in Samoan and Tongan, via a partnership with Le Va, and Chinese (traditional), via a partnership with *Matua Raki*. Asian Family Services have taken the initiative onboard, distributing posters in Chinese to members of their community.

Finally, the *Did you know?* series is used as a resource when training health professionals to be confident and skilful when discussing alcohol and other drug issues with young people and has creative commons licensing, what means that they can be adapted by young people and health professionals to be relevant to a particular context.

6.1.2.5 New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects (NZPCP)

This series of projects has the goal of reducing alcohol-related harm and improving the wellbeing of specific groups of young people through targeted campaigns and programmes (Domett, Coker & Sinclair, 2020). The *New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects* involved multiple organisations and agencies. Although this methodology has been used in the prevention space focusing on alcohol in New Zealand, it is described here as it could possibly be used in the prevention space for methamphetamine. A US-based social marketing agency presented on their method of doing segmentation into peer crowds to New Zealand public sector and community groups in 2015 as part of an informationsharing forum (Domett et al., 2020). In 2016, this agency was commissioned to conduct the first phase of the project in New Zealand which had the goal of identifying local teen and young people peer crowds, the role hazardous drinking plays in identity formation and maintenance, and patterns, trends, and behaviours related to the practice of hazardous drinking. Findings suggested four teen peer crowds (Hip Hop, Popular, Mainstream, and Alternative) and five young adult peer crowds (Hip Hop, Partier, Mainstream, Hipster, and Professional). Moreover, the Hip Hop and Popular/Partier peer crowds were identified as the ones at the highest risk for hazardous drinking.

Phase 1 was followed by phase 2 in 2017 which aimed to co-create how peer crowds can be used to target behaviour change (Domett et al., 2020). Three propositions emerged from phase 2: 1) a conversation starter for families during mealtime; 2) a challenge-based initiative for the Hip Hop and Popular/ Party peer crowds; and 3) an immersive content experience for treatment providers.

Phase 2 was followed by phase 3 which aimed to co-produce pilot projects, tools, and proof-of concept trials (Domett et al., 2020). Based on findings from two workshops with parents and young people from Auckland, Curative designed *Kai Nights*, which challenges families to cook a meal together using what they have in the kitchen cupboard. A flip book was also designed to guide families during *Kai Nights*.

The second proposition from phase 2 led to a challenge-initiative for the Hip Hop peer crowd developed by Innovate Change after an initial co-design workshop with young people who fit the Hip Hop peer crowd. The initiative created from it was named *The Movement* and aims to be a safe space for play, relaxation, connection, and instagrammable content. This initiative was tested in Auckland in 2019 and has been granted funding for a further three years.

The third proposition from phase 2 led to the co-design of characters, scripts, and visuals to create an immersive video experience for professionals working with young people. Virtual reality videos were produced as part of the activity. The videos were trialled in 2019, receiving very positive feedback.

An additional review was commissioned to the Big Picture agency in 2019 to assess the use of peer crowds in New Zealand so far and how it could be applied to other contexts in the future. The agency suggested that the peer crowd framework should be adapted further to better represent New Zealand; a new iteration of peer crowds should be created; and a national survey including young people should be conducted to inform relevant agencies and organisations of trends and influences also at the regional level. Further investment would be necessary to put in practice these suggestions.

A formative evaluation of the *NZPCP* was published in May 2020 (Domett et al., 2020). Findings suggested that *NZPCP* was an excellent example of collaboration between multiple partners from different sectors; a successful trial of targeting young people in harm-reduction initiatives using something more specific than ethnicity; and produced new knowledge about co-designing projects with young people.

Findings also suggested future challenges for discussion. The first challenge was a query about whether a representative study of New Zealand young people needed to be completed before any further work was undertaken. The second challenge was that *NZPC* should investigate how to improve health services for the groups targeted. The third and fourth challenges related to survey questions in case a representative study of the target population was to be conducted within the project. The lack of ongoing funding for the initiative was also identified as a challenge. Based on the positive findings from the formative evaluation, it was recommended that *NZPCP* use existing resources to deliver the project and just then conduct an evaluation to confirm and validate the approach taken.

It is likely that there are more prevention strategies in place in New Zealand. The strategies described in this report are unlikely to constitute an exhaustive list of strategies in place in New Zealand.

6.2 Harm Reduction

6.2.1 International Literature

Harm reduction acknowledges that abstinence is not a realistic goal for everyone. Harm reduction services work with people who use drugs to avoid preventable drug-related harms, such as infection and death. There are several ways that harm can be reduced for people who use methamphetamine.

Lee (2017) discussed in her presentation at the 2017 Parliamentary Symposium that the focus on methamphetamine use prevalence and on the war on drugs in Australia has taken the focus away from how people use the drug and ways to minimise harm. As a result, the majority of the funding in Australia was directed at the time to law enforcement (66%) and treatment initiatives (22%), instead of being directed to harm reduction strategies (6%).

According to Lee (2017), this was not an effective strategy to solve the methamphetamine issue, as data showed that although the use prevalence of methamphetamine was decreasing in Australia at the time, the harm associated with it was increasing as exemplified by increases in treatment presentation, hospital separations, ambulance call outs, Emergency Department presentations, and drug induced deaths.

According to the professor, the lack of funding for harm reduction strategies also impacted the flexibility to respond to changes in harm such as the higher consumption of crystal methamphetamine instead of powdered methamphetamine. Moreover, according to this presentation, at the time, 70% of those who used methamphetamine in Australia just used it once a year, 15% used it once a month, and 15% used it once a week. Those who used it once a week were likely to interact with treatment services at some stage of their methamphetamine trajectory, but the 85% who used the drug less frequently were not likely to interact with the Health system at all. According to Lee (2017) this opportunity to reduce the harm associated with methamphetamine use in Australia was missed. In this sense, the presenter argues that it is important to focus on different strategies, such as harm reduction ones, when trying to solve the methamphetamine issue.

A review of literature by Farrell and colleagues (2019) noted that harm reduction strategies to reduce risky stimulant use and overdose have not been assessed properly in the literature, although harm reduction strategies such as education about ways to administer the drug, reduce quantity and frequency of use, identify early signs of substance-based psychosis, risk assessment, general health, and awareness of drug strength have been shown to be implemented successfully. The authors also note that when considering reducing harm from blood borne viruses and sexually transmitted infections due to mode of drug use and sexually risky behaviour associated with drug use, effective approaches include providing sterile injecting equipment, materials for safer inhalation of drug, professionally supervised drug use rooms, HIV and Hepatitis C testing and treatment, and providing condoms and other pre-exposure apparatus.

Farrell and colleagues (2019) discuss that innovative strategies to prevent, treat, and reduce harm among people who use stimulants must be designed and that these strategies must include strong engagement from people who use stimulants, family, and community.

Finally, the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists (2019) discusses that public health campaigns should be based on evidence and focus on minimising harm and stigma, instead of sensationalising substance use disorders.

6.2.2 New Zealand Literature

One consideration in harm reduction are the indicators of success in regard to treatment, as methamphetamine use disorders range in severity and there is no 'one-size-fits-all' (NDIB, 2017c). Common outcome measures in New Zealand include harm reduction as well as abstinence such as improved physical and mental health, reduced drug use, completion of treatment, improved relationships, employment, and reduced rates of crime, arrest and conviction. However, nationally, there is no standardised outcomes evaluation system for the addictions sector as a whole, including not only community outpatient-based programmes, but also other types of treatment interventions.

Several specific tools and resources are available to support harm reduction in New Zealand, although there are only two nationally funded harm reduction programmes – the *Needle Exchange Programme* and *Opioid Substitution Therapy* (New Zealand Drug Foundation, 2020). In this sense, the New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) calls for more investment in harm reduction programmes in New Zealand.

Five strategies presented in the next four sections illustrate harm reduction strategies being used in the broader alcohol and other drug space or targeting specifically methamphetamine.

6.2.2.1 Needle Exchange Programme

The Needle Exchange Programme was established in the late 1980s by the Ministry of Health and makes needles, syringes, and other equipment available to support safe injecting practice and reduce harm to people who are injecting drugs, including methamphetamine (New Zealand Needle Exchange Programme, 2020). Currently, 21 dedicated exchanges and 197 pharmacies are part of the programme. The website for the programme describes that more than three million needles are distributed per year by the programme.

6.2.2.2 High Alert Website

Among the existing harm reduction services, the *High Alert* website (DIANZ, 2020) enables people who use illicit drugs to check alerts for dangerous drugs and anonymously report any unexpected drug effects. According to New Zealand Police (December 2020a), more than 30,000 people have visited the website since it was launched on the 26th June 2020. The website was designed by Drug Information and Alerts Aotearoa New Zealand (DIANZ), which is a Ministry of Health-based initiative which also includes other government agencies and non-governmental organisations to both assess and share information about drug use and harm.

6.2.2.3 Festival Drug Checking

The New Zealand Drug Foundation annual report (2020) notes that festival drug checking also successfully prevents drug harm. According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation, for six years the project has checked drugs during festivals, with drugs being checked in 22 different festivals in 2019/20. According to statistics from the report, 52% of people who tested their drugs have decided not to take a drug when the test showed that it was not the substance they thought they were about to use. The service is also provided outside of festivals in a clinic in Wellington, and a trial of the same service began to be conducted in Auckland in November 2020. On the 1st December 2020 emergency temporary legislation to legalise drug checking for the festival season was put in place in New Zealand. This enabled drug checking to be law-based.

6.2.2.4 MethHelp and DrugHelp

The *MethHelp* initiative is a sub-brand part of the broader *DrugHelp* initiative (https://drughelp.org.nz/a-bit-about-drugs/ meth) designed initially for those who were almost ready to seek treatment. However, there is now a desire to redesign these products to reach people much earlier in their drug use journey when they have not yet acknowledged experiencing harm from their drug use.

A document recently released details insights, findings, and recommendations about how the *DrugHelp* website and suite of products should be redesigned (Curative, 2020). Some of the recommendations arising from this work were ensuring the website is mobile friendly; restructuring the website into four main sections (drug information, think about your use, get help, and support a loved one); ensuring content is judgementfree with a supportive tone; ensuring content is available in different media and is varied, acknowledging the spectrum of drug-use experiences and different views about the subject; and disbanding the sub-brands *PotHelp* and *MethHelp* so website guests have a better user experience. A clear preference for New Zealand-based relevant information was also noted.

The booklet *MethHelp: How to stay in control* is a product associated with the *MethHelp* and *DrugHelp* initiatives. This booklet lists different ways in which people who use methamphetamine could reduce the harm the drug causes to them, describing how to keep well while using the drug; the importance of talking to trusted people about use; how methamphetamine acts on the brain; feelings and mental health issues associated with methamphetamine use; early signs of addiction; how relationships can be affected; and how people who use methamphetamine can evaluate their current use and opt for stopping, cutting down or maintaining use (New Zealand Drug Foundation, 2018). It also provides advice to whānau about how to interact with someone with a problem with methamphetamine.

It is likely that there are more harm reduction strategies in place in New Zealand. The strategies described in this report are unlikely to constitute an exhaustive list of harm reduction strategies in place in New Zealand.

6.3 Training of Frontline Staff

There is limited information on the general training of frontline staff working to address use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand. However, the *Bridging the Gap* resource and the *Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care* resource noted training and resources which could be used to train frontline staff.

6.3.1 Bridging the Gap

The *Bridging the Gap* resource was created with the purpose of increasing the knowledge and confidence of staff working with young people in the primary care environment, such as youth workers and school counsellors, to address issues related to alcohol and other substance use (*Matua Raki*, 2017). According to the resource, it could also be used to train clinicians working in specialist alcohol and other drug services who train youth workers.

Besides including substance-specific content, the resource also provides tips for communicating with young people about the issues associated with methamphetamine use and content focusing on youth development, beliefs, and culture.

6.3.2 Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care

This resource includes guidelines for primary care professionals when interacting with patients who may be using methamphetamine (Best Practice Advocacy Centre New Zealand, 2018). The resource starts by explaining the effects of methamphetamine, how it is used, and health complications from methamphetamine use, discussing that methamphetamine use is likely to continue to be an issue in New Zealand in years to come. Furthermore, it describes how primary care professionals are able to reduce the harm associated with methamphetamine use by using the skills they already have. In this sense, the resource guides professionals on how to give advice on harm reduction to people who use the drug, how to discuss use with patients, how to direct patients to treatment during the consultation, how to advise patients on withdrawal symptoms, how to use motivational interviewing with patients, pharmacological treatments available to treat symptoms of withdrawal, and where to look for further help.

6.4 Partnerships between Police and Other Organisations

There are multiple initiatives in New Zealand that involve partnerships between police and other agencies to prevent use, support harm reduction, and reduce alcohol and other drug use. Some of these strategies are listed in this section. Among these, *Te Ara Oranga* is the only programme to specifically target methamphetamine use.

As discussed by Foulds and Nutt (2020), in 2019 the New Zealand Court of Appeal reviewed the sentencing given to people convicted for methamphetamine-related offences. As a result, prison sentences associated with lower-level methamphetamine-related charges were replaced by communitybased sentences, and it was acknowledged that addiction, mental health issues, and social disadvantage should be taken into consideration when sentencing, as these decreased both moral culpability and the deterrent impact of prison sentences.

Furthermore, as problematic behaviours such as drug use and criminal offending are determined by multiple factors, it is important for different agencies to work collaboratively and with communities to strengthen their resilience not only to problematic behaviours, but also to the determinants of these behaviours, implementing preventative measures. Part of this commitment in New Zealand has included liaising more closely with communities and looking into data from these communities to better understand where resources are needed and how they should be provided.

Data from Wairoa, a region deeply affected by methamphetamine trafficking and addiction, showed, for instance, that both Wairoa district and township perform extremely poorly in multiple socioeconomic deprivation indicators, including unemployment rate, percentage of benefit claimants in the population, and median household income when compared to other towns and districts in New Zealand (DOT loves data, 2019; The Gisborne Herald, July 2019). Furthermore, data showed that the crime rate in Wairoa started to increase drastically above the national rate between 2016 and 2017. Data also showed that the rate of mental health and attempted suicide calls to police in the district is above the national rate, similarly to the rate of fatal crashes. In this scenario, law enforcement measures alone are not likely to resolve issues, and long-term support from other agencies who work in the health and social spaces is necessary, as some of the issues afflicting the region are persistent and require continuous resourcing and support.

NDIB (2018a) reports that in 2018 there was no formal structure for detecting and responding to drug-related harm in New Zealand. This meant that when harm was observed in a given community there were no processes in place to guide how the harm should be addressed. This meant that organisations addressed the harm informally, whether coordinating their efforts or not, and then went back to 'business as usual' when the harm was addressed. NDIB (2018a) suggests that permanent regional drug-related harm response groups could be created to address drug-related harm in a more structured and quick way.

Based on a case study including an intervention to reduce the harm caused by synthetic cannabis in Porirua, NDIB (2018a) advises that initiatives focusing on decreasing drug-related harm should include: a) multi-agency approaches; b) address not only drug supply, but also demand reduction; c) coordinate communication with the community; d) share information between agencies and community so the issue is better understood; and e) include community members when designing responses to the issue at hand.

The strategies presented next reflect the understanding that there is more to methamphetamine charges than imprisonment, highlighting that methamphetamine-related offending has to be understood both as a health and a criminal justice problem, and the importance of adopting a multi-agency approach when mitigating drug-related harm.

6.4.1 Non-Court Action

This type of action can include therapy, warnings, iwi-community panels and youth aid referrals, diverting people with illicit drug charges from court action, helping them to avoid conviction, and offering help to address the underlying issues connected to illicit drug use (New Zealand Drug Foundation, 2019). According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation report (2019), there was an increase in the percentage of people with illicit drug charges being diverted from court action between 2017/2018 and 2018/2019, from 43% to 51%. However, the percentage of people being diverted varied across Police Districts from a little bit over 40% in Northland to over 60% in Southern and Auckland City.

6.4.2 Alcohol and Other Drugs Treatment Court (AODTC)

The first *AODTCs* were established as part of a five-year pilot in 2012 in the Auckland Central and Waitakere regions (NDIB, 2017c). In these courts, offenders affected by the use of alcohol and other drugs are given the option to go through treatment with judicial oversight before sentencing with their progress in treatment potentially reducing their sentence. According to an NDIB (2017c) report, the cost of running an *AODTC* is higher than the cost of a treatment package, but this additional cost might be offset by the cost of interactions between people who use alcohol or illicit drugs and the Corrections system when the *AODTC* is not used.

An evaluation of the *AODTC* was published in 2019 by the Ministry of Justice. Main findings from the quantitative outcomes evaluation showed that when compared to matched offenders, those who went through the *AODTC* had reductions over all reoffending measures and non-crime related incidents. These differences continued for the first two years and decreased in the third and fourth-year follow-ups. There were no significant differences between offenders who went through the *AODTC* and matched offenders regarding being on a benefit or not. Additionally, there were several improvements made to the *AODTC* during the evaluation period, but these were not assessed in the quantitative outcomes evaluation.

The main findings from the qualitative evaluation showed that the *AODTC* was perceived as improving the lives of graduates and exited members, and as being implemented well. The costbenefit analysis showed that the cost-benefit ratio of the *AODTC* was 1.33, what signals a small to moderate return on investment when compared to standard Courts.

However, Farrell and colleagues (2019) summarise in their international review of literature that the overall evidence regarding the effectiveness of drug courts is unclear due to findings regarding reductions in the number of reimprisonments being potentially impacted by participant selection bias in evaluations of these programmes.

Kornhauser (2018) assessed the quantitative impact of drug courts in Australia on recidivism. This assessment included 12 impact evaluations of drug courts based in New South Wales, Queensland, South Australia, Victoria, and Western Australia published between 2002 and 2014. These impact evaluations included one randomised experiment and 11 guasi-experiments. Findings from this assessment suggested that drug courts reduced recidivism more than conventional sanctions, but this outcome was impacted by mixed results from different evaluations and methodological limitations such as lack of randomised experiments, weak quasi-experiments impaired by comparisons between inappropriate comparison and treatment groups, and short and poorly defined follow-up periods. Thus, according to the author, drug courts cannot yet be granted unequivocal endorsement in Australia, although overall findings suggest a reduction in recidivism. The author also discusses that drug courts in Australia are not all the same, using different processes, making it difficult to generalise findings regarding their impact.

Weatherburn, Yeong, Poynton, Jones, and Farrell (2020) addressed the short follow-up limitation pointed out by Kornhauser (2018) by assessing the long-term effect of the New South Wales Court on recidivism. The study compared outcomes for 604 offenders accepted in the Drug Court program and 306 offenders eligible for the program but not accepted on it (due mainly to being convicted for a violent offence or residing outside of the court area). Outcomes were evaluated for offenders from the date of their court appearance to the end of the study period (31/10/2019). Follow-up periods ranged from 122 days to 17.6 years and had an average of 13.5 years (standard deviation = 2.4 years). Findings showed that offenders who were accepted in the Drug Court program took 22% longer to reoffend for a person offence and had a 17% lower rate of reoffending than offenders who were not accepted in the program. Findings did not suggest any differences between the groups regarding overall time to the next offence or time to the next property

or drug offence. Differences between groups regarding person offence reoffending might be due to offenders who were convicted for a violent offence not being accepted in the programme, but being part of the comparison group. It might be the case that violent offenders are more likely to commit person offences.

Further rigorous evaluations of Drug Courts which address the limitations observed by Kornhauser (2018) are necessary to provide unequivocal endorsement of Drug Courts in Australia.

6.4.3 Custody Unit Screening

This was an initiative conducted by the Wellington Police Custody Unit in 2016 (NDIB, 2017c). As part of the initiative, detainees were screened for their alcohol and other drug use via an electronic survey. Those acknowledged to have a substance disorder were then contacted by a psychologist. During the initiative, 224 detainees (58%) were engaged in the screening (Quigley, 2016, as cited by NDIB, 2017c). Among these, 162 detainees (72%) were identified to have a substance use disorder and 67 detainees (30%) took part in treatment interventions. According to NDIB (2017c), the pilot showed that the screening tool works for police and was acceptable to most detainees. This programme could be implemented throughout New Zealand in all custody units and emergency departments, ensuring consistency of services and enabling a national dataset to be created.

6.4.4 Custody Mental Health Nurses

This was an initiative conducted by the Christchurch, Counties Manukau, and Rotorua Police Districts in 2008 (NDIB, 2017c). During the initiative, a nurse specialised in mental health was employed by the districts to assist detainees who had mental health or addiction issues, referring them to treatment services when necessary. According to the Canterbury District Health Board (2016 as cited by NDIB, 2017c), the initiative was perceived as positive by detainees and found to decrease the risk of harm to staff and detainees, indicating that the programme could be rolled out nationally.

6.4.5 Te Ara Oranga

This project involves input from both the Health sector and New Zealand Police, and has the aim of reducing the supply (through enforcement) and demand (by supporting people who use methamphetamine to stop using) for methamphetamine in Northland (Te Ara Oranga Evaluation Working Group, 2018). Thus, the programme aims to reduce both methamphetamine use and harm in the region. Moreover, *Te Ara Oranga* aims to engage both community and agencies to deliver a holistic approach to methamphetamine use, providing better outcomes for all of those involved. One of the goals of the initiative is to contact people who use the drug and offer them treatment within 48 hours of problematic use being detected by police.

The project also includes an education and prevention component, with 131 community events or meetings being conducted as part of the project between September 2017 and September 2020, and 23 schools being visited during the same period, reaching more than 3,000 students (Te Ara Oranga, 2020). The *Te Ara Oranga* Evaluation Working Group report (2018) also noted staff training specific to *Te Ara Oranga* delivery including that the Northland District Health Board strengthened alcohol and drug competency by engaging subject experts to deliver specialist methamphetamine education programmes for staff to increase capability and expertise.

The *Te Ara Oranga* pilot started in October 2017 and included the implementation of treatment options and a referral pathway, and hiring of Police and Health staff. Currently, the initiative publishes updates about the project including Police and Health actions achieved (Te Ara Oranga, October 2020). Based on the latest update (Te Ara Oranga, April 2021), since the beginning of the programme, there have been 779 referrals to treatment, 51 firearms seized, 340 drug tests of persons on bail, 53 Reports of Concern for 122 children, 976 referrals to Choice (a oneday brief intervention programme), 894 clients and whānau supported, 270 employment referrals, 114 people supported into new work, and 11 people at risk of losing their job were helped to stay in work. Given these indicators, *Te Ara Oranga* is described as a successful partnership between New Zealand Police and the Health sector.

6.4.6 Tūturu

This project aims to assist and support schools to implement school-wide changes to reduce the harm related to alcohol and other drugs by promoting student engagement, wellbeing, and critical thinking (Boyd & Overbye, 2020; New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020; https://www.tuturu.org.nz/). It focusses on five main areas: 1) positive school environment; 2) effective education; 3) school-based support; 4) professional treatment; and 5) policies and procedures. The ultimate goal of *Tūturu* is to support students to stay engaged and learning at school. In this sense, *Tūturu* facilitates the work between health services, social services, and secondary schools to create a supportive environment, which also fosters learning (New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020).

In order to achieve the goals of the project, a range of resources were made available to schools (Boyd & Overbye, 2020). Support from the New Zealand Drug Foundation and a local youth and community alcohol and other drugs (AOD) service provider was also made available. In this sense, schools are assisted from the reflection on their needs regarding alcohol and other drugs to actioning and reviewing their AOD plan. This approach enables initiatives to be tailored to each school. New tools and resources are developed and optimised continuously according to relevant expertise and feedback from schools and providers.

A total of 11 schools in five different New Zealand regions (West Auckland, South Auckland, Waikato, Bay of Plenty, and Dunedin) were included in the two-year evaluation of the project which started in 2017 (Boyd & Overbye, 2020). This evaluation had a formative and process focus, and assessed whether *Tūturu* processes were an effective way to support schools, *Tūturu* resources and models were likely to be effective in achieving their intended outcomes, and *Tūturu* was likely to be effective in supporting changes in schools and for students. The project pilot was overseen by the ministries of Health and Education, Health Promotion Agency, and New Zealand Police (New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020).

Key findings showed that self-review tools and processes were perceived as supporting schools effectively; resources were received well by schools and perceived as helping the discussion about AOD; *Tūturu* was perceived as supporting initial changes for schools, students, and providers; and *Tūturu* was assisting schools to move away from a punitive to a preventative approach, supporting students as needed.

6.4.7 Partnership in Operations

A number of New Zealand Police operations targeting the supply of methamphetamine have also focused on directing people who use methamphetamine to treatment services and providing prevention advice (NDIB, 2017c; NDIB, 2017d). New Zealand Police has begun working alongside Ministry of Social Development, Ministry of Health, District Health Boards, lwi, among others, to tackle the methamphetamine market. Going forward, this type of collaborative partnership is being developed under programmes such as *Te Ara Oranga* (please see Section 6.4.5). It is likely many communities would benefit from such partnerships, where different organisations and agencies engage with local communities and lwi to support the long-lasting reduction of the harm caused by methamphetamine.

6.5 Summary

This chapter presented findings focusing on education, prevention, and harm reduction strategies considering the New Zealand context. Furthermore, it had the aim of listing frontline staff training initiatives working to address use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand, and existing successful partnerships between police and other agencies to support harm reduction and reduce methamphetamine use.

Overall, findings presented in this chapter showed that:

- Education and prevention strategies should be considered when addressing the harm caused by methamphetamine to New Zealand communities. They enable people who have not yet tried the drug to know more about its harmful effects, potentially avoiding use;
- Six different initiatives including education and prevention strategies being used in New Zealand were included in documents gathered – CAYAD, Stand Up!, Amplify!, What Can I Do? and Did You Know? series, and New Zealand Peer Crowd Projects. However, it is likely that there are further initiatives in place;⁵⁵
- Some harm reduction strategies implemented overseas have shown some promise, however proper assessments of harm reduction strategies to reduce risky stimulant use and overdose are lacking in the literature;
- In New Zealand, common outcome measures of treatment success include harm reduction, as well as abstinence.
 However, nationally, there is no standardised outcomes evaluation system for the addiction sector as a whole;
- New Zealand harm reduction strategies include the Needle Exchange Programme, High Alert website, Festival Drug Checking, and the DrugHelp and MethHelp initiatives. However, this is unlikely to be an exhaustive list of harm reduction strategies in place in New Zealand;⁵⁶
- There was limited information available about the general training of frontline staff working to address methamphetamine use, dependence, and treatment in New Zealand. However, the Bridging the Gap resource and the Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care resource noted training and resources which could be used to train frontline staff;
- There are multiple initiatives in New Zealand that involve partnerships between police and other agencies to support harm reduction and reduce methamphetamine use. These include Non-court Action, Alcohol and Other Drugs Treatment Court, Custody Unit Screening, Custody Mental Health Nurses, the Te Ara Oranga project, and Tūturu; and
- A number of New Zealand Police operations targeting the supply of methamphetamine have also focused on directing people who use the drug to treatment services and providing prevention advice.

⁵⁵ In this report, we describe prevention strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine), strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine, and strategies targeting other substances which could be adapted to target methamphetamine. All of these strategies were mentioned by Steering Group members or listed in documents provided by them.

⁵⁶ In this report, we describe harm reduction strategies in the broader alcohol and other drug space (which also includes methamphetamine) and strategies targeting specifically methamphetamine.

7. Withdrawal Management and Treatment

7. Withdrawal Management and Treatment

This chapter presents findings from the literature gathered by EBPC focusing on treatment interventions and psychotherapeutic therapies used both abroad and in New Zealand to treat methamphetamine abuse. Moreover, it presents information regarding withdrawal management, pharmacotherapy treatments available, the model used to treat addiction in New Zealand, addiction treatments available to the prison population in New Zealand, individual and systemic barriers to treatment, and how COVID-19 affected treatment seeking and withdrawal symptoms in New Zealand.

7.1 International Literature

7.1.1 Withdrawal Management

In a review of literature focusing on the epidemiology, medical and psychiatric effects, and treatment of methamphetamine use, Rawson (2013) observed that dysphoric mood, anhedonia, fatigue, increased appetite, sleep disturbance, and slowing or acceleration of psychomotor activity can characterise the withdrawal syndrome after heavy long-term use of methamphetamine. According to the review of literature, withdrawal symptoms generally last from several days to three weeks, but can last up to several months.

Lee (2017) argues that as acute methamphetamine withdrawal symptoms usually last from 10 to 14 days, lasting longer than for other drugs, withdrawal support has to be provided for longer when considering people who use methamphetamine compared to other substances, which impacts the amount of funding needed for the service.

7.1.2 Pharmacotherapy

The literature is sparse and there is poor quality evidence regarding amphetamine and methamphetamine pharmacotherapy treatments (Farrell et al., 2019).

Chan and colleagues (2019) conducted a meta-analysis and systematic review of literature to assess the effectiveness of different pharmacotherapy treatments for methamphetamine and amphetamine use disorders. In total, one systematic review (including 17 randomised control trials) and 17 additional randomised control trials were included in the study. Findings showed: a) low-strength evidence that methylphenidate could reduce methamphetamine/ amphetamine use; b) moderatestrength evidence that antidepressants do not significantly affect abstinence or retention; and c) low-strength evidence or insufficient findings regarding how anticonvulsants,

antipsychotics (aripiprazole), opioid antagonists (naltrexone), varenicline, and atomoxetine affected abstinence, overall use, and treatment retention.

Overall, findings suggest both that there is no effective known pharmacotherapy to date in treating methamphetamine and amphetamine use disorders, and a lack of studies in the literature investigating the effect of different pharmacotherapy treatments on methamphetamine and amphetamine use disorders (Chan et al., 2019). In this sense, more research about effective pharmacotherapies to treat methamphetamine/ amphetamine use disorder is needed, as well as studies evaluating the use of more than one substance at a given time to treat the disorder (Chan et al., 2019). Lee (2017) argues that the complex way in which methamphetamine affects the brain might be one of the reasons why a pharmacotherapy treatment which directly treats methamphetamine addiction has not been discovered.

The National Institute of Drug Abuse (2019) discusses that pharmacotherapeutic treatments targeting neuroimmune system response, cognitive enhancement, dopamine system response, other monoamines, opioid system response, GABA and glutamate systems response, and hormones are promising. In this sense, cognitive enhancers might be especially promising for clients who have cognitive deficits associated with the use of methamphetamine (Ersche & Sahakian, 2007).

7.1.3 Non-Pharmacological Interventions

A systematic review of literature by AshaRani and colleagues (2020) including 44 studies found that cognitive behavioural therapy, contingency management, exercise, residential rehabilitation-based therapies, transcranial magnetic stimulation, and matrix model were all effective interventions in promoting abstinence, and reducing methamphetamine use or craving in people who have a methamphetamine use disorder (AshaRani et al., 2020). In this review, contingency management was shown to be the most effective non-pharmacological intervention along with tailored cognitive behavioural therapy alone, or in combination with contingency management (AshaRani et al., 2020). It is important to discuss that a number of studies included in this review comprised comparisons between different types of psychosocial interventions (e.g. cognitive behavioural therapy with contingency management therapy). In this sense, these studies did not enable the comparison of treatment outcomes between a given type of intervention (e.g. cognitive behavioural therapy) and an appropriate control group in which no or minimal treatment was provided (e.g. non-structured interventions).^{57,58} Additionally, this review of literature included

57 According to Grady (2018), when assessing the efficacy of a given treatment, it is important to compare findings from the group receiving the treatment to findings from an appropriate control group so scientific validity and generalisability are preserved.

⁵⁸ Please also see discussion presented in Minozzi, Saulle, Crescenzo, & Amato (2016) for more information.

varied types of study design [e.g. randomised control trial⁵⁹ (although not always with a traditional non-treatment control group), single-arm open-label trial,⁶⁰ pragmatic trial⁶¹], which can make it difficult to form quality and reliable conclusions collectively.

A global review by Farrell and colleagues (2019), on the other hand, discusses that the majority of the existing evidence does not support psychosocial treatments (including cognitive behavioural therapy) as being more effective than *treatment as usual*⁶² in reducing stimulant use. The exceptions with evidence of success are contingency management, peer-based support groups (including 12-step programmes), and family interventions or multisystemic therapy interventions. Additional reviews of literature have suggested that contingency management is the only intervention to outperform other types of psychosocial intervention and *treatment as usual* when considering abstinence or decrease in stimulant use, although other types of treatment might not have yet been shown to be effective due to lack of appropriate studies in the field assessing effectiveness (Crescenzo et al., 2018; Minozzi et al., 2016; Ronsley et al., 2020).

In another related systematic review of literature, Stuart and colleagues (2020) assessed existing literature regarding the effectiveness of psychological treatments for methamphetamine use on psychiatric symptom outcomes. The review included ten randomised control trials reported in 14 manuscripts. Findings from three randomised control trials included in the review showed that intensive interventions had significant benefits for decreasing methamphetamine use and improving psychiatric symptomatology when compared to brief interventions and that, overall, different psychological treatments can be effective in reducing both methamphetamine use and psychiatric symptoms.

Overall, findings from a number of reviews of literature show that various psychosocial interventions are effective in reducing stimulant use and promoting abstinence, but only the contingency management approach has been shown to consistently outperform other types of psychosocial treatment such as cognitive behavioural therapy (Crescenzo et al., 2018). According to Farrell and colleagues (2019), however, contingency management has not been widely applied. Farrell and colleagues (2019) also discuss that there is some evidence in the literature regarding the effectiveness of using the contingency management approach in conjunction with the community reinforcement approach in reducing stimulant use (please see Crescenzo and colleagues, 2018).

The National Institute of Drug Abuse (2019) discusses that transcranial magnetic stimulation and neurofeedback are promising non-pharmacological treatments which need further research. Furthermore, Ersche and Sahakian (2007) discuss that given that chronic amphetamine use has been associated with cognitive deficits, it is important to consider these in a treatment setting in order to improve treatment retention and efficacy among people who use amphetamine and have a cognitive impairment. Counsellors might consider using mapping techniques to foster planning, strategies designed originally to support patients with traumatic brain injuries to aid treatment, or neurocognitive training or remediation to enhance treatment outcomes. Cognitive remediation therapy has been shown to improve executive function, self-regulation, and quality of life in a small sample of females being treated for a substance use disorder in a therapeutic community (Marceau, Berry, Lunn, Kelly, & Solowij, 2017). It has also been shown to increase the likelihood of completing the treatment programme by 165% (when compared to clients who received treatment as usual; Berry, 2016, November 23). Further studies should investigate the relevance of cognitive remediation therapy to treating substance use disorder, assessing if findings can be replicated.

Farrell and colleagues (2019) also point out that residential and inpatient treatment might be more effective for those who do not engage with community treatments, although benefits of residential treatment are often not sustained. Therefore, residential patients might benefit from ongoing support after the core treatment is finished. Lee (2017) presents data from Australia to show that those who use methamphetamine and seek treatment are initially extremely successful in discontinuing use, but that after treatment is discontinued the relapse rate increases as time passes to be similar to the relapse rate of those who did not receive treatment after three years. The presenter discusses that this might be due to the cognitive impairment associated with the use of methamphetamine, which at times leads to poor decision-making. It is therefore extremely important to provide support to clients after formal treatment is discontinued in the form of peer support, booster sessions, occasional phone calls, among others.

In this context, it is worth reviewing findings from the Pathways project, which aimed to map and measure the effectiveness of services provided to clients seeking alcohol and other drug treatment in Australia (Lubman et al., 2014). The third study within this project included baseline and follow-up interviews conducted between January 2012 and February 2014 with 554 clients of alcohol and other drug services (of 796 clients interviewed at baseline). The time between baseline and follow-up interviews ranged from 7.6 to 21.2 months, with 85% of the follow-up interviews happening between nine and 15 months after baseline.

Findings from this study showed that a higher percentage of clients who had reported methamphetamine or amphetamine as their primary drug of concern (PDOC) reported being

⁵⁹ A randomised controlled trial (RCT) is a trial in which participants are randomly assigned to the experimental group, receiving a specific type of treatment that is being tested, or the control group, receiving an alternative, conventional, treatment; Kendall, 2003). RCTs are seen as the most reliable design to assess the efficacy and safety of new treatments, although ethical reasoning is important when implementing RCTs (Grady, 2018).

⁶⁰ According to Evans (2011), single-arm trials include a sample of participants with a targeted medical condition being given a treatment and then being followed over time to observe their response to this treatment.

⁶¹ A pragmatic trial assesses how effective a treatment is in real-life routine practice conditions (Patsopoulos, 2011).

⁶² Non-structured interventions, which in most cases include some form of out-patient counselling or case management.

abstinent from their PDOC in the prior month at the follow-up interview (61%) when compared to those who had reported opioids (45%), cannabis (34%), alcohol (28%), or other drugs (40%) as their PDOC (Lubman et al., 2014). The same pattern of findings regarding different PDOCs was observed when considering abstinence from *all* drugs of concern (not just their PDOC). Further chi-square analyses showed that those who reported methamphetamine or amphetamine as their PDOC presented consistently better outcomes in terms of abstinence and success⁶⁵ than those who reported other substances as their PDOC (Lubman et al., 2014).⁶⁴

Additionally, the fourth study in the Pathways project, which included secondary data from clients stored in health sector databases, showed that the percentage of those who reported amphetamine or another stimulant as their PDOC and attended emergency departments was similar before and after treatment (Lubman et al., 2014).⁶⁵

Overall, findings from the Pathways project suggest that clients who report methamphetamine or amphetamine as their PDOC have higher levels of substance abstinence and treatment success when compared to those who report other substances as their PDOC; and that the percentage of clients who report amphetamine or other stimulants as their PDOC and attend emergency departments is similar before and after treatment. These findings show that the level of success of a treatment can vary according to the outcome being considered. In this sense, it becomes of prime importance to consider multiple abstinence and harm reduction outcomes when considering treatment success.

Finally, the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists (2019) discusses that it is also important to treat underlying issues connected to harmful substance use, and physical, psychological, and social effects arising from substance use when treating any substance use disorder. Furthermore, the organisation recommends social support services be funded in order to address the health social determinants of people with a methamphetamine use disorder.

7.1.4 Barriers to Treatment

A study conducted in the Australian Capital Territory found that lack of awareness of services by people who use methamphetamine, waiting times around services, how much treatment was perceived to cost, lack of knowledge about treatments and their effectiveness, and liking the effects of methamphetamine were perceived by people who use methamphetamine as barriers to receiving treatment (McKetin et al., 2017).

Farrell and colleagues (2019) also described in their review of literature that stigma, use of the drug as self-medication to mental health problems, low-perceived need to reduce use, and confidentiality concerns are barriers in treatment seeking by people who use stimulants.

7.2 New Zealand Literature

In the last 20 years there have been multiple advances in the New Zealand alcohol and other drug treatment space (please see timeline available in dapaanz, 2021a for further information). Among these, the dapaanz – Addiction Practitioners' Association Aotearoa New Zealand – was created in 2001 to implement and administer the standards for competent practice of alcohol and other drug workers in New Zealand (dapaanz, 2020a).

As part of their work, dapaanz has helped to professionalise the addiction sector by developing the Addiction Intervention Competency Framework⁶⁶ and the addiction practitioner role⁶⁷ (dapaanz, 2011; dapaanz, 2020a). Currently, prospect members need to attain both qualification and practice requirements before being able to register with the organisation (dapaanz, 2021c). In April 2021, there were 802 alcohol and other drug/ problem gambling practitioners registered with dapaanz (2021b). Of these, 23% reported having Māori ethnicity.

Dapaanz also published different versions of their Code of Ethics through the years, establishing the ethical obligations and responsibilities of its members (dapaanz, n.d.; dapaanz, 2020a). The latest version, published in 2020, explicitly incorporated tikanga Māori to principles and provisions presented in the Code (dapaanz, 2020b).

It is important to emphasise that the complex nature of addiction requires a bio-psycho-social response to the issue (Matua Raki, 2014). In this sense, addiction practitioners do not work in isolation in the addiction sector in New Zealand, working with other health professionals who bring additional knowledge, expertise, and skills to the field (e.g. nurses, social workers, medical practitioners). Matua Raki (2014) emphasises that this, and the factors presented next have impacted the unique culture observed in the addiction workforce in New Zealand.

Firstly, members of the addiction workforce in New Zealand usually have their own lived experience with substance use/ gambling disorders, which tends to reduce barriers between professionals and clients, and enable a collaborative person-

63 Treatment success was conceived as abstinence or at least a 50% reduction in the frequency of use of their PDOC.

64 As there were not multiple follow-up periods in this study, it is not possible to assess substance abstinence and treatment success over time per PDOC or if the same pattern of abstinence and treatment success would hold at further time points.

65 When considering other PDOCs, the percentage of clients with emergency department presentations was higher before than after treatment.

⁶⁶ The Addiction Intervention Competency Framework establishes the values, attitudes, and skills necessary to provide specialist interventions in the alcohol and other drug, tobacco, and gambling spaces.

⁶⁷ The Mental Health and Addiction Workforce Action Plan 2017–2021 describes the importance of linking education, in terms of training and development programmes, with the competencies required for workers labouring in the addiction sector (Ministry of Health, 2018b). The professionalisation of the sector was enhanced by the Substance Addiction Act 2017, which acknowledged addiction practitioners (also referred to as clinicians or counsellors) as health professionals (Ministry of Health, 2017). In this sense, addiction practitioners were required from then onwards to meet standards of care and have the necessary qualifications to work effectively in the addiction sector (Ministry of Health, 2017). Dapaanz was acknowledged as one of the specialist organisations capable of recognising the qualifications necessary to work in the field and has been leading the movement to enhance the qualifications and professionalism of the addiction workforce in New Zealand (Matua Raki, 2014; Ministry of Health, 2017). Addiction practitioners have to be registered with dapaanz in order to work in the addiction sector (Ministry of Health, 2017; Ministry of Health, 2018b).

focused approach to treatment. Secondly, the use of talking therapies as the main addiction treatment has enabled the workforce in New Zealand to develop person-focussed skills which help to engage with and retain clients in treatment. Thirdly, it is acknowledged in New Zealand that addiction is both a health and social issue. As a result, the addiction workforce is committed to working with and considering social justice issues in their practice. Lastly, the addiction workforce is focussed on harm reduction. As a result, workers have a value-neutral view of substance use and gambling and the people who show these behaviours, being able to focus on reducing the harm caused by addiction.

Ben Birks-Ang, Director of Programmes at the New Zealand Drug Foundation, emphasises that one of the fundamental differences between treatment options available in New Zealand and abroad is the quality and diversity of the therapeutic options available in New Zealand, and this is due to the breadth and depth of skill in the New Zealand addiction workforce (New Zealand Drug Foundation, June 2021). Additionally, most addiction treatment services available in New Zealand are free of charge for the client (Ministry of Health, 2018a).

7.2.1 Withdrawal Management in New Zealand

An updated version of the document Substance withdrawal management: Guidelines for medical and nurse practitioners was published in 2019 by Matua Raki. This document has the goal of providing guidelines about safer withdrawal management to the specialist addiction sector, the general addiction and allied workforces, and for people who use alcohol or other drugs and their family, whānau, and support people.

According to Matua Raki (2019), the purpose of withdrawal management is to make sure the person stopping or reducing the use of a given substance and those around them are safe while they experience withdrawal symptoms. Planned withdrawal management can also be used to engage the client in ongoing specialist addiction treatment, mental health care services, and primary care services; engage the person in psychosocial support; interrupt periods of heavy use due to neuroadaptation; and support pharmacotherapy reduction or stabilisation. It is of prime importance that withdrawal management is associated with ongoing treatment which addresses core issues and stressors associated with substance use. Used in isolation. withdrawal management can lead to repeated failed attempts to interrupt use which can lower tolerance to the substance at hand and increase both the risk of overdose and the physical impact of withdrawal.

Matua Raki (2019) discusses that while many people will choose to interrupt or decrease the use of a substance, this may not be the case when people are admitted, for instance, to hospitals and prisons. In these contexts, people might not reveal their substance use or be unaware of withdrawal symptoms. In this sense, it is extremely important to have screening and support processes in place.

Before a withdrawal management intervention is planned, it is important to assess factors such as the client's pattern of substance use; history of use; withdrawal risks; coexisting issues; social, personal, and community support context; motivation; immediate environment; and external sources of stress (Matua Raki, 2019). It is also important to provide information about withdrawal risks and ways to manage them, and withdrawal management and further treatment to both the person interrupting or decreasing substance use and their support people, so they are informed, can minimise risk, and can manage more effectively both withdrawal and further treatment. In this sense, clear information, both verbally and in writing, should be provided to whānau and a plan could be developed with the person interrupting or decreasing substance use to minimise risks.

It is also important to consider coexisting problems when managing withdrawal, making sure that prescribed medications do not interact altering their intended effects (Matua Raki, 2019). Furthermore, coexisting problems such as chronic pain and psychosis should be monitored continuously. Older people, younger people, pregnant women, and secure facilities and prison inmates are considered special populations in the withdrawal management space. Thus, members of these populations should be provided more in-depth support.

Rongoā Māori practices, which include mirimiri, rongoā, and karakia, can also be incorporated to withdrawal management as needed (Matua Ra<u>ki</u>, 2019). Rongoā Māori is centred around Māori wellbeing. There are rongoā providers who are credited by the Ministry of Health (https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/ populations/maori-health/rongoa-maori-traditional-maorihealing).

According to Matua Raki (2019), the severity of amphetaminetype stimulants' (ATS) withdrawal symptoms will depend on the extent and intensity of use, with those who smoke or inject methamphetamine presenting greater severity of withdrawal symptoms. Furthermore, many people who use ATS will 'crash' after discontinuing use and can sleep uninterruptedly for up to three days before waking up and experiencing withdrawal symptoms. Matua Raki (2019) discusses that most withdrawal symptoms peak between days two and ten, but some symptoms such as sleep disruption and mood variation can last for several months. Mild symptoms of ATS withdrawal are restlessness, lethargy, low energy, irritability, agitation, sleep problems, and low mood. Moderate symptoms of ATS withdrawal are poor concentration and memory, mood swings, anxiety, anger, diarrhoea, aches and pains, hunger, insomnia, and cravings. Severe symptoms of ATS withdrawal are depression, hallucinations, paranoia, and psychosis.

Methamphetamine detox interventions are not likely to be provided in hospitals in New Zealand as withdrawal symptoms from methamphetamine are not likely to be life threatening (NDIB, 2017c). In this sense, withdrawal management is more likely to be supported by out-patient services (Matua Raki, 2019). If withdrawal management is complicated by other factors such as polydrug use or coexisting issues such as psychosis, clients can have access to inpatient withdrawal management or respite withdrawal management beds. According to Matua Raki (2019), 30 beds were made available to support people with a methamphetamine use disorder as part of the 2009 *Tackling Methamphetamine* government plan. These beds can be used both as one-off opportunities and lead-in residential programmes.

Matua Raki also published two documents which provide advice to those who are wanting or planning to stop using alcohol and other drugs (Matua Raki, 2012), and more specifically methamphetamine (Matua Raki, 2010b). These documents provide advice on how to make the decision to discontinue use, what withdrawal symptoms to expect, average duration of withdrawal symptoms, how to organise or get support while experiencing withdrawal symptoms, how to organise a safe space to go through withdrawal, how to overcome 'cravings', how to plan the days and nights while on withdrawal, how to deal with different effects of withdrawing, and how to deal with a 'slip' or relapse in use, among other topics.

The New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020) shared with the community a peer-reviewed infographic focusing on methamphetamine withdrawal symptoms and duration during the New Zealand COVID-19 national lockdown (25th March 2020 – 28th of April). The infographic simplified relevant information without using stigmatising and judgmental language.

According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020), residential treatment programmes in New Zealand are at different stages of implementing changes regarding withdrawal. The New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020) points out that some programmes do not have the staffing capacity to address withdrawal within the programme before starting treatment per se, and are working around this limitation by requesting clients to stop using substances some days before they start the programme. However, this might not work for all clients as some might not have access to a safe space or support to go through withdrawal.

7.2.2 Pharmacotherapy

NDIB (2017c) and Matua Raki (2019) describe that there is not yet a documented effective pharmacotherapy treatment in treating amphetamine-type substance (ATS) and methamphetamine withdrawal. Instead of treating methamphetamine withdrawal per se, pharmaceuticals tend to be used to treat coexisting mental health issues such as anxiety, sleep disturbances, and psychotic episodes (NDIB, 2017c). In this sense, benzodiazepines can be used to decrease symptoms such as irritability or sleep disturbances; antidepressants can be used to decrease depressive symptoms; low levels of antipsychotics can be used to decrease sleep disturbances, agitation, and anxiety; and melatonin can be used to decrease sleep disturbances (Matua Raki, 2019). Complementary therapies such as yoga and aromatherapy can also be used to alleviate withdrawal symptoms (Matua Raki, 2019).

7.2.3 Treatment Demand and Needs

A report from NDIB (2017c) describes that the real number of people who use methamphetamine seeking help in New Zealand is unclear, but increases in the frequency of hospitalisations, helpline calls, and treatment admissions suggest that this number is high. The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) describes that 17% of the clients seeking community-based outpatient services in 2019 were seeking treatment for amphetamine-type substances, a third of the proportion of clients seeking treatment for alcohol. According to McFadden (2016), the intervention cost of amphetamine-type stimulants in 2014/2015 in New Zealand was \$16.4 million.

The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) discusses that the demand for alcohol and other drug treatment services increased by 10% between 2014 and 2017, remaining stable after that. Even with this stable demand for the past two years, the addiction services workforce employed by District Health Boards in New Zealand decreased by 17 full time equivalent roles between 2018 and 2020 (New Zealand Drug Foundation, 2020).

According to White (2016, as cited by NDIB, 2017c), based on studies conducted in the United States, being able to effectively stop using methamphetamine can take a long time and relapse is common for those trying to discontinue use. Findings from the 2018 Addiction Practitioners Association Aotearoa New Zealand (dapaanz) members' survey showed that 45% of the practitioners acknowledged their clients had used methamphetamine for five to 10 years before seeking treatment (New Zealand Drug Foundation, December 2020). The New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020) reports that this pattern continues to be observed in New Zealand.

Thus, support before, during, and after treatment is necessary when aiming to decrease methamphetamine use and sustain abstinence, and this seems to be especially lacking in New Zealand, both before people who use the drug can access treatment, and after they have been through standard treatment (NDIB, 2017d; New Zealand Drug Foundation, December 2020). The New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020) discusses that supporting clients to keep long-term abstinence and working through the cognitive impairment caused by the drug is often outside of the scope of addiction support services in New Zealand.

7.2.4 Treatment Model Used in New Zealand

Regarding treatment seeking, both people who use methamphetamine and their family might initiate treatment via self-referral, doctor referral, or referral by the Drug Helpline, among others. Meaningful interactions outside the treatment space with doctors, emergency responders, police, and the justice system might also guide people who use methamphetamine towards seeking help. According to NDIB (2017d), most people who use the drug access treatment either by referral due to a health incident or by themselves. At times, the Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Court (AODTC) might also be a pathway to treatment. Knowing others who successfully accessed treatment might also facilitate treatment seeking.

New Zealand follows a stepped care treatment logic when considering addiction services (NDIB, 2017c). In other words, the extent of the care provided varies according to client needs. A regular interaction within the stepped care approach would follow the steps below:

1. The person seeks help and is screened by a General Practioner, the Alcohol Drug Helpline, a Non-Governmental Organisation Addiction Service, a District Health Board Addiction Service, a Community Service, or an Iwi Service;

- If problematic use of a substance is verified, a detailed assessment is made. This includes the assessment of the motivation to discontinue use, support, treatment history, severity of the addiction, other substance use, associated issues, cultural concerns, and physical health of the client;
- If only low needs are verified, the client is referred to an outpatient addiction service, which includes individual or group counselling support;
- 4. If high needs are verified, the client is referred either to a day stay or intensive addiction treatment, or to a residential care addiction service. Day stay and intensive outpatient addiction treatments include group work with clients, family, and whānau, medication for associated issues, and individual counselling. Residential addiction services include intensive treatment and group sessions with individuals, family, and whānau; and
- 5. Finally, the client is followed-up after treatment and ongoing care is provided when needed.

The National Organised Crime Group (NOCG; 2020a) observe that it can take up to eight weeks for the person who uses the drug to get an appointment to be screened for their substance use in New Zealand. Furthermore, they add that support services throughout the country inconsistently include support to obtain employment and accommodation.

The guidelines provided by Matua Raki (2010a) specify what care could and should be provided to people ceasing to use amphetamine-type substances and, in particular, methamphetamine. The document also specifies best practices when working with specific subgroups of the population such as Māori, Pacific Islanders, and young people. Additionally, the document discusses how to involve close relatives and whānau in the treatment process. Currently, there are support programmes in New Zealand which aim to support close relatives or whānau members of people who use drugs and have been affected by their use (Northland DHB, 2020a; Northland DHB, 2020b; Northland DHB, 2020c).

7.2.5 Treatment Approaches Used in New Zealand

There were three main treatment approaches being used in New Zealand in 2017 (NDIB, 2017c). These are presented in the next subsections. It is important to emphasise that, independent of the treatment approach being used, *case management* is extremely important in order to optimise treatment outcomes. *Case management* is a coordination role that brings together information, resources, and support for clients to achieve their goals regarding substance harm reduction or abstinence (Matua Raki, 2014). In this sense, *case management* will ensure that clients have sufficient information to make treatment choices, are linked with other services as needed, and have their needs advocated for (Matua Raki, 2014).

7.2.5.1 Brief Intervention

This type of intervention focuses on changing simple behaviours in order to decrease drug use and the harm caused by the drug. In this sense, first a discussion about how the drug affects the physical and mental health of the client takes place and then simple behavioural changes which could decrease the harm caused by the drug are discussed (NDIB, 2017c). The main goal of the treatment is for the client to introduce simple behavioural changes in their lives which could decrease harm.

Brief interventions can be provided either in a non-specialist (e.g. when drug abuse is observed after screening during a medical appointment for other health reason) or specialist setting (e.g. when addiction practitioners provide the brief intervention in an addiction treatment service after clients have requested their assistance; Matua Raki, 2014). Brief interventions provided in a non-specialist setting generally last from a few minutes to one hour and may also involve a follow-up session (Matua Raki, 2014). Brief interventions provided in a specialist setting are generally offered as an initial step in the stepped-care treatment logic and involve one to four sessions (Matua Raki 2014).

The SACS ABC Brief Intervention manual (Werry Workforce Whāraurau, 2017) details how to implement a brief intervention with the goal of decreasing substance-related harm among young people aged from 13 to 20 years old. The SACS ABC approach includes three main steps: administering the Substance and Choices Scale (A); delivering feedback and advice to the young person (B); and referring the young person to counselling/ treatment (C) (Werry Workforce Whāraurau, 2017). An evaluation of the SACS ABC and E-SACS (electronic version of the SACS) resources and training suggested that SACS ABC resources were perceived to be excellent tools to be used in practice by school nurses, being simple, effective, concise and user friendly; and SACS ABC and E-SACS training were perceived by school nurses to be very effective, providing them with confidence and skills to use the tools in their work (Ang & Andrews, 2018).

Brief advice cards, including one focusing on methamphetamine use, were created by the New Zealand Drug Foundation and Werry Workforce Whāraurau (2017) to complement the SACS ABC approach, helping health professionals to discuss substance use with young people (New Zealand Drug Foundation, November 2020). The brief advice cards include situational cues which remind health professionals to discuss substance use and signalise to young people that it is OK to discuss substance use with health professionals. According to Ang and Andrews (2018), the brief advice card focusing on methamphetamine use has been heavily distributed to non-governmental organisations, public health service agencies, high schools, among other types of services and agencies.

7.2.5.2 Community Based Out-Patient Programmes

This type of intervention provides care to clients without taking them from their immediate environment. In this sense, clients attend individual or group psychosocial therapy sessions or peer support sessions in a facility but are free to go home after sessions (NDIB, 2017c). This treatment type is provided in New Zealand by addiction treatment services coordinated by different District Health Boards and non-governmental organisations.

Since 1st July 2015, community-based outpatient adult addiction services have been requested by the Ministry of Health to collect information from patients and report it to the PRIMHD, a single data source including service activity and outcomes data for health consumers who use mental health and addiction services in New Zealand. This information is collected using the Alcohol and Drug Outcome Measure (ADOM), which includes questions focusing on demographics, type and frequency of substance use, lifestyle and wellbeing, and satisfaction with recovery (Te Pou o te Whakaaro Nui, 2015).

An evaluation of outpatient treatment programmes comprising data collected using the ADOM and including only those who used Amphetamine-Type Stimulants and who had been discharged from treatment programmes between 1st January 2017 and 31st December 2019 showed that on average, patients had decreased use from 11.1 days in the last 28 days when they first started the treatment to 2.9 days on discharge (Te Pou o te Whakaaro Nui, 2020). Likewise, fewer patients reported weekly physical health issues (18% versus 32%), mental health issues (24% versus 49%), friend/family arguments (12% versus 34%), meaningful activity issues (15% versus 35%), housing issues (9% versus 16%), and criminal activity (9% versus 20%) on discharge. Also, 53% (in comparison to 50%) of the patients reported engaging at least weekly with work, study, or caregiving activities on discharge. The extent to which patients thought they were closer to their recovery goal also increased on discharge, with an average of 6.7 in a 10-point scale on discharge in comparison to an average of 5.0 when they first started treatment.

However, community based out-patient treatment is not the most effective type of treatment for everyone as per stepped care approach logic. Bowman and colleagues (2019) reported in their research with 54 prisoners living in New Zealand that community treatment had been largely ineffective for the group they studied, reporting that prisoners acknowledged that they needed to spend time incarcerated to clear the drug from their system in order to appreciate the extent of their addiction, understand the impact the drug was having on them and others around them, and get help.

Likewise, Bowman, Morrison, and Bevan (2018) found that some of the 23 prisoners interviewed had not previously realised they were addicted to methamphetamine. Others believed they had functioned well while using methamphetamine and, it was only in hindsight, with the benefit of the *Meth and Me* treatment component offered by the Department of Corrections while they were in prison, that they realised they were engaged in some 'silly and dangerous' activities.

7.2.5.3 Residential Programmes

This type of programme includes 24-hour care inside a facility and tends to last from eight to 24 weeks (NDIB, 2017c). Each admission to the programme is estimated to cost from \$15,000 to \$20,000. According to Matua Raki (2014), residential programmes (also referred to as therapeutic communities) allow transformation in the client's conduct, attitudes,

and emotions in an environment where these are monitored and mutually reinforced by the daily regime. Matua Raki (2014) emphasises that most residential programmes also provide a phased re-introduction of the client back into their community after treatment, providing also after-care.

According to an NDIB (2017c) report, from 2009 to the end of 2016, 54 adult residential packages had been funded by the Methamphetamine Action Plan. These had been provided by Higher Ground, Moana House, The Salvation Army, Odyssey House, Raukura Hauora O Tainui Trust, and Manaki Ora Trust. According to NDIB (2017c), a total of 400 patients were treated in 2014, 285 were treated in 2015, and 327 were treated in 2016 by these treatment providers.

NDIB (2017c) refers to high demand for residential care treatment in New Zealand, highlighting that this type of service cannot be promptly and easily expanded if necessary. Additionally, the New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) reports that anecdotal evidence suggests that there are currently large waitlists for treatment services across New Zealand, particularly for residential programmes. Furthermore, according to the foundation, waitlists have increased also due to the effects of COVID-19.

According to numerous treatment providers, treatment needs to be available quickly once the demand is established as the motivation of people who use methamphetamine to adhere to treatment is usually only transitory (Providers, 2016 as cited by NDIB, 2017c). NDIB (2017d) describes that Higher Ground had a total of 52 spaces available in 2017 and that the waiting period for admission to the facility in March 2017 was approximately three to four months.

Odyssey House (n.d.) created a series of workbooks for young clients considering entering their alcohol and other drugs residential treatment programme, starting their detoxing programme at home, and finishing their residential treatment programme. They also created a workbook aimed at helping those supporting young people to reduce or stop using alcohol and other drugs. Together, the workbooks not only explain what is expected to happen during a residential treatment programme, but also how to prepare for it, how to sustain treatment programme benefits after leaving the residential treatment facility, and how family can support those attending residential treatment before, during, and after treatment.

Among other tips, the workbooks advise clients how to have well-defined timetables, look after their wellbeing and emotions, manage withdrawal, plan around money, celebrate progress, and minimise alcohol and other drug triggers. The material also explains that 'slip ups' can happen during treatment, adopting a kinder approach towards drug use relapse and 'getting back on track'. According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020), Odyssey House adapted their residential group treatment programme to young people to ensure it matched their needs, focusing on the emotional and social competencies impacted by substance use.

According to NDIB (2017c), Higher Ground, Salvation Army, and Moana House have evaluated the outcomes of the care they provide. Overall, findings within these evaluations have shown positive outcomes such as increased motivation in not using the substance, increase in abstinence rates, and lower scores in post-traumatic stress disorder and anxiety measures after treatment (King & Stephenson, 2016; NDIB, 2017c). It is important to mention that the evaluations reported here were not standardised. Thus, they used different tools and measures to assess outcomes.

7.2.6 Non-Pharmacological Interventions Used in New Zealand

An NDIB report (2017c) described that different psychotherapeutic therapies and techniques are used by addiction treatment services in New Zealand and these have been supported by several studies as effective in treating clients with methamphetamine use disorders. Likewise, Matua Raki (2014) described that the psycho-social interventions used in the addiction sector in New Zealand were either evidence-based or currently considered best practice.

Matua Ra<u>k</u>i (2014) discusses that most of the interventions used in New Zealand are based on cognitive behavioural theories of human behaviour, focusing on the person's psychology, but also considering the social context in which cognitions and behaviours happen (Matua Ra<u>k</u>i, 2014). These interventions, or talking therapies, are provided in New Zealand both through individual counselling and educational or therapeutic groups (e.g. 12-step groups and peer support groups).

NDIB (2017c) and Matua Raki (2014) described the use of cognitive behavioural therapy,⁶⁸ motivational interviewing, dialectical behaviour therapy, moral reconation therapy, contingency management, social behaviour network therapy, relapse prevention, behavioural self-control training, coping and social skills training, community reinforcement approach, 2-step approach, matrix model, traditional cultural therapies, and family inclusive practice in New Zealand.

7.2.7 Treatment Provided by the Department of Corrections

According to the New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020), many people get treatment for alcohol and other drugs for the first time in their lives only when they go to prison. According to the foundation, 1,824 people received treatment while they were in prison in 2019. Among these, 38% were under 30 years old and 48% were Māori.

NOCG (2020a) explain that the Department of Corrections support prisoners to treat their substance addiction both during and after the custodial prison sentence, following the process below:

- All prisoners are screened for their substance use and provided a brief alcohol and other drug intervention;
- 2. Prisoners are then directed to different treatment programmes according to how problematic their substance use is, and the availability of programmes. Treatment programmes

provided by the Department of Corrections include Alcohol and Other Drug Brief Support Programme, Alcohol and Other Drug Intermediate Support Programme, Intensive Treatment Programme, and Drug Treatment Units; and

 Prisoners are supported to continue their treatment journey when they leave prison via aftercare workers, who support ex-prisoners to contact support groups, and the RecoverRing phoneline – a 24/7 phoneline to assist prisoners, offenders, and whānau.

According to NOCG (2020a), the reimprisonment rate has been shown to decrease between five to 10% for prisoners who went through *drug treatment units*, which are longer-term treatment programmes which last three or six months. NOCG (2020a) also describe that there is no treatment available for suspects in the community awaiting conviction or sentencing specifically. It may therefore be relevant to implement a treatment pathway specifically for this population.

Bowman and colleagues (2019) note in their report that the 54 prisoners who took part in their study had completed or were about to complete a drug treatment programme provided by the Department of Corrections. These treatment programmes included *SBIRT (Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment), Meth and Me*, and a *DTP (Drug Treatment Programme)* with the module *Meth and Me*. Interviewees generally found the drug treatment programmes undertaken inside prison useful.

According to prisoners, the treatment programmes aided them to understand why they used the drug, also providing strategies to prevent use when they were released from prison. It seemed important to interviewees to learn during treatment about the impact that their methamphetamine use had on other people, acknowledging the burden on family and others who bought the drug from them. Regarding limitations in the treatment provided, an evaluation of the *Meth and Me* treatment component showed that the content of the course material could be improved, although interviewees still saw value in the treatment (Bowman et al., 2018).

Most interviewees in Bowman and colleagues' (2019) study planned not to use methamphetamine when they returned to the community, to find work, and to rekindle relationships with family. In this sense, it is of prime importance to provide ongoing support to prisoners before, during, and after release, helping them to harness this motivation. Support to structure their lives and make concrete plans is important in this context. Structuring a release plan and helping prisoners to find employment and accommodation on release might be a start point on their treatment journey after prison.

⁶⁸ Matua Raki (2014) acknowledges contingency management, social behaviour network therapy, relapse prevention, behavioural self-control training, coping and social skills training, and community reinforcement approach as interventions based on cognitive behavioural principles.

Methamphetamine in New Zealand: What is currently known about the harm it causes?

7.2.8 Barriers to Treatment

Individual barriers identified in New Zealand research which prevent people who use methamphetamine from seeking treatment include problem denial, positive effects of the drug, pressure from peers to keep using the drug, not having correct information or having limited information about treatment options, perceived inability to stop using the drug, belief that one does not deserve to recover, shame, stigma, and lack of trust (NDIB, 2017c; NDIB; 2017d).

Barriers to treatment in New Zealand at the system level include unavailability of services, funding scarcity/lack of resourcing, limited access hours of services, limited awareness of services, and large physical distances between services available and the client (NDIB, 2017c). The diversity and availability of services in New Zealand varies across Districts and area types, with rural areas presenting generally fewer options of services than urban areas (NDIB, 2017c).

7.2.9 COVID-19 and Treatment

During the COVID-19 lockdown, NDIB and the New Zealand Drug Foundation conducted a survey of 60 drug treatment clients and 64 Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) treatment providers (NDIB, May 2020).

Among treatment providers, 38% specified that no changes needed to be implemented to services in response to COVID-19. However, difficulty in contacting and liaising with clients was reported as a barrier, particularly for the most vulnerable clients. Service providers also reported concerns with the quality of engagement with clients, access to treatment for those without internet access, and how referrals were done. During the COVID-19 lockdown, drug addiction treatment referrals dropped, possibly due to people who use drugs not being able to have access to services which could refer them to drug addiction treatment (NDIB, May 2020). The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) reports that another barrier for clients accessing treatment services during lockdown was the need for some to focus first on basic needs, such as food and shelter, before focusing on addiction issues.

Additionally, both service providers and clients reported a change in demand for withdrawal management, with 28% of clients reporting withdrawal symptoms in connection to COVID-19 restrictions (NDIB, May 2020). Treatment providers reported that some of the clients were seeking treatment due to increasing drug prices and the difficulty in affording these (NDIB, June 2020).

The demand for treatment services in connection with COVID-19 was inconsistent based on treatment providers' reports, and it was likely that it would continue to be inconsistent once COVID-19 restrictions were lifted due to different patterns of drug use across the country (NDIB, June 2020). The New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020) discusses that there may be an increase over the medium and long term for treatment services due to the changes in the New Zealand drug market over lockdown.

7.3 Summary

This chapter described findings from the literature gathered by EBPC focusing on the model used to treat addiction in New Zealand, and treatment interventions and psychotherapeutic therapies used both abroad and in New Zealand to treat methamphetamine abuse. Furthermore, it briefly described withdrawal management guidelines, pharmacotherapeutic options to treat methamphetamine withdrawal symptoms, addiction treatments available to the prison population in New Zealand, individual and systemic barriers to treatment, and how COVID-19 affected treatment seeking and withdrawal symptoms management in New Zealand.

Overall, findings presented in this chapter showed that:

- International literature is sparse regarding pharmacotherapy treatments for amphetamine and methamphetamine, and existing evidence is of poor quality;
- Findings from different reviews of literature show that various psychosocial interventions are effective in reducing stimulant use and abstinence, but only the contingency management approach has been shown in the literature to consistently outperform other types of psychosocial treatment. Moreover, the literature suggests that it is also important to treat underlying issues connected to harmful substance use, and physical, psychological, and social effects arising from substance use when treating any substance use disorder;
- A study from Australia showed that those who use methamphetamine and seek treatment are initially extremely successful in discontinuing use, but that after treatment is discontinued the relapse rate increases as time passes to be similar to the relapse rate of those who did not receive treatment after three years. In this sense, it is extremely important to provide support to clients after treatment is discontinued in the form of peer support, booster sessions, occasional phone calls, among others;
- In the last 20 years there have been multiple advances in the New Zealand alcohol and other drug treatment space. One of these advances was the development and professionalisation of the addiction practitioner role;
- Methamphetamine withdrawal management is usually supported by out-patient services in New Zealand, as withdrawal symptoms are not life threatening. The literature suggests withdrawal management should be associated with ongoing treatment which addresses core issues and stressors associated with substance use;
- Support before, during, and after treatment is necessary when aiming to decrease methamphetamine use and sustain abstinence, and this seems to be especially lacking in New Zealand, both before people who use the drug can access treatment, and after they have been through standard treatment;
- New Zealand follows a stepped care treatment logic when considering addiction services, with clients receiving care according to their level of need;

- As at 2017, there were three main treatment approaches being used in New Zealand – Brief Intervention, Community Based Out-Patient Programmes, and Residential Programmes;
- The Department of Corrections provides access to a number of treatment programmes to prisoners who have a methamphetamine use disorder, and these programmes are generally perceived by prisoners to be useful;
- Individual barriers which prevent people who use methamphetamine from seeking treatment in New Zealand are problem denial, positive effects of the drug, pressure from peers to keep using the drug, not having correct information or having limited information about treatment options, perceived inability to stop using the drug, belief that one does not deserve to recover, shame, stigma, and lack of trust;
- Barriers to treatment in New Zealand at the system level include unavailability of services, funding scarcity, lack of resourcing, limited access hours of services, limited awareness of services, and big physical distance between services available and the client; and
- COVID-19 was perceived by service providers to have increased difficulty in contacting clients enrolled in treatment, decreased the number of referrals to addiction treatment during lockdown, and as impacting withdrawal symptoms in people who use drugs.

Conclusion

This report included a stocktake of literature focusing on the harm methamphetamine causes to New Zealand communities. It included literature provided or mentioned by members of the Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group, which includes members from multiple agencies invested in decreasing the harm methamphetamine causes to New Zealand.⁶⁹ These agencies have overseen the current stocktake of literature, bringing a wealth of knowledge and experience, and different perspectives to the table. Testament to this are the 279 documents mentioned or provided by Steering Group members to the Evidence Based Policing Centre during this piece of work.

Different chapters of the report focused on different perspectives on the topic. Chapter 3 focused on people who use the drug, presenting information about methamphetamine use prevalence in New Zealand, the journey and profile of people who use the drug, and the harmful effects of the drug on people who use it, their family, their whānau, and the community in which they live.

Chapter 4 focused on the association between methamphetamine use and other types of crimes presenting information from academic and agency-based studies assessing the association of methamphetamine use and methamphetamine-related charges with violent offending, family harm, acquisitive crimes, involvement in road trauma, and money laundering.

Chapter 5 focused on the methamphetamine business, presenting information and trends on methamphetamine production, importation, and distribution in New Zealand. Chapter 6 focused on strategies in the education, prevention, harm reduction, staff training, and partnership spaces to address methamphetamine use and treatment, presenting initiatives already in place or which could be adapted to the methamphetamine space. Finally, chapter 7 focused on methamphetamine withdrawal management and treatment, providing information on what is already known about these internationally and the withdrawal management and treatment models used in New Zealand.

Overall, the literature presented in this report showed that methamphetamine use takes place all over New Zealand and this drug reaches communities throughout the country. Thus, the potential for harm is extensive. It also showed that the New Zealand methamphetamine market is seen as extremely desirable by transnational syndicates based in the Golden Triangle and in Mexico and criminal business entities based in New Zealand. And it is likely that these groups will continue motivated to produce, import, and distribute methamphetamine in New Zealand.

However, the information presented in the report is not all negative. It also highlights strategies in the prevention, harm reduction, withdrawal management, and treatment spaces which could continue to be funded, expanded nationally, or adapted to better fit the methamphetamine space. Thus, there is some light in the end of the tunnel if work is put into these strategies.

Overall from the research the documents reviewed it can be concluded that more research is needed in the New Zealand context on the extent of the harm caused by methamphetamine in order to fully understand the magnitude of the issue. It is of prime importance to regularly collect reliable data about methamphetamine use prevalence rates in the New Zealand population and the harms associated with the drug, so information on the topic is 1) up to date; 2) can be used to portray a current picture of the issue at hand; and 3) to track changes over time in the methamphetamine space. Following this, the pathways to prevention and recovery may require further research to address the nuances of the New Zealand methamphetamine context.

The methamphetamine issue in New Zealand, though still to be fully understood, is clearly a multifaceted problem that requires a multi-agency approach to New Zealand-based future research methodology and response. A holistic view to reducing the harm caused to New Zealand individuals, whānau, and communities by the methamphetamine issue is paramount. The multi-agency Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group will go some way to ensuring this approach is realised.

69 Methamphetamine in New Zealand Steering Group members belong to different groups within New Zealand Police, Department of Corrections, Higher Ground Rehabilitation Trust, Ministry of Health, Ministry of Social Development, New Zealand Customs Service, New Zealand Drug Foundation, Tühoe Te Uru Taumatua, University of New South Wales, and University of Otago.

References

- Aliyu, M. H., Wilson, R. E., Zoorob, R., Brown, K., Alio, A. P., Clayton, H., & Salihu, H. M. (2009). Prenatal alcohol consumption and fetal growth restriction: Potentiation effect by concomitant smoking. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, *11*(1), 36-43. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntn014
- Amplify (2011). What is Amplify!?. Retrieved from http://www.amplify. org.nz/what_is_amplify
- Ang, B. B., & Andrews, S. (2018). Preparing young people to live in a world where alcohol and other drugs exist. New Zealand: Werry Workforce WHĀRAURAU, Odyssey House, and New Zealand Drug Foundation. Retrieved from https://www.matuaraki.org.nz/ uploads/files/resource-assets/ Youth_Resources_Ben_Birks_%20 Ang_Samuel_Andrews_NZ_Drug_ Foundation_MIchelle_Fowler_Werry_ Workforce_Wharaurau.pdf
- Arunogiri, S., Foulds, J. A., McKetin, R., & Lubman, D. I. (2018). A systematic review of risk factors for methamphetamine-associated psychosis. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *52*(6), 514-529. doi: 10.1177/0004867417748
- Arunogiri, S., McKetin, R., Verdejo-Garcia, A., & Lubman, D. I. (2018). The methamphetamine-related psychosis spectrum: a clinically focused review. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 18, 54-65. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11469-018-9934-4
- AshaRani, P. V., Hombali, A., Seow, E., Ong, W. J., Tan, J. H., & Subramanian, M. (2020). Non-pharmacological interventions for methamphetamine use disorder: a systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 212*, 108060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drugalcdep.2020.108060

- Australasian College for Emergency Medicine (2020). Alcohol and methamphetamine harm in Emergency Departments: Findings from the 2019 Snapshot Survey. Retrieved from https://acem.org.au/getattachment/ News/November-2020/Alcoholand-methamphetamine-harm-in-NZ-EDs/Alcohol-Snapshot-Report. pdf?lang=en-AU
- Bax, T. (2021). The life-course of methamphetamine users in Aotearoa/ New Zealand: School friendship and work. *Journal of Criminology*, 1-23. https://doi. org/10.1177/26338076211017180
- Berry, J. (2016, November 23). Cognitive impairment in AOD: Assessment and treatment [Conference session]. 2016 Addiction Leadership Day, Christchurch, New Zealand. Retrieved from https://www.matuaraki.org. nz/initiatives/addiction-leadershipdays/139
- Best Practice Advocacy Centre New Zealand (2018). Addressing methamphetamine use in primary care. Retrieved from https://bpac.org. nz/2018/meth.aspx
- Biddle, D.-L. (2020). Man sentenced after 'drug-induced rampage through streets of Auckland. Retrieved from https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/ crime/119421021/man-sentencedafter-druginduced-rampage-throughstreets-of-auckland
- Boden, J. M., Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2013). Alcohol misuse and criminal offending: Findings from a 30-year longitudinal study. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 128 (1-2), 30-36. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.07.014
- Boets, S., Meesmann, U., Klipp, S., Bukasa, B., Braun, E., Panosch, E., Wenninger, U., Rösner, S., Kraus, L., & Assailly, J.-P. (2008). State of the art on driver rehabilitation: Literature analysis & provider survey. DRUID Deliverable

5.1.1. Belgium: Belgian Road Safety Institute. Retrieved from http://www. bast.de/Druid/EN/deliverales-list/ downloads/Deliverable_5_1_1.pdf?__ blob=publicationFile

- Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence (2020). Joint Strategic Threat Assessment 2020. Internal Border and Migration Five Heads of Intelligence report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- Border Five Analysis Working Group (2019). Joint Intelligence Assessment: submission-methamphetamine and precursors. Joint intelligence assessment: product number 19/20/00814. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- Bowman, J., Morrison, B., & Bevan, M. (2018). Evaluation of the Meth and Me component of the Drug Treatment Programme. New Zealand: Department of Corrections.
- Bowman, J., Morrison, B., & Bevan,
 M. (2019). Chasing that high:
 Methamphetamine use and treatment experiences among New Zealand prisoners. New Zealand: Department of Corrections.
- Boyd, S., & Overbye, S. (2020). Tūturu
 "has changed the focus from punitive to pastoral": Learnings and outcomes from the second year of Tūturu.
 Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Council for Educational Research.
 Internal report to the New Zealand
 Drug Foundation: unpublished (CONFIDENTIAL).
- Brunton, J. F. (March 2019). Affidavit of John Francis Brunton. In Jing Uang Zhang v The Queen; Shane Thompson v The Queen; Jonelle Rachel Phillips v The Queen.

- Bukasa, B., Braun, E., Wenninger, U., Panosch, E., Klipp, S., Boets, S., Meesmann, U., Roesner, S., Kraus, L., Gaitanidou, L., Assailly, J.-P., & Billiard, A. (2009). Validation of existing driver rehabilitation measures. DRUID Deliverable 5.2.4. Austria: Austrian Road Safety Board. Retrieved from https://vias.be/publications/ DRUID%20-%20Deliverable%20 5.2.4%20-%20Validation%20 of%20Existing%20Driver%20 Rehabilitation%20Measures/DRUID-5.2.4.pdf
- Bukasa, B., Klipp, S., Braun, E., Panosch, E., Wenninger, U., Boets, S., Meesmann, U., Ponocny-Seliger, E., & Assailly, J.-P. (2008). Good Practice: In-depth analysis on recidivism reasons & analysis of change process and components in driver rehabilitation courses. DRUID Deliverable 5.2.1. Austria: Austrian Road Safety Board. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/257898235_Good_ Practice_In-Depth_Analysis_on_ Recidivism_Reasons_Analysis_of_ Change_Process_and_Components_ in_Driver_Rehabilitation_Courses/ link/02e7e526101813b9c2000000/ download
- Community Action on Youth and Drugs (n.d.). CAYAD. Retrieved from https:// cayad.org.nz/
- Crescenzo, F. D., Ciabattini, M., D'Alò, G. L., Giorgi, R. D., Giovane, C. D., Cassar, C., Janiri, L., Clark, N., Ostacher, M. J., & Cipriani, A. (2018). Comparative efficacy and acceptability of psychosocial interventions for individuals with cocaine and amphetamine addiction: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *PloS Med*, *15*(12): EE1002715. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002715
- Cumming, C., Kinner, S. A., McKetin, R. A., Li, I., & Preen, D. (2020). Methamphetamine use, health and criminal justice system outcomes: A systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 39*, 505-518. doi: 10.1111/ dar.13062

- Curative (2020). DrugHelp website redevelopment. Insights, findings and recommendations. Internal New Zealand Drug Foundation report: unpublished
- dapaanz (n.d.). Code of Ethics: Addiction Practitioners' Association Aotearoa-New Zealand. Retrieved from https://www.dapaanz.org.nz/ vdb/document/20
- dapaanz (2011). Addiction Intervention Competency Framework. Retrieved from https://www.dapaanz.org.nz/ vdb/document/22
- dapaanz (2020a). Membership and Practitioner Registration Policy. Retrieved from https://www.dapaanz. org.nz/vdb/document/214
- dapaanz (2020b). Tikanga Matatika: Dapaanz Code of Ethics. Retrieved from https:// www.dapaanz.org.nz/vdb/ document/186#:~:text=Tikanga%20 Matatika%20%E2%80%93%20 dapaanz%20Code%20of,of%20 all%20members%20of%20 dapaanz.&text=Dapaanz%20 acknowledges%20M%C4%81ori%20 as%20a,for%20supporting%20 wellbeing%20for%20all
- dapaanz (2021a). How New Zealand has supported people with addictions has changed. Retrieved from https://www. dapaanz.org.nz/how-support-foraddictions-has-changed
- dapaanz (2021b). *Membership dashboard* – *April 2021*. Retrieved from https://www.dapaanz.org.nz/vdb/ document/252
- dapaanz (2021c). *Registration criteria*. Retrieved from https://www.dapaanz. org.nz/registration-criteria
- Darke, S., Kaye, S., McKetin, R., & Duflou, J. (2008). Major physical and psychological harms of methamphetamine use. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 27*(3), 253-262. doi: 10.1080/09595230801923702
- Devlin, C. (2019). Government quietly scraps Meth Action Plan 2020. Retrieved from https://www.stuff. co.nz/national/politics/113636016/ government-quietly-scraps-methaction-action-plan-2020

- Domett, T., Coker, J., & Sinclair, R. (2020). *New Zealand Peer Crowd projects: Formative evaluation report*. New Zealand: Cogo and Odyssey House.
- DOT loves data (2019). *New Zealand Police: Wellbeing in Wairoa.* Internal DOT loves data presentation: unpublished.
- Dowling, C., & Morgan, A. (2018). Is methamphetamine use associated with domestic violence? *Trends & issues in crime and criminal justice,* 563. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. Retrieved from https:// www.aic.gov.au/publications/tandi/ tandi563
- Drug Information and Alerts Aotearoa New Zealand (2020). *High Alert: An early warning system for dangerous drugs*. Retrieved from https://www. highalert.org.nz/
- Drug Help (2018). *METH HELP: How to* stay in control. Retrieved from https:// www.drugfoundation.org.nz/assets/ uploads/2018-uploads/MethHelp-Handbook-2018-Edition.pdf
- Ersche, K., & Sahakian, B. J. (2007). The neuropsychology of amphetamine and opiate dependence: Implications for treatment. *Neuropsychology Review*, 17(3), 317-336. doi:10.1007/s11065-007-9033-y
- ESR (2020). 2020DecInterim (Unpublished raw data). National Organised Crime Group. Internal New Zealand Police dataset: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- ESR (March 2021). SCORE monitoring 2019. Internal ESR brief: unpublished.
- Evans, S. R. (2011). Clinical trials structure. J Exp Stroke Transl Med., 3(1), 8-18.
- Evidence Based Policing Centre (2020). Methamphetamine in New Zealand: Briefing to the Organised Crime Governance Group. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished.
- Farrell, M., Martin N. K., Stockings, E., Bórquez, A., Cepeda, J. A., Degenhardt, L., Ali, R., Tran, L. T., Rehm, J., Torrens, M., Shoptaw, S., & McKetin, R. (2019). Responding to global stimulant use:

challenges and opportunities. *The Lancet, 3*94(10209), 1652-1667. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32230-5 P1652

- Ferris, J., Mazerolle, L., King, M., Bates, L., Bennett, S., Devaney, M. (2013). Random breath testing in Queensland and Western Australia: Examination of how the random breath testing rate influences alcohol related traffic crash rates. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 60, 181-188. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.aap.2013.08.018
- Financial Crime Group (January 2021a). Dashboard – CPRA (Criminal Proceeds (Recovery) Act 2009. Internal New Zealand Police dashboard: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- Financial Crime Group (January 2021b). FW: Asset Restraints linked to Methamphetamine. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- Flemming, C. (2020). Gang member's meth-fuelled rampage: Rotorua police cars rammed and officers injured. Retrieved from https://www. nzherald.co.nz/rotorua-daily-post/ news/gang-members-meth-fuelledrampage-rotorua-police-carsrammed-and-officers-injured/ SDOPFGD47E65VAKAMV7SSZ6LXE/
- Fleming, T., Ball, J., Kang, K., Sutcliffe, K., Lambert, M., Peiris-John, R., & Clark, T. (2020a). Youth19: Youth Voice Brief. The Youth19 Research Group, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Fleming, T., Ball, J., Peiris-John, R., Crengle, S., Bavin, L., Tiatia-Seath, J., Archer, D., & Clark, T. (2020b). Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey, Initial Findings: Substance Use. Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.
- Foulds, J. A., Boden, J. M., McKetin, R., & Newton-Howes (2020). Methamphetamine use and violence: Findings from a longitudinal birth cohort. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 207, 107826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drugalcdep.2019.107826

- Foulds, J. A., & Nutt, D. (2020). Principled sentencing for drug supply offences: Revised methamphetamine sentencing guidelines in New Zealand. Drug Science, Policy and Law, 6, 1-7. doi: 10.1177/2050324520942347
- Global Drug Survey (2020). GDS COVID-19 special edition report New Zealand – Other Drugs: Use & changes. United Kingdom: Global Drug Survey.
- Global drug Survey (2021). About Global Drug Survey. Retrieved from https:// www.globaldrugsurvey.com/about-us/
- Goldsmid, S., & Willis, M. (2016). Methamphetamine use and acquisitive crime: Evidence of a relationship. *Trends & issues in crime and criminal justice, 516.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. Retrieved from https://www.aic.gov.au/ publications/tandi/tandi516
- Government Inquiry into Mental Health and Addiction (2018). Report of the Government Inquiry into Mental Health and Addiction. New Zealand. Retrieved from https://mentalhealth. inquiry.govt.nz/assets/Summaryreports/He-Ara-Oranga.pdf
- Grady, C. (2018). Ethical principles in clinical research. In John I. G. & Frederick, P. O. (Eds.), *Principles and practice of clinical research* (pp. 19-30). Elsevier.
- Hser, Y-I., Huang, D., Brecht M-L., Li, L., & Evans, E. (2008). Contrasting trajectories of heroin, cocaine, and methamphetamine use. Journal of Addictive Diseases, 27(3), 13-21. http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/10550880802122554
- Indig, D., Gear, C., & Wilhelm, K. (2016). Comorbid substance use disorders and mental health disorders among New Zealand prisoners. New Zealand: Department of Corrections.
- Indig, D., Gear, C., & Wilhelm, K. (2017). Impact of stimulant dependence on the mental health of New Zealand prisoners. New Zealand: Department of Corrections.

- Kendall, J. M. (2003). Designing a research project: randomised controlled trials and their principles. *Emergency Medicine Journal, 20*, 164-168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ emj.20.2.164
- King, J., & Stephenson, B. (2016). *Review* of outcomes for clients of Higher *Ground*. Auckland, New Zealand: Higher Ground Drug Rehabilitation Trust.
- Kittirattanapaiboon, P., Mahatnirunkul, S., Booncharoen, H., Thummawomg, P., Dumrongchai, U., & Chutha, W. (2010). Long-term outcomes in methamphetamine psychosis patients after first hospitalisation. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 29*, 456-461. doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2010.00196.x
- Kornhauser, R. (2018). The effectiveness of Australia's drug courts. *Australian & New Zealand Journal* of Criminology, 51(1), 76-98. doi: 10.1177/0004865816673412
- Kumpfer, K. L. (2002) Prevention of alcohol and drug abuse: What works? Substance Abuse, 23(1), 23-45. doi: 10.1080/08897070209511506
- LaGasse, L. L., Wouldes, T., Newman, E., Smith, L. M., Shah, R. Z., Derauf, C., Huestis, M. A., Arria, A. M., Grotta, S. D., Wilcox, T., & Lester, B. M. (2011). Prenatal methamphetamine exposure and neonatal neurobehavioral outcome in the USA and New Zealand. *Neurotoxicology and teatology*, 33(1), 166-175. doi: 10.1016/j.ntt.2010.06.009
- Lee, N (2017). Methamphetamine: A focus on treatment [video]. New Zealand: 2017 Parliamentary Symposium, Public Health Innovations. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/ atch?v=ubqUznbvYIE&feature= youtu.be
- Lyons, D. (November 2020). *Proactive information IPR/20/25PW*. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- Lubman, D., Manning, V., Best, D., Berends, L., Mugavin, J., Lloyd, B., Lam, T., Garfield, J., Buykx, P., Matthews, S., Larner, A., Gao, C., Allsop, S., Room, R. (2014). A study of patient pathways in alcohol and other drug treatment.

Turning Point: Fitzroy. Retrieved from https://www.health.gov.au/resources/ publications/study-of-patientpathways-in-alcohol-and-other-drugtreatment

- Malhotra, N., Starkey, N. J., & Charlton, S. G. (2017). Driving under the influence of drugs: Perceptions and attitudes of New Zealand drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 106, 44-52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. aap.2017.05.011
- Marceau, E. M., Berry, J., Lunn, J., Kelly P. J., & Solowij, N. (2017). Cognitive remediation improves executive functions, self-regulation and quality of life in residents of a substance use disorder therapeutic community. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *178*, 150-158. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.04.023
- Matua Raki (2010a). Interventions and Treatment for Problematic Use of Methamphetamine and Other Amphetamine-Type Stimulants. Wellington: Ministry of Health. Retrieved from https://www.health. govt.nz/system/files/documents/ publications/meth-interventionstreatment-nov2010.pdf
- Matua Raki (2010b). P**d Off: A Guide for People Trying to Stop Using Meth/P/ Ice/Speed. Retrieved from https:// www.matuaraki.org.nz/resources/ pd-off-a-guide-for-people-trying-tostop-using-methpicespeed/361
- Matua Raki (2012). Managing your own withdrawal: A guide for people trying to stop using drugs and or alcohol. Retrieved from https:// www.matuaraki.org.nz/resources/ managing-your-own-withdrawala-guide-for-people-trying-to-stopusing-drugs-and-or-alcohol/407
- Matua Raki (2014). A guide to the addiction treatment sector in Aotearoa New Zealand. Wellington: Matua Raki. Retrieved from https:// www.tepou.co.nz/resources/a-guideto-the-addiction-treatment-sector-inaotearoa-new-zealand

- Matua Ra<u>k</u>i (2017). Bridging the Gap: Young people and substance use. Wellington: Matua Raki. Retrieved from https://www.matuaraki.org.nz/ uploads/files/resource-assets/MR-Youth-AOD-resource-WEB.pdf
- Matua Raki (2019). Substance withdrawal management: Guidelines for medical and nursing practitioners. Retrieved from https://www.matuaraki.org.nz/ resources/substance-withdrawalmanagement-guidelines/774
- McAllen, J. (June 2015). Young Aucklanders in hidden sex world. Retrieved from http://www.stuff. co.nz/auckland/local-news/69538507/ Young-Aucklanders-in-hidden-sexworld
- McFadden, M. (2016). The New Zealand Drug Harm Index 2016 (2nd Ed.). Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health. Retrieved from https:// www.health.govt.nz/system/files/ documents/publications/nz-drugharm-index-2016-2nd-ed-jul16.pdf
- McKetin, R., Baker, A., Kay-Lambkin, F., & Lee, N. (2012). Amphetamine-type stimulant use on a global level and implications for responding. In S. Allsop and N. Lee (Eds.). Perspectives on Amphetamine-Type Stimulants. East Hawthorn, Victoria, Australia: IP Communications.
- McKetin, R., Boden, J. M., Foulds, J. A., Najman J. M., Ali, R., Degenhardt, L., Baker, A. L., Ross, J., Farrell, M., & Weatherburn D. (2020). The contribution of methamphetamine use to crime: Evidence from Australian longitudinal data. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 216*, 108262. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108262
- McKetin, R., Kelly, E., & McLaren, J. (2006). The relationship between crystalline methamphetamine use and methamphetamine dependence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 85(3), 194-204. doi: 10.1016/j. drugalcdep.2006.04.007
- McKetin, R., Leung, J., Stockings, E., Huo, Y., Foulds, J., Lappin, J. M., Cummings, C., Arunogiri, S., Young, J. T., Sara, G., Farrell, M., & Degenhardt, L. (2019). Mental health outcomes associated with the use of amphetamines: A

systematic review and meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine, 16, 81-97. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2019.09.014

- McKettin, R., Lubman, D. I., Najman, J. M., Dawe, S., Butterworth, P., & Baker, A.
 L. (2014). Does methamphetamine use increase violent behaviour? Evidence from a prospective study. *Addiction*, 109(5), 798-806. doi: 0.1111/add.12474
- McKetin, R., McLaren, J., & Kelly, E. (2005). The Sydney methamphetamine market: Patterns of supply, use, personal harms and social consequences (Monograph Series No. 13). Australia: University of New South Wales, National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre.
- McKetin, R., Quinn, B., Higgs, P., Berk,
 M., Dean, O. M., Turner, A., Kelly, P.
 J., Lubman, D. I., Carter, G., Baker, A.
 L., Manning, V., Thomas, T., Bathish,
 R., Raftery, D., Saunders, L., Wrobel,
 A., Meehan, A., Sinclair, B., Reid, D.,
 Arunogiri, S., Hill, H., Cordaro, F., &
 Dietze, P. M. (in press). Clinical and
 demographic characteristics of people
 who smoke versus inject crystalline
 methamphetamine in Australia:
 Findings from a pharmacotherapy trial.
 Drug and Alcohol Review. doi: 10.1111/
 dar.13183
- McKettin, R., Ross, J., Kelly, E., Baker, A., Lee, N., Lubman, D. I., & Mattick, R. (2008). Characteristics and harms associated with injecting versus smoking methamphetamine among methamphetamine treatment entrants. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 27*(3), 277-285.
- McKetin, R., Voce, A. and Burns, R. (2017). Research into Methamphetamine Use in the Australian Capital Territory. Perth, Western Australia: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University.
- Ministry of Health (2009). Process and impact evaluation Community Action on Youth and Drugs (CAYAD). Prepared by LITMUS. Retrieved from https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/58d838f9f5e231abb454a3f5/ t/5959722286e6c0de95555673/ 1499034148585/litmus-report.pdf

Ministry of Health (2010). About surveys. Retrieved from https://www.health. govt.nz/nz-health-statistics/nationalcollections-and-surveys/surveys/ about-surveys

Ministry of Health (2017). Guideline on the role and function of approved specialists and responsible clinicians appointed under the Substance Addiction (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 2017. Retrieved from https://www.health.govt.nz/ system/files/documents/pages/ guideline_for_role_of_approved_ specialists_and_responsible_ clinicians.pdf

Ministry of Health (2018a). Help with alcohol and drug problems. Retrieved from https://www.health.govt.nz/ your-health/services-and-support/ health-care-services/help-alcoholand-drug-problems

Ministry of Health (2018b). Mental Health and Addiction Workforce Action Plan 2017-2021. Retrieved from https:// www.health.govt.nz/publication/ mental-health-and-addictionworkforce-action-plan-2017-2021

Ministry of Health (2020a). Adults – Topic: Illicit drug use. Retrieved from https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/ nz-health-survey-2019-20-annualdata-explorer/_w_58133efd/#!/ explore-topics

Ministry of Health (2020b). Methodology Report 2019/20: New Zealand Health Survey. Wellington: Ministry of Health. Retrieved from https://www.health. govt.nz/publication/methodologyreport-2019-20-new-zealand-healthsurvey

Ministry of Health (May 2021a). [EXTERNAL] RE: Meth in NZ Tranche 1 report endorsement. Internal communication (RESTRICTED).

Ministry of Health (May 2021b). Draft evaluation of the Substance Addiction (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 2017. Internal communication (RESTRICTED).

Ministry of Justice (2011). Strengthening New Zealand's Resistance to Organised Crime: An all-of-Government Response. Retrieved from https://www.justice.govt.nz/ assets/Documents/Publications/New-Zealands-response-to-Organised-Crime.pdf

Ministry of Justice (2019). Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Court Outcomes Evaluation 2018-19. Retrieved from https://www. justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/ Publications/AODTC-Summary-Evaluation-Report-June-2019.pdf

Ministry of Transport (2020). Social cost of road crashes and injuries–June 2019 update. Wellington: Ministry of Transport. Retrieved from https:// www.transport.govt.nz/assets/ Uploads/Report/SocialCostof-RoadCrashesandInjuries2019.pdf

Minozzi, S., Saulle, R., Crescenzo, F. D., & Amato, L. (2016). Psychosocial interventions for psychostimulant misuse. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 9, Art. No.: CD011866. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD011866.pub2

Moger, L. (February 2020). Auckland lawyer, Comancheros gang senior jailed for 'sophisticated' money laundering scheme. Retrieved from https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/ crime/119776106/auckland-lawyercomancheros-gang-senior-jailed-forsophisticated-money-launderingscheme

Morgan, A., & Gannoni, A. (2020). Methamphetamine dependence and domestic violence among Police detainees. *Trends & issues in crime and criminal justice, 588*. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. Retrieved from https://www.aic.gov. au/publications/tandi/tandi588

Morri, M. (January 2021a). Bikie boss's bid to run national drug cartel. Retrieved from https://www. pressreader.com/australia/the-advert iser/20210108/281784221723984

Morri, M. (January 2021b). Drug lord's mafia plan: Vow to keep ice prices high. Retrieved from https://www.pressreader. com/australia/the-couriermail/20210108/282110639238476

- Morri, M. (January 2021c). Wannabe godfather lays down the law: Drug kingpin bid for 'mafia' cartel. Retrieved from https://www.pressreader. com/australia/the-daily-telegraphsydney/20210108/281706912312628
- Morri, M., & Dowsley, A. (January 2021). Bikie lays down law: Bid to control drug trade. Retrieved from https://www. pressreader.com/australia/heraldsun/20210108/281784221724047
- Morrison, B., Bevan, M, & Meredith, P. (2020). Family Violence Perpetrators: Offending and treatment experiences of a prison-based sample. New Zealand: Department of Corrections.
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2015a). *Methamphetamine and violent offending*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2015b). *Methamphetamine in New Zealand: Where are we now?* Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED ORCON).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2016a). Illicit drugs in the Pacific Islands–Sources, distribution and the risk to New Zealand. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2016b). *Methamphetamine and the Money*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED ORCON).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2016c). New Zealand Illicit Drug Prices: September 2016. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017a). EMERGING RISK: Liquid Methamphetamine. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).

- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017b). Methamphetamine: Domestic distribution. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017c). Methamphetamine treatment: Current options, motivation and outcomes in New Zealand. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017d). *Methamphetamine users in New Zealand*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017e). Online drug markets and the risk to New Zealand. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2017f). Transnational syndicates: The importation of methamphetamine into New Zealand. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2018a). A drug related harm response model: Illustrated by a synthetic cannabis case study. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2018b). Drugs and precursors: Snapshot of South East Asia. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2018c). Methamphetamine manufacture and clan labs 2018: Evaluation and analysis. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2019a). Disrupting methamphetamine manufacturers in New Zealand. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).

- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (2019b). New Zealand illicit drug border seizures: Export nations 2018. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Drug Bureau (2020a). *Illicit Drug Assessment 2020*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Drug Bureau (2020b). Insights Report: Illicit drugs in the South Island. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (May 2020). The effects of COVID-19 on New Zealand's illicit drug landscape. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (June 2020). The effects of COVID-19 on New Zealand's illicit drug landscape. DIANZ/High Alert report: unpublished.
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (October 2020). FW: Meth in NZ– Tranche 1 report 1st draft. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (April 2021a). *Illicit drug seizure data and graphs*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau brief: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Drug Intelligence Bureau (April 2021b). *National Drug Intelligence Bureau Illicit Drug Assessment*. Internal National Drug Intelligence Bureau brief: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Institute of Drug Abuse (2019). Methamphetamine research report. Retrieved from https://www. drugabuse.gov/publications/researchreports/methamphetamine/overview
- National Intelligence Centre (2016). Methamphetamine-related harm – v2. Intelligence report: product number NIC/IR/161104. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).

- National Organised Crime Group (2018). Annual report: January 2017 – 30 June 18. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Organised Crime Group (2019). Intelligence report: Mexican organised crime and New Zealand. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (RESTRICTED ORCON).
- National Organised Crime Group (2020a). Draft for consultation: Pathways to meth treatment. Internal New Zealand Police A3: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Organised Crime Group (2020b). Organised Crime and New Zealand: Trends and threats. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- National Organised Crime Group (2020c). 2019/20. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Organised Crime Group (2021a). *Clan labs dismantled*. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- National Organised Crime Group (2021b). Meth stats trend summary. Internal New Zealand Police spreadsheet: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- National Organised Crime Group (2021c). RE: Meth in NZ Tranche 1 report-feedback received yesterday and further information. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- New Zealand Customs Service (2018). Malaysia: Methamphetamine and Ephedrine Source and Transit Country. Intelligence brief: product number 17/18/01771. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- New Zealand Customs Service (2019a). Laos: Methamphetamine Seizures. Intelligence brief: product number 18/19/00912. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).

- New Zealand Customs Service (2019b). Methamphetamine from China. Intelligence assessment: product number 9/20/00317. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- New Zealand Customs Service (2020a). *Ephedrine Seizures*. Intelligence brief: product number 19/20/00564. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- New Zealand Customs Service (2020b). Methamphetamine production in Afghanistan. Intelligence report: product number 20/21/00231. Internal New Zealand Customs Service report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- New Zealand Drug Foundation (2019). State of the nation 2019. Retrieved from https://www.drugfoundation.org. nz/policy-and-advocacy/drugs-in-nzan-overview/state-of-the-nation/

New Zealand Drug Foundation (2020). State of the nation 2020. Retrieved from https://www.drugfoundation.org. nz/policy-and-advocacy/drugs-in-nzan-overview/state-of-the-nation/

- New Zealand Drug Foundation (November 2020). [EXTERNAL] RE: Meth In NZ Research Programmerequest for further feedback to Tranche 1 report/A3 and relevant documents not mentioned in the report. Internal communication.
- New Zealand Drug Foundation (December 2020). [EXTERNAL] RE: Meth In NZ Research Programmerequest for further feedback to Tranche 1 report/A3 and relevant documents not mentioned in the report. Internal communication.
- New Zealand Drug Foundation (June 2021). RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: Meth in NZ Tranche 1 report endorsement. Internal communication.
- New Zealand Drug Foundation & Werry Workforce Whāraurau (2017). What is methamphetamine? New Zealand: New Zealand Drug Foundation and Werry Workforce Whāraurau

- New Zealand Gang Intelligence Centre (2019). *The New Zealand Organised Crime Governance Group insights report update*. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- New Zealand Needle Exchange Programme (2020). New Zealand Needle Exchange Programme. Retrieved from https://www.nznep. org.nz/
- New Zealand Police (October 2019). National Wastewater Testing Programme Quarter 3 2019. Retrieved from https://www.police.govt.nz/ about-us/publication/nationalwastewater-testing-programmequarter-3-2019
- New Zealand Police (March 2020). New Zealand: Wastewater drug testing update. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- New Zealand Police (May 2020). New Zealand: Wastewater drug testing update. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- New Zealand Police (November 2020). Wastewater drug testing in New Zealand: Quarter two 2020 findings. Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (IN CONFIDENCE).
- New Zealand Police (December 2020a). High Alert spreads safety on the streets. Internal New Zealand Police news piece: unpublished.
- New Zealand Police (December 2020b). Putting the squeeze on organised crime. Internal New Zealand Police news piece: unpublished.
- New Zealand Police Financial Intelligence Unit (2019). National risk assessment of money laundering and terrorism financing. Retrieved from https://www. police.govt.nz/sites/default/files/ publications/fiu-nra-2019.pdf
- New Zealand Police Risk, Assurance and Governance Group (2014). Looking ahead with confidence: our Organisational Risk Approach (2nd Ed.). Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished.

- Northland DHB (2020a). Annwyn Carter-Kelly has a family member who has an addiction to methamphetamine [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=wtYvgpyBFKU&feature= youtu.be
- Northland DHB (2020b). Mel Hepi shares her whānau journey with a family member who had an addiction to methamphetamine [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=vdKPT2AOkyc&feature= youtu.be
- Northland DHB (2020c). Mel Hepi shares her whānau's journey with Te Ara Oranga and the 5-Step Programme [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=dhoNnjAzUCc&feature= youtu.be
- Odyssey House (n.d.). Stand up! Schoolbased services. Retrieved from https:// www.odyssey.org.nz/our-services/ rangatahi/stand-up#tabpanel-is-thisfor-me?
- Odyssey House (n.d.). Time for a change: Workbook 1 – preparing for residential treatment. New Zealand: Odyssey House.
- Odyssey House (n.d.). *Time for a change: Workbook 2 – home detox.* New Zealand: Odyssey House.
- Odyssey House (n.d.). Time for a change: Workbook 3 – supporting your young person (a workbook for families). New Zealand: Odyssey House.
- Odyssey House (n.d.). Time for a change: Workbook 4 – going home. New Zealand: Odyssey House.
- O'Donnell, A., Addison, M., Spencer, L., Zurhold, H., Rosenkranz, M., McGovern, R., Gilvarry, E., Martens, M. S., Verthein, U., & Kaner, E. (2018). Which individual, social, and environmental influences shape key phases in the amphetamine type stimulant use trajectory? A systematic narrative review and thematic synthesis of the qualitative literature. *Addiction*, 114(1), 24-47. doi:10.1111/add.14434

Oranga Tamariki (2020).

Methamphetamine and care: What we know to date. Wellington: Oranga Tamariki, Te Pokapū Taunakitanga. Retrieved from https://www. orangatamariki.govt.nz/assets/ Uploads/About-us/Research/Latestresearch/Methamphetamine-andcare/Methamphetamine-and-Care.pdf

Patsopoulos, N. A. (2011). A pragmatic view on pragmatic trials. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 13(2), 217-224. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2011.13.2/ npatsopoulos

Potvin, S., Pelletier, J., Grot, S., Hébert, C., Barr, A. M., & Lecomte, T. (2018). Cognitive deficits in individuals with methamphetamine use disorder: A meta-analysis. *Addictive behaviours*, *80*, 154-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addbeh.2018.01.021

Rawson, R. A. (2013). Current research on the epidemiology, medical and psychiatric effects, and treatment of methamphetamine use. *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis*, *21*(4), 77-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2013.09.039

- RILO AP & Korea Customs Service (n.d.). Bridge across borders: Methamphetamine production trend in the Golden Triangle.
- Robertson, E. B., David, S. L., & Rao, S.A. (2003). Preventing drug use among children and adolescents: A researchbased guide for parents, educators, and community leaders (2nd Ed). USA: National Institute of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from https://www. drugabuse.gov/sites/default/files/ preventingdruguse_2.pdf
- Robertson, J. (2013). Review governmentfunded Alcohol and Other Drug education programmes for young people. New Zealand: Youth Mental Health Project Initiative. Retrieved from https://health.tki.org.nz/ Teaching-in-HPE/Policy-Guidelines/ Alcohol-and-other-drug-educationprogrammes

- Ronsley, C., Nolan, S., Knight, R., Hayashi, K., Klimas, J., Walley, A., Wood, E., & Fairbairn, N. (2020). Treatment of stimulant use disorder: A systematic review of reviews. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6): e0234809. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0234809
- Sheridan, J., Butler, R., & Wheeler,
 A. (2009). Initiation into methamphetamine use: Qualitative findings from an exploration of first time use among a group of New Zealand users. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 41(1), 11-17, doi: 10.1080/02791072.2009.10400670

Shukla, R. K. (2016). *Methamphetamine: A love story*. United States: University of California Press.

- Smith, L. M., Diaz, S., LaGasse, L. L., Wouldes, T., Derauf, C., Newman, E., Arria, A., Huestis, M. A., Haning, W., Strauss, A., Grotta, S. D., Dansereau, L. M., Neal, C., & Lester, B. M. (2015). Developmental and behavioural consequences of prenatal methamphetamine exposure: a review of the Infant Development, Environment, and Lifestyle (IDEAL) Study. *Neurotoxicology and teratology, 51*, 35-44. doi: 10.1016/j. ntt.2015.07.006
- Sowell, E. R., Leow, A. D., Bookheimer, S. Y., Smith, L. M., O'Connor, M. J., Kan, E., Rosso, C., Houston, S., Dinov, I. D., & Thompson, P. M. (2010).
 Differentiating prenatal exposure to methamphetamine and alcohol and not methamphetamine using tensor-based brain morphometry and discriminant analysis. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 30(11), 3876-3885. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4967-09.2010
- Spooner, C., & Hetherington, K. (2004). Social determinants of drug use. University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre. Retrieved from https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ sites/default/files/ndarc/resources/ TR.228.pdf

- Stuart, A. M., Baker, A. L., Denham, A. M. J., Lee, N. K., Hall, A., Oldmeadow, C., Dunlop, A., Bowman, J., & McCarter, K. (2020). Psychological treatment for methamphetamine use and associated psychiatric symptom outcomes: A systematic review. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 109, 61-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jsat.2019.09.005
- Substance Addiction (Compulsory Assessment and Treatment) Act 2017 (New Zealand). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.govt.nz/ act/public/2017/0004/23.0/whole. html#DLM6609057
- Te Ara Oranga Evaluation Working Group (2018). Te Ara Oranga Methamphetamine Demand Reduction: First progress evaluation report. Retrieved from https:// community.northlanddhb.org.nz/NoP/ wp-content/uploads/2018/07/180627-Te-Ara-Oranga-First-Progress-Evaluation-Report.pdf
- Te Ara Oranga (October 2020). Reducing methamphetamine harm in Northland: September 2017 – September 2020. Retrieved from https://community. northlanddhb.org.nz/NoP/wpcontent/uploads/2020/10/Te-Ara-Oranga-Outcomes-Sep17-Sep20.pdf
- Te Ara Oranga (April 2021). Outcomes: October 2020 – March 2021. Retrieved from https://community. northlanddhb.org.nz/NoP/outcomesoctober-2020-march-2021/
- Te Pou o te Whakaaro Nui (2015). Alcohol and Drug Outcome Measure (ADOM). Retrieved from https://www.tepou. co.nz/resources/alcohol-and-drugoutcome-measure-adom/458
- Te Pou o te Whakaaro Nui (2020). ADOM Report 8 infographic. Retrieved from https://www.tepou.co.nz/resources/ adom-report-8-infographic/914
- The Gisborne Herald (July 2019). 'Don't meth with us' says Wairoa. Retrieved from http://www.gisborneherald. co.nz/local-news/20190726/dontmeth-with-us-says-wairoa/

77

- The Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Psychiatrists (2019). Recognising and addressing the harmful mental health impacts of methamphetamine use (position statement 82). Retrieved from https:// www.ranzcp.org/news-policy/policyand-advocacy/position-statements/ recognising-and-addressing-theharmful-mental-heal
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2019). Transnational Organised crime in Southeast Asia: Evolution, growth and impact. Retrieved from https://www.unodc.org/ documents/southeastasiaandpacific// Publications/2019/SEA_TOCTA_2019_ web.pdf
- van Lamoen, N. (2019). Drug-involved driving has overtaken alcohol in fatal crashes: The New Zealand experience with a vexed public health and road safety problem. Presented at the International Council on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety, Edmonton, Canada. Retrieved from https://t2019. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ Nils-van-Lamoen_New-Zealand-Experience-.pptx.pdf
- van Lamoen, N. (2020). Substance impaired driving: Other drugs (draft evidence review). Internal New Zealand Police report: unpublished (RESTRICTED).
- van Lamoen, N. (January 2021). RE: Meth in NZ Research Programme– request meth use and road policing incidents. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- van Lamoen, N. (May 2021). *RE: Meth in NZ Tranche 1 report endorsement.* Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).
- Waitemata West Intelligence Team (n.d.). *Intelligence interview*. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).

- Weatherburn, D., Yeong, S., Poynton, S., Jones, N., & Farrell, M. (2020). *The long-term effect of the NSW Drug Court on recidivism*. Crime and Justice Bulletin, 232. Sydney: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research. Retrieved from https:// www.bocsar.nsw.gov.au/Pages/ bocsar_publication/Pub_Summary/ CJB/cjb232-The-long-term-effect-ofthe-NSW-Drug-Court-on-recidivism. aspx
- Wellington higher courts reporter (2020). Stabbed friend, and committed bizarre undie-burglary. Retrieved from https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/ crime/121983348/stabbed-friend-andcommitted-bizarre-undieburglary
- Werry Workforce Whāraurau (2017). The SACS ABC Brief Intervention Manual. Auckland: Werry Workforce Whāraurau for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Workforce Development, the University of Auckland. Retrieved from https://optforwellbeing.org/sites/ default/files/sacs/SAC_ABC_MAN_11-17-WEB.pdf
- Wilkins, C., Prasad, J., Barnes, H. M., Parker, K., & Asiasiga, L. (2017).
 New Zealand Arrestee Drug Use Monitoring (NZ-ADUM). Auckland, New Zealand: Massey University, College of Health, SHORE and Whariki Research Centre.
- Wilkins, C., Prasad, J., Romeo, J. S., & Rychert, M. (2017). Recent trends in illegal drug use in New Zealand 2006-1016: Findings from the Illicit Drug Monitoring System (IDMS). Auckland, New Zealand: Massey University, College of Health, Social and Health Outcomes Research and Evaluation.
- Wilkins, C., Reilly, J., Rose, E., Roy,
 D., Pledger, M., & Lee, A. (2004).
 The socio-economic impact of amphetamine type stimulants in New Zealand. Auckland, New Zealand: Centre for Social and Health
 Outcomes Research and Evaluation, Massey University.

- Wilkins, C., Romeo J. S., Rychert, M., Prasad, J., & Graydon-Guy, T. (2018). Determinants of high availability of methamphetamine, cannabis, LSD, and ecstasy in New Zealand: Are drug dealers promoting methamphetamine rather than cannabis? International Journal of Drug Policy, 61, 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drugpo.2018.09.007
- Wilkins, C., Rychert, M., Romeo, J. S., & Graydon-Guy, T. (2019). What is the price of methamphetamine, cannabis, ecstasy and LSD in your region? Auckland: Massey University, College of Health, SHORE & Whariki Research Centre. Retrieved from https://shoreandwhariki.ac.nz/ news/2019/10/8/what-is-the-price-ofmethamphetamine-cannabis-ecstasyand-lsd-in-your-region
- Wilkins, C., & Sweetsur, P. (2011). The association between spending on methamphetamine/ amphetamine and cannabis for personal use and earnings from acquisitive crime among Police detainees in New Zealand. Addiction, 106 (4), 789-797. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03241.x
- Williams, G. J. (March 2019). Affidavit of Gregory John Williams. In Jing Uang Zhang v The Queen; Shane Thompson v The Queen; Jonelle Rachel Phillips v The Queen.
- Williams, G. J. (December 2020). *Tranche One Material*. Internal New Zealand Police communication (RESTRICTED).



160

EVIDENCE — BASED — POLICING • CENTRE • • •